# ASSOCIATION OF CHICKPEA WITH SOIL FUNGI: A COMPARISON OF CULTIVARS

A Thesis

Submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Doctor Philosophy

in the Department of Soil Science

University of Saskatchewan

Saskatoon

By

Navid Bazghaleh

©Copyright Navid Bazghaleh, November, 2014. All rights reserved

#### **PERMISSION TO USE**

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfilment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other use of material in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Soil Science

University of Saskatchewan

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5A8

### ABSTRACT

Certain crop plants are susceptible to pathogens or unable to develop efficient microbial symbioses. These crops adversely impact soil biological quality with consequences on plant health and productivity of cropping systems. Chickpea is a rotational pulse crop with two types: kabuli and desi, and several cultivars. Cultivation of chickpea has inconsistent effects on soil microbial communities and subsequent wheat crops. I conducted field studies and used high throughput molecular analyses to explore the variations among chickpeas to identify cultivars developing fungal communities that are conducive to plant health and productivity. I also carried out greenhouse studies and used biochemical analyses to investigate the response of chickpea cultivars to arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi and non-AM fungal endophytes and identify the influence of root and root metabolites on the endophytic and pathogenic fungi. Cultivars and types of chickpeas and environmental conditions promoted different fungal communities in the root endosphere. Funneliformis and Claroideoglomus were the dominant AM fungal genera and Fusarium and Alternaria were the dominant non-AM fungal genera in the roots of chickpea. The roots of cultivars CDC Corrine, CDC Cory and CDC Anna hosted the most diverse fungal communities in contrast to CDC Alma and CDC Xena roots which hosted the least diverse communities. Plant response to AM and non-AM fungal endophytes varied with genotype and type of chickpea. The root symbiosis effectively promoted plant growth in CDC Cory, CDC Anna and CDC Frontier and stimulated nitrogen fixation in CDC Corrine. Cultivars of chickpea responded differently to dual inoculation of the AM and non-AM fungal endophytes. Co-inoculation with AM and non-AM fungal endophytes had additive effects on CDC Corrine, CDC Anna and CDC Cory but non-AM fungal endophytes reduced the positive effect of AM fungi in Amit and CDC Vanguard. Desi chickpea appeared to form more efficient symbioses with soil fungal resources than kabuli chickpea. Protein(s) up-regulated in the mycorrhizal roots of the desi chickpea CDC Anna suppressed the growth of the fungal endophytes *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Geomyces vinaceus* and of the pathogens *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* sp. The formation of AM symbiosis decreased the production of root bioactive metabolites soluble in 25% methanol. Some of the root metabolites stimulated the growth of *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Geomyces vinaceus*, and a few inhibited *Rhizoctonia* sp. and *Fusarium oxysporum*. A few metabolites with contrasting effects on the different fungal species were detected. The non-protein phytochemicals had selective effects on the endophytes and pathogens whereas the antifungal proteins of mycorrhizal roots were non-selective. Overall the study reveals a "genotype effect" of chickpea on the soil microbiota suggesting the possibility to improve the performance of this crop through the selection of genotypes improving the communities of root associated fungi, by associating and responding to beneficial fungi and repressing the pathogens.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Completion of this doctoral thesis was feasible with the support of several people. I would like to express my sincere appreciation to all of them. First of all, I am extremely grateful to my co-supervisors Drs. Chantal Hamel and Diane Knight for their guidance, inspiration, encouragement and continued support throughout the course of this study. You have been tremendous mentors for me. I would especially like to thank them for their patience in putting up with me. I would like to thank you for encouraging my research and for allowing me to grow as a graduate student. Your advice has been priceless.

I am deeply grateful to Dr. Takaaki Ishii and Dr. Andre Cruz for offering me the opportunity of working in their group and for their consistent guidance and encouragement and, supporting me throughout my visit at Kyoto Prefectural University.

I would also like to thank my advisory committee members, Drs. Yantai Gan, Jim Germida, Vladimir Vujanovic, and Steven Siciliano. I also want to thank you for your brilliant comments and suggestions, thanks to you. I would thank my external examiner, Dr. Kari Dunfield for reviewing my thesis and her comments to improve the quality of the current thesis. I would especially like to thank the staff at the Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre (SPARC) in Swift Current (SK) who contributed to the experimental setups and data collection for my Ph.D. thesis. This research was funded by grants from Saskatchewan Pulse Growers. I am extremely grateful for the financial support received from this organization and the University of Saskatchewan. I couldn't have done this without the encouragement and supports of my family and friends, I am really grateful to all of you.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Permission to use	. i
Abstract	. ii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of contents	v
List of tables	viii
List of figures	xi
List of abbreviations	xvi
1. General introduction	1
2. Cultivars of Chickpea Shape the Structure of Fungal Communities in the R	oot
Endosphere	6
2.1 Preface	6
2.2 Abstract	6
2.3 Introduction	7
2.4 Material and Methods	9
2.4.1 Experimental design and site description	9
2.4.2 Root sampling and processing	11
2.4.3 Assessment of root colonization by AM fungi	15
2.4.4 DNA extraction, PCR amplification, purification and pyrosequencing	15
2.4.5 Bioinformatics analysis	18
2.4.6 Collection and identification of fungal isolates	19
2.4.7 Greenhouse experiment	20
2.4.8 Statistical analysis	21
2.4.8.1 Field experiment and fungal community analyses	21
2.4.8.2 Greenhouse study	22
2.5 Results	22
2.5.1 Sequencing analysis of field samples	22
2.5.2 Fungal community structure	25

2.5.3 Richness and diversity indices	25
2.5.4 Relationships between root fungal communities and plant performance	25
2.5.5 Root colonization	26
2.5.6 Effects of non-AM fungi on chickpea growth in the greenhouse assay	26
2.6. Discussion	42
3. Genotypic Variation in the Response of Chickpea to Arbuscular Mycorrhiza a	and
Fungal Endophytes	49
3.1 Preface	49
3.2 Abstract	49
3.3 Introduction	50
3.4 Material and Methods	52
3.4.1 Experimental design	52
3.4.2 Source of AM fungi and non-AM fungal endophytes	53
3.4.3 Preparation of AM fungal inoculants	53
3.4.4 Preparation of non-AM fungal inoculants	54
3.4.5 Pot establishment and growing conditions of experimental plants	55
3.4.6 Data collection	55
3.4.7 Statistical analysis	56
3.5 Results	58
3.5.1 Effects of cultivar and inoculation on the performance indicators of chickpea	ı 58
3.5.2 Response patterns of chickpea cultivars representing the mapping population	ı 63
3.6 Discussion	69
3.6.1 Genetic variation in plant response to symbiosis	69
3.6.2 Response of chickpea to co-inoculation of AM and non-AM fungal endophy	ytes
	71
4. Mycorrhiza-Induced Phytochemicals to Suppress Fungal Endophytes and Pathog	ens
	74
4.1 Preface	74
4.2 Abstract	74
4.3 Introduction	75

4.4 Material and Methods	77					
4.4.1 Plant growth conditions and collection of roots						
4.4.2 Preparation and fractionation of root homogenate						
4.4.3 Extraction of root proteins						
4.4.4 Methanol extraction of roots						
4.4.5 HPLC fractionation of root proteins	80					
4.4.6 HPLC fractionation of MeOH extracts	80					
4.4.7 Fungal growth bioassay	85					
4.4.8 Gel electrophoresis	86					
4.4.9 Mass spectrometry and identification of proteins	86					
4.4.10 Statistical analysis	86					
4.5 Results	87					
4.5.1 Bioassay testing protein fractions	87					
4.5.2 Gel electrophoresis and identification of proteins	87					
4.5.3 Bioassay testing methanol fractions	92					
4.6 Discussion	96					
5. Synthesis and Conclusions	100					
5.1 Chickpea roots in the soil biological environment	100					
5.2 Cultivar dependent interactions of chickpea with soil fungi	101					
5.3 Differences in microbial relations of desi and kabuli chickpea	103					
5.4 Dynamics of <i>Fusarium</i> in chickpea roots	104					
5.5 Future research	105					
6. References	107					
Appendix A	122					
Appendix B	123					
Appendix C	125					
Appendix D	127					

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Main features of the cultivars of chickpea used in the field study       10
Table 2.2 Physical and chemical characteristics of soil in the experimental sites
Table 2.3 Primer, adaptors and key sequences used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA
used for molecular analyses of the roots-associated fungal communities in 13 cultivars
of chickpea 17
Table 2.4 Effects of cultivar and year on the structure of root-associated fungal communities
in field-grown chickpea. The fungal communities consisted of the relative abundance
of AM and non-AM genera detected by pyrosequencing
Table 2.5 Pairwise comparison of the structure of root-associated fungal communities in
field-grown chickpea cultivars. The fungal communities consisted of the relative
abundance of AM and non-AM genera over two years, according to pyrosequencing
Table 2.6 Chao richness and Shannon diversity indices of AM and non-AM fungal
communities associated with the roots of field-grown chickpea cultivars over two
years, detected by pyrosequencing
Table 2.7 Chao richness and Shannon diversity indices of AM and non-AM fungal
communities associated with the roots of two types of field-grown chickpea over two
years, detected by pyrosequencing
Table 2.8 Significant relationships between the agronomic performance of field-grown
chickpea cultivars and the relative abundance of root-associated fungal genera, over
two years, detected by pyrosequencing
Table 2.9 Effects of cultivar and year on the level of root colonization by AM fungi in field-
grown chickpea
Table 2.10 Effect of non-AM fungal isolates on the biomass of chickpea cultivar CDC
Frontier, in the greenhouse $(n = 4)$
Table 2.11 Effects of 49 isolates of non-AM fungi on the biomass of chickpea cultivar CDC
Frontier, in the greenhouse

Table 3.1 Physical and chemical characteristics of the soil used in the greenhouse experiment Table 3.2 The effects of chickpea cultivar, fungal inoculation, and the interaction of these factors on plant biomass,  $\delta^{15}$ N, root colonization level and concentrations of N, P, K, Table 3.3 Biomass production and  $\delta^{15}$ N in chickpea cultivars inoculated with mock inoculant (C), AM fungi (A), non-AM fungal endophytes (E), and a mixture of AM and non-Table 3.4 Level of root colonization and concentrations of P, N and Mg in the shoots of chickpea cultivars inoculated with mock inoculant (C), AM fungi (A), non-AM fungal endophytes (E), and both the AM and non-AM fungal endophytes (AE) in the greenhouse Table 3.5 Pairwise comparisons of the response patterns of chickpea cultivars to inoculations with AM fungi, non-AM fungal endophytes, and AM and non-AM fungal endophytes Table 4.1 Overview of HPLC fractions of low-molecular-mass and proteins compounds Table 4.2 Time course of the effects of a bioactive protein fraction from mycorrhizal chickpea roots on the growth of fungal endophytes and pathogens, in 96-well plat assay ..... 88 Table 4.3 Identity of the differentially expressed bands in the bioactive proteins fraction (3M) Table 4.4 Time course of the effects of low molecular mass phytochemicals (25% MeOH fractions) from mycorrhizal chickpea roots on the growth of fungal endophytes and Table 4.5 Time course of the effects of low molecular mass phytochemicals (25% MeOH fractions) from non-mycorrhizal chickpea roots on the growth of fungal endophytes Table 4.6 Synthesis of the effects of low-molecular-mass phytochemicals from AM and non-AM roots of chickpea cultivar CDC Anna on the growth of fungal endophytes and 

Table 5.1 Synthesis of the influence of chickpea cultivars on the root-associated	fungal
communities, and the response of cultivars to AM fungi and non-AM	fungal
endophytes	102
Table D.1 Pre and post-cleaning sequence numbers of AM and non-AM fungal comm	nunities
	127
Table D.2 Non-subsampled and subsampled Chao richness and Shannon diversity inc	lices of

### LIST OF FIGURES

- Fig. 2.2 Mean temperature during the growing season in 2010, 2011 and normal conditions (average for 1981–2010), Swift Current, SK– Data received from Environment Canada
- Fig. 2.3 Relative abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) (a) and non-AM (b) fungal genera in the roots of chickpea, detected by pyrosequencing (n = 3). Data is some of the relative abundance of fungal genera in 13 chickpea cultivars including Amit, CDC Anna, CDC Alma, CDC Frontier, CDC Luna, CDC Leader, CDC Vanguard, CDC Xena, CDC Corrine, CDC Cory, CDC Orion, CDC Cabri and CDC Nika. Significant differences between years are indicated by \* ( $p \le 0.05$ ) and \*\* ( $p \le 0.01$ ). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK. NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR primer sets were used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA (Nested PCR) ...... 24
- Fig. 2.5 Relative abundance of non-arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungal genera associated with the roots of 13 cultivars of field-grown chickpea, detected by pyrosequencing (n = 6). Data is the average of the relative abundance of non-AM fungal genera over two years. Significant differences between cultivars are indicated by \* (p ≤ 0.05). Chickpea

- Fig. 2.6 Relationship between the root-associated fungal communities and field-grown chickpea cultivars, according to detrended correspondence analysis (DCA). Data points are means (n = 6) of the relative abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) and non-AM fungal genera detected by pyrosequencing, over two years. Kabuli type cultivars are indicated in black and desi type cultivars are indicated in gray. Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (Non-AM genera), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (AM genera)
- Fig. 2.8 Level of root colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi in field-grown cultivars of chickpea. Data presented as means (n = 8) of root colonization by AM fungi over two years. Significant differences between cultivars ( $p \le 0.05$ ) are indicated by different letters. Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011 ...... 37

- Fig. 4.1 HPLC chromatograms of the fractionation of total proteins content of nonmycorrhizal (a) and mycorrhizal (b) roots of CDC Anna chickpea on a diol column (8×300 mm) at 280 nm and the constant pH of 7.5. Mycorrhizal roots were colonized by

arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* ...... 81

- Fig. A.1 Structure plot of the chickpea association mapping population with K = 3 clusters based on all polymorphic SNP markers. Each individual is represented by a thin vertical line and estimated membership fractions in clusters. Two accessions, GPE094 and 512-51, are morphologically desi type, but they clustered with the kabuli type due to a larger portion of kabuli ancestors. (B) Principal coordinates analysis (PCoA), the x axis represents the eigenvalue for principal component 1 (PC1) and the y axis for PC2. (C)

The neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree (NJTree), based on Nei (1972) standard genetic distance with 10 000 individual bootstraps. (Courtesy of \*Diapari et al., 2014). The figure was reproduced from "Genetic diversity and association mapping of iron and zinc concentrations in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) by: Marwan Diapari, Anoop Sindhu, Kirstin Bett, Amit Deokar, Thomas D. Warkentin, and Bunyamin Tar'an. Genome 57: Fig. B.1 Research Plot Layout 2010 ..... 123 Fig. B.2 Research Plot Layout 2011 ..... 124 Fig. C.1 Distribution of AM fungal OTU reads in the root endosphere community of 13 cultivars of field-grown chickpea (n = 6). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South arm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR primer sets were used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA (nested PCR). Significant difference in the structure of AM fungal community among the cultivars was detected by Per-MANOVA (p =Fig. C.2 Distribution of non-AM fungal OTU reads in the root endosphere community of 13 cultivars of field-grown chickpea detected by pyrosequencing (n = 6). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. ITS1F/ITS2 primer set was used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA. Significant difference in the structure of non-AM fungal community was detected among the cultivars according to Per-MANOVA (p = 0.0004)

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- AM: Arbuscular mycorrhizal
- ANOVA: analysis of variance
- DCA: Detrended correspondence analysis
- DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid
- Per-MANOVA: Permutational multivariate analysis of variance
- MRPP: Multi-response permutation procedures
- NMDS: Non-metric multidimensional scaling
- PCA: Principle component analysis
- PCR: Polymerase chain reaction
- PDA: Potato dextrose agar
- rDNA: Ribosomal DNA
- SPARC: Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre
- HPLC: High-performance liquid chromatography
- MPLC: Medium pressure liquid chromatography
- EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- MeOH: Methanol
- ODS: Octa decyl silane
- SDS: Sodium dodecyl sulfate
- CDC: Crop Development Centre
- N: Nitrogen
- OUT: Operational taxonomic unit

VOC: Volatile organic compounds

NPAA: non-protein amino acid

ITS: Internal transcribed spacer

SA: Salicylic acid

JA: Jasmonic acid

### **1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

The roots of plants are associated with soil microbes throughout their life. The influence of the root microbiome on plant fitness is crucial so that it is "referred to as the second genome of the plant" (Berendsen et al., 2012). Soil fungi represent a diverse group of microorganisms including saprophytes, symbionts and pathogens that are involved in processes such as decomposition of organic substances, promotion of plant growth, and development or prevention of disease (Bridge and Spooner, 2001). The majority of crop plants belong to families that form root symbioses with arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi and septate fungal endophytes. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis is important for serving the host with nutritional benefits (Jakobsen et al., 2003), whereas endophytes increase plant tolerance to stressful conditions such as drought and disease (Mandyam and Jumpponen, 2005). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi is a group of soil fungi that represent similar lifestyles and functionalities forming the phylum Glomeromycota (Schüßler et al., 2001). The term fungal endophyte refers to a miscellaneous group of allied fungi that asymptomatically reside in the tissues of plants (Saikkonen et al., 1998) and could be classified as Ascomycete or Basidiomycete (Kageyama et al., 2008).

Despite the fact that AM fungi and fungal endophytes commonly co-occur in terrestrial ecosystems, there is a gap in knowledge on the influence of such multipartite symbioses on plant performance. Current knowledge on the effects of the symbiotic associations of plants with AM fungi and fungal endophytes is inadequate and unbalanced. Despite the wealth of reports that describe the functions of AM symbiosis, little is known about the influence of fungal endophytes on plant performance.

Fungal endophytes colonize the intercellular space of the root cortex and are capable of forming mutualistic associations similar to mycorrhiza, however the interfaces formed by endophytes differ from the ones observed in mycorrhizal symbioses (Barrow and Aaltonen, 2001). While both of these fungal symbionts compete for organic carbon from the host plant, their contribution to plant fitness depends on the environmental conditions in which the multipartite symbioses occur. The function of the AM symbiosis could be optimal when P is limiting (Koide, 1991), whereas the fungal endophytes are important in extreme environmental conditions (Mandyam and Jumpponen, 2005).

Root symbioses with AM fungi and fungal endophytes are usually examined separately. However, recent reports indicate that fungal endophytes interact with and modify the development of AM fungi (Scervino et al., 2009), as well as the outcome of the AM symbiosis (Chandanie et al., 2009; Muller, 2003), suggesting that the association of root with AM fungi and fungal endophytes must be studied as a multipartite association. However the study of this co-symbiosis could be difficult, as these fungal symbionts are taxonomically distant and show different levels of host and environmental preferences. It appears that fungal endophytes are generalists and can be associated with nearly all plant species around the globe (Saikkonen et al., 1998) whereas the formation of the AM symbiosis involves a certain level of specificity (Sanders, 2003).

A symbiosis involving AM fungi and fungal endophytes is the outcome of the complex interaction between the AM fungi, fungal endophytes and plant genetics. For instance, simultaneous colonization of roots by the fungal endophyte *Trichoderma harzianum* and AM fungi *Glomus mosseae* enhanced plant growth in cucumber, but had no effect on growth of

melon (Chandanie et al., 2009; Martínez-Medina et al., 2011).

A comprehensive understanding of the mechanisms involved in the formation and function of multipartite symbioses could be used to promote the formation of efficient associations. In addition to fungal symbionts that associate roots, soil-borne fungal pathogens might colonize plant roots and cause disease in crop plants leading to massive yield reductions (Horbach et al., 2011).

A wealth of studies show that specific plant species host specific microbial communities (Berendsen et al., 2012), suggesting that the structure and function of the plant microbiome could be regulated by the genome of the plant. Plants use various mechanical or biochemical mechanisms to interact with soil microorganisms (Sarkar et al., 2009). The roots of plants have the ability to release a wide range of metabolites that modify the structure and function of their microbiome (Bakker et al., 2012; Hartmann et al., 2009).

Primary metabolites such as sugars and amino acids develop nutritional niches for soil microbes and secondary metabolites act as tools to stimulate or inhibit microbial populations (Badri et al., 2013; Collemare and Lebrun, 2011; Jones et al., 2004). The pattern of plant's secondary metabolite production can be altered by soil microbes (Badri et al., 2010; Nelson, 2004). Recent reports indicate that colonization of roots by fungal endophytes could influence the biochemistry of the roots and influence the establishment and outcome of the AM symbiosis (Peipp et al., 1997; Shoresh et al., 2005).

On the other hand, colonization of roots by AM fungi might influence the interactions between roots and fungal endophytes. The formation of the AM symbiosis involves hormonal activities similar to those used for defense against pathogens, hence, it might affect the secondary metabolism and the mechanisms through which plants interact with other fungi, including fungal endophytes (Balestrini and Lanfranco, 2006; Cruz et al., 2008; Vierheilig et al., 2008). Altogether, the outcome of a multipartite symbiosis involving AM fungi and fungal endophytes in roots could range along a continuum from mutualism to parasitism depending on the combination of host plant and fungal species involved and the environmental conditions to which they are exposed (Jumpponen, 2001; Mandyam et al., 2012; Monzon and Azcón, 1996; Sousa et al., 2012).

Chickpea is a rotational legume and moderately well adapted to the semiarid climate of southern Saskatchewan where several cultivars of both kabuli and desi chickpea are cultivated in rotation with wheat. Lower yield of wheat is usually obtained after it follows chickpea compared with other pulse crops, such as pea and lentil. The poor rotational effect of certain chickpea crops could be, in part, attributed to the influence of its roots on the soil microbiome, in particular on the endophytic and pathogenic fungal species that potentially impact the biomass and yield of the next wheat crop. Moreover, several root diseases caused by fungal pathogens such as *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* can infect chickpea, reducing yield and negatively impacting the subsequent crop. By contrast, fungal endophytes such as *Trichoderma* sp. can improve the biomass and yield of plants (Chaeichi and Edalati-Fard, 2006; Nene et al., 1991; Rudresh et al., 2005). Cultivars of chickpea were recently reported to produce different arrays of bioactive phytochemicals within their roots and selectively promote microbial communities in the rhizosphere (Ellouze et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2012).

The selection of cultivars that promote the proliferation of beneficial AM fungi and

endophytes while inhibiting fungal pathogens in the root endosphere could improve soil health and productivity of the cropping systems.

In this thesis research, field and greenhouse experiments as well as biochemical and molecular methods were combined to generate knowledge on the association of chickpea root and soil fungal communities including:

1 - The influence of cultivars and types (desi & kabuli) of chickpea on the structure of the fungal community residing in the root endosphere of this crop plant.

2 - The role of chickpea cultivar and type on the response of this plant to colonization by AM fungi and fungal endophytes.

3 - Information on the production of phytochemicals in chickpea roots and their influence on soil-borne fungi.

4 - The influence of colonization of roots by AM fungi on the profile of roots phytochemicals and its subsequent effects on fungal endophytes and pathogens.

In chapter 2, the fungal communities associated with the roots of thirteen cultivars of chickpea were characterized. In addition, the plant growth promoting ability of important fungal endophytes and pathogens was assessed on chickpea. Chapter 3 verifies the existence of a genotypic variation in the response of chickpea to associations with AM fungi and non-AM fungal endophytes. Furthermore, chapter 3 investigates the influence of fungal endophytes on the formation and function of the AM symbiosis and verifies that the fungal symbiosis can be modified by the genotype of chickpea. The influence of root phytochemicals and the formation of AM symbiosis in chickpea on fungal endophytes and pathogens were explored in chapter 4. Chapter 5 discusses the overall results of this study.

## 2.0 CULTIVARS OF CHICKPEA SHAPE THE STRUCTURE OF FUNGAL COMMUNITIES IN THE ROOT ENDOSPHERE

## **2.1 Preface**

This chapter reports the characterization of the fungal communities associated with the roots of thirteen cultivars of chickpea and reveals the existence of genotypic variation in the structure of the AM and non-AM fungal communities hosted in the root endosphere. This observation and other finding showing genotypic variations in the response of chickpea to AM fungal and non-AM fungal endophytes (Chapter 3), suggest the possibility for the selection of chickpea varieties that can develop more efficient associations with soil fungal resources.

#### 2.2 Abstract

Crop plants regulate their microbiome impacting the health and productivity of the entire cropping system. Genetic variations among cultivars of crop species could result in the establishment of different structures and functions of the microbial communities associated with the roots. As a N<sub>2</sub>-fixing crop, chickpea generally improves soil fertility; however, its cultivars have different impacts on subsequent crop in rotation. I conducted a 2-year field experiment with 13 cultivars of chickpea, testing the effect of cultivar on the root mycota using 454 amplicon pyrosequencing. *Funneliformis* and *Claroideoglomus* were the dominant AM fungal genera and *Fusarium* and *Alternaria* were the dominant non-AM fungal genera colonizing the endosphere of chickpea. The cultivars CDC Corrine, CDC Cory and CDC Anna had the highest fungal diversity, and in contrast CDC Alma and CDC Xena had the

lowest fungal diversity in roots. Chickpea cultivar and environmental conditions had significant effects on the structure of the root fungal community, suggesting the possibility of selecting cultivars that promote beneficial microbial environments promoting plant health and the productivity of the cropping system.

## **2.3 Introduction**

Plant microbiome also known as "the second genome of the plant" has a crucial impact on plant health and crop productivity (Berendsen et al., 2012). In particular, the roots of plants are associated with a wide variety of soil microbial communities throughout their life. Fungi represent a diverse group of soil biota that is involved in decomposition of organic materials, promotion of plant growth, and development or suppression of disease (Bridge and Spooner, 2001). The integration of symbiotic species such as AM fungi into cropping systems could increase crop yield through improved plant health, nutrition and tolerance to abiotic stresses (Finlay, 2008). In contrast, soil-borne fungal pathogens cause a variety of diseases in crop plants leading to massive economic losses through the reduction of yield and contamination of food by various mycotoxins (Horbach et al., 2011).

The use of fungicides has long been a common practice to control soil-borne pathogens. However, agrochemicals may have non-target effects on beneficial soil microorganisms, and exacerbate the incidence of disease by reducing the diversity of the soil microbiome (Yang et al., 2012). Moreover, fungicides are often applied when symptoms are visible, which is too late to effectively prevent the negative impact of disease on crop production (Ghorbani et al., 2010). An effective approach to control soil-borne diseases is to create environmental conditions unsuitable for the plant pathogens that cause the infection (Weller, 1988). Crop rotation is a pivotal practice preventing the buildup of pathogenic communities in soil. However, the choices of rotational crop species are usually narrow making it difficult to adopt the long rotations that effectively control the proliferation of pathogens (Bennett et al., 2012). A complementary strategy is the use of resistant plants or certain cultivars to develop healthy microbial environments.

Research on plant-microbe interactions has shown that susceptible crop varieties do not show disease symptoms when they are exposed to pathogens in specific soils, known as "disease-suppressive soils" (Weller et al., 2002). Interaction between root and soil microbes is a dynamic process in which plants employ fine-tuned mechanisms to shape the structure and function of their microbiome (Berg and Smalla, 2009; Sarkar et al., 2009). Thus, the genotypes of a plant species growing in the same soil could be associated with distinct microbial communities (Berendsen et al., 2012).

Plant roots release various bioactive substances that are able to attract or inhibit specific microbial groups and initiate symbiosis or pathogenesis (Badri et al., 2013; Bais et al., 2006). Certain plants are able to select protective microbial species or increase microbial activity to develop a disease-suppressive soil (Berendsen et al., 2012). Research has revealed that the genetic variations within a plant species can also influence the composition and function of root and soil microbiomes (Ellouze et al., 2013; Schweitzer et al., 2008). This suggests the feasibility of breeding genotypes that promote the establishment of the protective and symbiotic microbial species in the rhizosphere.

Chickpea is a high-value pulse crop that is well adapted to the semiarid climate of southern Saskatchewan where several cultivars of chickpea of both kabuli and desi types are

cultivated in rotation with wheat. Cultivars of chickpea were recently reported to produce different arrays of root phytochemicals and establish different rhizobacterial communities (Yang et al., 2012). Selection of cultivars that promote colonization of beneficial AM fungi and endophytes while inhibiting fungal pathogens in the root endosphere could improve soil health and productivity of cropping systems. Considering the intraspecific variations among the cultivars of chickpea, I hypothesized that the chickpea cultivar influences the composition of the fungal communities in the root endosphere. To test this hypothesis I conducted a 2-year field experiment and used 454 pyrosequencing of amplicon to examine the influence of chickpea cultivars of chickpea with different phenotypic features and agronomic characteristics representing the chickpea mapping population were examined and their influence on the structure of the fungal root endophyte community was described in the field experiment reported in this chapter. In addition, a greenhouse experiment was conducted to assess the effects of important beneficial and pathogenic fungal species on chickpea growth.

#### **2.4 Material and Methods**

## 2.4.1 Experimental design and site description

The influence of 13 cultivars of chickpea on the fungal communities of roots was described in a field experiment. These cultivars were selected from kabuli and desi types of chickpea and had different phenotypes (Table 2.1) and genotypes (Fig. A.1) (Diapari et al., 2014) representing the mapping population. The field experiment was set up with four replicates as a randomized complete block design in 2010 and repeated in 2011 on a different location in the same field (Figs. B.1 and B.2).

Cultivar	Class	Leaf Type	Ascochyta Blight Resistance	Height (cm)	Days to Flower	<b>Maturity</b> <sup>†</sup>	Seed Weight g/1000	Seed Shape	Reference
Amit	Kabuli	Fern/Compound	Fair	46	56	L	259	Round	(Miller et al., 2002)
CDC Alma	Kabuli	Fern/Compound	Poor	41	54	L	368	Ram-head	(Thompson and Tar'an, 2014)
CDC Frontier	Kabuli	Fern/Compound	Fair	45	56	L	350	Ram-head	(Warkentin et al., 2005)
CDC Leader	Kabuli	Fern/Compound	Fair	41	55	Μ	389	Ram-head	(Taran et al., 2013)
CDC Luna	Kabuli	Fern/Compound	Fair	39	53	ML	369	Ram-head	(Taran et al., 2009)
CDC Orion	Kabuli	Fern/Compound	Fair	45	51	L	438	Ram-head	(Taran et al., 2011)
CDC Xena	Kabuli	Unifoliate	Very Poor	44	54	L	464	Ram-head	(Liu et al., 2003)
CDC Cabri	Desi	Fern/Compound	Fair	48	51	Μ	304	Plump	(Warkentin et al., 2005)
CDC Corinne	Desi	Fern/Compound	Fair	44	55	Μ	245	Angular	(Taran et al., 2009)
CDC Cory	Desi	Fern/Compound	Fair	48	57	Μ	273	Angular	(Thompson and Tar'an, 2014)
CDC Vanguard	Desi	Fern/Compound	Fair	42	53	ML	221	Plump	(Warkentin et al., 2009)
CDC Anna	Desi	Fern/Compound	Fair	40	52	L	210	Plump	(Vandenberg et al., 2003)
CDC Nika	Desi	Fern/Compound	Fair	40	50	L	320	Plump	(Vandenberg et al., 2003)

**Table 2.1.** Main features of the cultivars of chickpea used in the field study.

<sup>†</sup>Maturity: M = medium; ML = medium-late; L = late

The plots were established in wheat stubble on an Orthic Brown Chernozem soil located at the South Farm of the Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre near Swift Current, SK, Canada (latitude 50° 18' N; longitude 107° 41' W) (Table 2.2). The experimental area received more precipitation in 2010 than 2011 (Fig. 2.1). The mean temperature was below the normal in 2010, but it was approximately normal in 2011 (Fig. 2.2). Monoammonium phosphate was applied with the seed at a rate of 33 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> in both years. Seeds were coated with Mesorhizobium ciceri Nitragin Nitrastick GC peat powder inoculant as per the instruction of the manufacturer (110 g of inoculant per 25 kg seeds) (Nitragin Inc. Brookfield, WI). Plants were seeded on  $2 \times 6$  m plots pre-treated with the herbicides Roundup Weathermax (Monsanto Company, St. Louis, MO) and Pursuit (American Cyanamid Company, Prince-ton, NJ) at rates of 133 mL ha<sup>-1</sup>, and 4.8 mL ha<sup>-1</sup> respectively. The fungicides Bravo® (Syngenta Crop Protection Canada Inc., Guelph, ON, a.i. chlorothalonil) and Headline® Duo (BASF Canada Inc., Mississauga, ON, a.i. pyraclostrobin and boscalid) were sprayed. Chickpea is a susceptible crop to Ascochyta blight, a disease caused by the fungal pathogen Ascochyta rabiei. Ascochyta blight can dramatically affect chickpea seed quality and result in up to 96% yield loss in susceptible cultivars (Chongo et. al., 2000). Therefore, the use of fungicide is a necessary practice to control the disease in chickpea production.

## 2.4.2 Root sampling and processing

Ten normally growing plants were randomly selected from each plot at the mid-flowering stage. Roots were separated from the shoots using scissors and transported to the lab using a cooler, where the roots were washed and cut into 4-cm fragments.

Soil Property	2010	2011
Texture	Silt loam to loam	Silt loam to loam
pH <sup>§</sup>	6.5	6.5
Mineral N (kg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	9	8
Available K (kg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	326	491
Available S (kg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	35	15
NaHCO <sub>3</sub> extractable P (kg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	36	39

**Table 2.2.** Physical and chemical characteristics of soil<sup> $\dagger$ </sup> in the experimental sites<sup> $\ddagger$ </sup>

<sup>†</sup>Depth: 0-15 cm <sup>‡</sup>Located at the South Farm of the Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre near Swift Current, SK Canada.

<sup>§</sup>1:1 soil: water





**Fig. 2.1**. Total precipitation during the growing season in 2010, 2011 and normal conditions (average for 1981–2010), Swift Current, SK– Data received from Environment Canada.



Month

**Fig. 2.2.** Mean temperature during the growing season in 2010, 2011 and normal conditions (average for 1981–2010), Swift Current, SK– Data received from Environment Canada.

A subsample of the roots was stored at -20°C until molecular analysis of the fungal communities of the root endosphere. Another subsample was cleared and stained to visually assess the level of AM fungal colonization of plant roots.

## 2.4.3 Assessment of root colonization by AM fungi

Root samples were cleared by boiling in KOH solution (100 g  $L^{-1}$ ) for 12 min and staining them in a boiling solution of Schaeffer black ink and vinegar (50 g  $L^{-1}$ ) for 3 min (Vierheilig et al., 1998). The extent of root length colonized by AM hyphae, arbuscules and vesicles was determined (McGonigle et al., 1990). One hundred intersects per sample were examined at 400X magnification under a compound microscope.

## 2.4.4 DNA extraction, PCR amplification, purification and pyrosequencing

Fresh root samples of 50 mg were freeze dried and milled with a tungsten bead in a microcentrifuge tube by vigorously shaking for 3 min. Total DNA was extracted from each root sample using Qiagen Plant DNeasy kits (QIAGEN, Mississauga, ON) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The 18S ribosomal DNA sequences were amplified using NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR primer sets (Table 2.3) to analyze the structure of the AM fungal community of the root endosphere (Lumini et al., 2010). Nested PCR was to generate sufficient numbers of amplicons using AMV4.5-NFand AMDGR primer set. In the first polymerase chain reaction (PCR), each template was amplified in 20  $\mu$ L reactions containing 16  $\mu$ L of Platinum PCR Supermix (Invitrogen, Mississauga, ON), 0.2  $\mu$ L NS1, 0.2  $\mu$ L NS4 (20 mM solutions), 2.6  $\mu$ L of ultrapure water, and 1.0  $\mu$ L of template DNA. The final concentration of the reagent mix was 0.0165 U/mL Taq DNA Polymerase, 1.24 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 16.5 mM Tris–HCl (pH 8.4), 41.25 mM KCl, 165 mM (each) dNTP, and 0.2 mM (each) primer per 10 mL volume. All the amplifications were conducted in a Veriti 96-well fast Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). The PCR was initiated with a denaturation step of 94 °C for 3 min followed by 35 cycles at 94°C for 45 s of denaturation, 51°C for 45 s of annealing, 72 s for 1 min of elongation and a final elongation at 72°C for 7 min. The PCR products were diluted (1:20) and used for the second PCR. The DNA templates were amplified in 20 µL reactions containing 16 µL of Platinum PCR Supermix (Invitrogen Inc.), 0.2 µL AMV4.5-NF, 0.2 µL AMDGR (20 mM solutions), 2.6 µL of ultrapure water and 1.0 µL of diluted PCR product. The PCR conditions were 10 min for denaturation at 95°C, 35 cycles of 30 s of denaturation at 94°C, 30 s of annealing at 55°C, and 1 min of elongation at 72°C, followed by 9 min of final elongation at 72°C. The internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region of the template DNA samples was also amplified using ITS1F/ITS2 primer sets (Table 2.3) to analyze the structure of the non-AM fungal community of the root endosphere (Buée et al., 2009). The 30 µL PCR reactions contained 22.5 µL of Platinum PCR Supermix (Invitrogen, Mississauga, ON) 0.3 µL ITS1F, 0.3 µL ITS2 (20 mM solutions) and 3.9 µL of ultrapure water and 3.0 µL of template DNA. The PCR conditions were 94°C for 4 min, 35 cycles of 30 s at 94°C (denaturation), 50°C for 1 min (annealing) and 72°C for 90 s (elongation), followed by 10 min at 72°C. The amplicons were barcoded with one of 32 Roche's Multiplex Identifiers. The PCR products were purified using the AMPure PCR Purification Kit (Agencourt Bioscience, Beverly, MA), analyzed by Agilent Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Edmonton, AB) for quality control and sequenced using 454 GS FLX amplicon pyrosequencing at the Laboratory for Advanced Genome Analysis at the Vancouver Prostate Centre, Vancouver, BC.

analyses of the roots-associated fungal communities in 13 cultivars of chickpea					
Primer Sequence (5' to 3')		Amplicon size (bp)	Reference		
ITS-1F	CTTGGTCATTTAGAGGAAGTAA	400	$(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{u}\mathbf{\dot{c}}\mathbf{a}\mathbf{t}\mathbf{a}\mathbf{l}\mathbf{a}\mathbf{c}00)$		
ITCO		400	(Buee et al., 2009)		

GCTGCGTTCTTCATCGATGC

Table 2.3. Primer, adaptors and key sequences used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA used for molecular

NS1 NS4	GTAGTCATATGCTTGTCTC CTTCCGTCAATTCCTTTAAG	1100	(Lee et al., 2008)
AMV4.5NF AMDGR	AAGCTCGTAGTTGAATTTCG CCCAACTATCCCTATTAATCAT	350	(Lumini et al., 2010)
Adaptor / Key (Forward) Adaptor / Key (Reverse)	CCATCTCATCCCTGCGTGTCTCCGAC / TCAG CCTATCCCCTGTGTGCCCTTGGCAGTC / TCAG	-	-

ITS2

#### **2.4.5 Bioinformatics analysis**

In total, 502,383 raw sequence reads were obtained. The average lengths of the ITS and 18S rDNA sequence reads were 255 and 278 bp respectively. Unfortunately, one replicate of raw sequences from each year was lost due to a technical issue during sequencing. The raw sequences were processed using Mothur V.1.28.0. The command 'trim.seqs' was used to screen the short and low quality sequences. Any ITS sequences shorter than 150 bp in length were removed from the dataset. The 18S rDNA sequence reads between 230 and 250 bp in length were considered for further analysis (Lumini et al., 2010). All sequences containing ambiguous base pairs, excessively long homopolymers and chimeras, and low quality reads (average score  $\geq 25$ ) were excluded from downstream analysis. The command 'unique.seqs' was used to reduce the reads to unique sequences. The chimeric sequences were detected with the command "chimera.uchime" and excluded with command "remove.seqs". The sequences of each sample were subsampled using the command "sub.sample" to normalize the number of sequences in the OTU dataset (Table D.1). The clean ITS and 18S rDNA sequences were aligned against SILVA (http://www.arb-silva.de) and ITS sequences against UNITE (http://unite.ut.ee/repository.php) databases, respectively (Kõljalg et al., 2013) using the command "align.seqs". The poorly aligned sequences were detected using the command "screen.seqs" and removed from the dataset with the commands "filter.seqs" (vertical=T, trump=.) and "remove.seqs". The sequence errors were excluded with the command "pre.cluster". The sequences were classified using the command "classify.seqs". Any sequences that belong to phyla other than Glomeromycota (arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi) were excluded from the 18S rDNA dataset with the command "get.lineage". A distance
matrix was generated with the command "dist.seqs". The sequences were clustered into operational taxonomic units (OTU) based on 97% similarity using a furthest neighbor clustering algorithm with the command "cluster.seqs". The command "split.abund" was used to remove the OTU clusters containing only one or two sequences (singletons and doubletons). The representative sequences for each OTU were identified with the command "get.oturep". The largest sequence of each OTU was used for BLAST search against the NCBI nucleotide collection database (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi). Matches with more than 94% similarity and 90% query coverage were considered. Hits with BLAST scores < 200 were considered to represent unknown or unclassified fungi. The number of reads for each OTU was obtained for each sample using command "classify.otu" and used to form the database of the relative abundance of the OTUs. This data was used to analyze the structure of the communities of AM fungi and non-AM fungi. Chao richness and Shannon diversity indices were estimated for each plot (In subsampled and non-subsampled data) using the command "collect.single".

# 2.4.6 Collection and identification of fungal isolates

Forty-nine fungal isolates were received from the fungal collection of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre in Swift Current, SK. The fungal isolates had been recovered from the roots of chickpea, pea, lentil and wheat grown at the same research farm. These isolates were used as references to assess the potential influence of the non-AM fungal root colonizing species on chickpea growth found in the field study. Isolates were cultured on the half-strength PDA (Potato Dextrose Agar) medium (Chet and Baker, 1980). The actively growing hypha were collected from the edge of the plates after 72 h and used for molecular identification of the fungal species. Fungal hyphae were transferred into 2 mL sterile microcentrifuge tubes, freeze dried by liquid nitrogen and ground. Genomic DNA was extracted from the fungal hyphae using Qiagen DNeasy Plant Mini Kit according to manufacturer's instructions and stored at - 20°C. The DNA was PCR-amplified using universal fungal primer ITS1F (CTTGGTCATTTAGAGGAAGTAA) ITS-4 set and (TCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGC). PCR reactions consisted of 17 µL of Platinum Supermix (Invitrogen, Mississauga, ON), 3  $\mu$ L of distilled water, 1  $\mu$ L of each primers and 2  $\mu$ L of DNA template. PCR conditions were set up as 30 s at 95°C, 40 s at 60°C, 40 s at 72°C, 5-min extension at 72°C, 4°C. Amplified ITS region (about 600bp) PCR products were purified using AMPure DNA purification kit (Agencourt Bioscience, Beverly, MA) and sequenced at Plant Biotechnology Institute after quality control. Sequences were blasted against NCBI Gene Bank database for the identification of fungal species.

# 2.4.7 Greenhouse experiment

Seeds of the chickpea cultivar CDC Frontier were surface sterilized by successive immersion in 95% ethanol for 30 s, sterile distilled water for 30 s, 2.5% Javex solution (sodium hypochlorite) for 2 min, and sterile distilled water for 2 min. The seeds were kept on a sterile moist filter paper in Petri dishes for 72 h at 25°C in the dark to germinate. Pots were planted with seven germinated seeds. Seed roots and the underneath soils were treated with 1.5 g of a peat-based *Mesorhizobium ciceri* inoculant (Nitragin Nitrastick GC®, Nitragin Inc., Brookfield, WI). Designated plants were inoculated with four plugs of actively growing fungal mycelium cut from PDA medium (Chet and Baker, 1980) and planted in 4 L pots containing pasteurized calcined clay (90°C, 1 h). A control was inoculated with sterile agar plugs and rhizobial inoculant. The pots were arranged in a randomized complete block design and replicated four times in the greenhouse. Plants were kept under 16/8 hours at 24/16°C temperatures day/night in the greenhouse. Supplemental lighting was applied during the daytime using high intensity discharge lamps (Alto 400 watt low pressure sodium, Philips, Somerset, NJ). Plants were watered with distilled water and fertilized with modified Long Ashton nutrient solution containing (in mg L<sup>-1</sup>) 554 KCl, 200 NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>•H<sub>2</sub>O, 244 MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 520 CaCl<sub>2</sub>•H<sub>2</sub>O, 1.7 MnSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.25 CuSO<sub>4</sub>•5H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.30 ZnSO<sub>4</sub>•7H<sub>2</sub>O, 3.0 H<sub>3</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, 5.0 NaCl, 0.09 (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>6</sub> Mo<sub>7</sub>O<sub>24</sub>•<sub>4</sub>H<sub>2</sub>O and 32.9 NaFe-EDTA (Hewitt, 1966). Plants were kept under water limiting conditions and the soil moisture was adjusted weekly by weighing the pots. Plants were harvested at maturity and the dried shoot biomass was measured.

# 2.4.8 Statistical Analysis

All the data collected in this study was tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk's test and non-normal data was square root transformed before analysis.

# 2.4.8.1 Field experiment and fungal community analyses

Two-way ANOVA was conducted to test the significance of the effect of cultivar, year and their interaction on the level of root colonization. Tukey-Kramer HSD post hoc test was used to assess the significance of difference between means in this analysis (R package V.2.15.2). The analyses related to the pyrosequencing work were completed in three replicates for both 2010 and 2011 due to missing data. The two years of the relative abundance data were combined and the community analyses were completed in six replicates (n = 6). A two-way factorial permutation based multivariate analysis of variance (Per-MANOVA) was performed on the relative abundance of 5 dominant AM and 14 dominant non-AM fungal OTUs (both as collective and separate communities), using SØrensen distances to test the effect of cultivar, year and their interaction on the structure of fungal communities of the root endosphere. Detrended correspondence analysis (DCA) was performed on the same data to determine fungal communities associated with different cultivars of chickpea. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) was performed to find a relationship between the cultivars of chickpea based on agronomic performances (PC-ORD V. 4.34). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to test the significance of the effect of cultivar on richness and diversity indices. Tukey-Kramer HSD post hoc test was used to assess the significance of difference between means (R package V.2.15.2). The significance of the effects of chickpea type (desi and kabuli) on the richness and diversity of the fungal communities was tested by orthogonal contrasts, using JMP V.6 (SAS Institute Inc. Cary, NC USA). Spearman correlation test was performed to detect relationships between the fungal genera, and between fungal genera and plant performance (R package V.2.15.2).

# 2.4.8.2 Greenhouse study

One-way ANOVA was performed to test the significance of non-AM fungal endophytes and pathogens on plant biomass. The biomass of plants inoculated with different non-AM fungi were compared to control plant biomass using Dunnett's test in R package multcomp. A *p*-value of less than 0.05 was indicative of statistical significance.

# 2.5 Results

# 2.5.1 Sequence analysis of field samples

A total of 139,88218S rDNA and 109,163 ITS sequence reads were obtained from AM and non-AM fungi respectively after the cleaning and removal of short, ambiguous, low-quality and chimeric sequences. The average length of ITS read sequences was 255 bp and that of 18S rDNA reads was 278 bp. The reads were further clustered into 44 AM and 105 non-AM fungal OTUs (Figs. C.1 and C.2). Glomus, Claroideoglomus, Funneliformis, Paraglomus, Rhizophagus and Diversispora were the AM fungal genera present in the roots of chickpea. Funneliformis and Claroideoglomus were the most abundant genera, accounting for more than 50% of the total sequence reads obtained in 2010 and 2011. The relative abundance of Diversispora, Glomus and Paraglomus were significantly different (p < 0.05) between the two years (Fig. 2.3 a). The non-AM fungal community was dominated by the genera Fusarium, Alternaria, Cryptococcus, Acremonium, Cladosporium, Bionectria, Mortierella, Rhodotorula, Chaetomium, Penicillium, Pyrenophora, Microdochium, Trichoderma and Paecilomyces. Fusarium and Alternaria were the dominant non-AM fungal genera in chickpea roots encompassing the most deleterious soil-borne fungal pathogens. The relative abundance of Alternaria, Paecilomyces, Microdochium, Cladosporium and Acremonium significantly varied (p < 0.05) between two years (Fig. 2.3 b). Fusarium was more abundant in 2010. Trichoderma was more abundant in 2011. The genus Fusarium includes important pathogens that associate with various crop plants. The composition of root fungi varied for AM (p < 0.02) and non-AM (p < 0.04) fungal genera in different cultivars of chickpea (Fig. 2.4 and 2.5). The relative abundance of *Claroideoglomus*, *Diversispora* and unclassified genera varied in different cultivars. Claroideoglomus was abundant in CDC Anna, but was scarce in CDC Nika. Diversispora was abundant in CDC Corrine, CDC Frontier and CDC Nika (Fig. 2.4). Fusarium was abundant in CDC Nika, but it was scarce in CDC Corrine.





**Fig. 2.3.** Relative abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) (a) and non-AM (b) fungal genera in the roots of chickpea, detected by pyrosequencing (n = 3). Data is some of the relative abundance of fungal genera in 13 chickpea cultivars including Amit, CDC Anna, CDC Alma, CDC Frontier, CDC Luna, CDC Leader, CDC Vanguard, CDC Xena, CDC Corrine, CDC Cory, CDC Orion, CDC Cabri and CDC Nika. Significant differences between years are indicated by \* ( $p \le 0.05$ ) and \*\* ( $p \le 0.01$ ). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK. NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR primer sets were used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA (Nested PCR).

## **2.5.2. Fungal Community Structure**

Cultivars of chickpea and the year they were grown significantly influenced the structure of root fungal communities. The interaction between cultivar and year was not significant indicating that the cultivars have similar effects in different environmental conditions (Table 2.4). The fungal community of CDC Anna was different from that of nine cultivars and that of CDC Orion was different from that of eight cultivars. CDC Luna and CDC Nika were associated with different fungal communities in the root endosphere (Table 2.5) (Fig. 2.6).

# 2.5.3. Richness and diversity indices

Chickpea cultivar had a significant influence on the richness and diversity indices of AM and non-AM root fungal communities (Tables 2.6 and D.2). CDC Corrine had the highest level of richness and diversity of both AM fungal and non-AM fungal communities. In contrast, CDC Alma and CDC Xena had the lowest richness and diversity of non-AM fungal and AM fungal communities respectively. Overall fungal richness and diversity were higher in the roots of desi than kabuli chickpeas (Table 2.7).

## **2.5.4. Relationships between root fungal communities and plant performance**

The abundance of *Fusarium* and *Glomus* in roots was negatively correlated with the yield of cultivars of chickpea (Fig. 2.7). *Fusarium* is a fungal genus containing several pathogenic species causing disease and reducing the biomass of many plant species. The relative abundance of *Paraglomus* and *Trichoderma* were correlated with high yield, harvest index

and seed weight. In contrast *Fusarium*, *Glomus* and *Alternaria* were negatively correlated with yield, harvest index and seed weight (Table 2.8 and Fig. 2.7).

# **2.5.5. Root colonization**

Colonization of root by AM fungi significantly varied in the cultivars of chickpea (p < 0.0001) and root colonization was different in 2010 and 2011. However the interaction of chickpea cultivars and year was not significant (Table 2.9). CDC Cory and CDC Leader had higher levels of colonization than other cultivars except CDC Frontier and CDC Frontier had a higher level of root colonization than CDC Nika (Fig. 2.8).

# 2.5.6 Effects of non-AM fungi on chickpea growth in the greenhouse assay

The non-AM fungal isolates indigenous to the South Farm had a significant effect on the biomass of chickpea (Table 2.10). The non-AM fungal isolates influenced chickpea biomass ranging from positive to neutral and negative (Table 2.11 and Fig. 2.9). Three fungal isolates including *Trichoderma harzianum*, *Geomyces vinaceus* and *Mortierella alpina* significantly increased the biomass of chickpea. However, several *Fusarium* isolates with ITS regions similar to that of *Fusarium redolence*, *Fusarium solani* and *Fusarium oxysporum* decreased the biomass of chickpea.



#### **Relative abundance (%)**

## **Chickpea cultivars**

**Fig. 2.4.** Relative abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungal genera associated with the roots of 13 cultivars of field-grown chickpea, detected by pyrosequencing (n = 6). Data is the average of the relative abundance of AM fungal genera over two years. Significant differences between cultivars are indicated by \* ( $p \le 0.05$ ) and \*\* ( $p \le 0.01$ ). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR primer sets were used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA (Nested PCR).



#### **Chickpea cultivars**

**Fig. 2.5.** Relative abundance of non-arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungal genera associated with the roots of 13 cultivars of field-grown chickpea, detected by pyrosequencing (n = 6). Data is the average of the relative abundance of non-AM fungal genera over two years. Significant differences between cultivars are indicated by \* ( $p \le 0.05$ ). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. ITS1F/ITS2 primer set was used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA.

**Table 2.4.** Effects of cultivar<sup>†</sup> and year on the structure of root-associated fungal communities in field-grown chickpea. The fungal communities consisted of the relative abundance of  $AM^{\ddagger}$  and non- $AM^{\$}$  genera detected by pyrosequencing<sup>¶</sup>.

Source	d.f.	SS	MS	F value	p value
Cultivar	12	9.6995	0.80829	1.279	0.0442*
Year	1	1.8227	1.8227	2.8842	0.0034**
Cultivar*Year	12	6.8568	0.5714	0.90419	0.7453
Residual	52	32.861	0.63195		
Total	77	51.24			

Significant effects are indicated by \* ( $p \le 0.05$ ) and \*\* ( $p \le 0.01$ ) according to PerMANOVA (n = 6).

<sup>†</sup>Chickpea cultivars include Amit, CDC Anna, CDC Alma, CDC Frontier, CDC Luna, CDC Leader, CDC Vanguard, CDC Xena, CDC Corrine, CDC Cory, CDC Orion, CDC Cabri and CDC Nika. <sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal: Consisting of genera *Glomus, Claroideoglomus, Funneliformis, Paraglomus, Rhizophagus* and *Diversispora*.

<sup>§</sup>Consisting of genera Fusarium, Alternaria, Cryptococcus, Acremonium, Bionectria, Microdochium, Trichoderma Paecilomyces, Mortierella, Rhodotorula, Chaetomium, Cladosporium, Penicillium, and Pyrenophora.

<sup>®</sup>Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (Non-AM genera), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (AM genera).

**Table 2.5.** Pairwise comparison of the structure of root-associated fungal communities in field-grown chickpea cultivars. The fungal communities consisted of the relative abundance of  $AM^{\dagger}$  and non- $AM^{\ddagger}$  genera over two years, according to pyrosequencing<sup>§</sup>.

Cultivor	Amit	CDC	CDC	CDC	CDC	CDC	CDC	CDC	CDC	CDC	CDC	CDC	CDC
Cultival	Annt	Alma	Anna	Cabri	Corinne	Cory	Frontier	Leader	Luna	Nika	Orion	Vanguard	Xena
Amit	-	0.28	0.12	0.21	0.53	0.59	0.15	0.61	0.47	0.2	0.02	0.09	0.62
CDC Alma	0.28	-	0.03*	0.46	0.35	0.29	0.16	0.7	0.19	0.62	0.01*	0.46	0.65
CDC Anna	0.12	0.03*	-	0.01*	0.01*	0.01*	0.009**	0.02*	0.16	0.009**	0.01*	0.01*	0.06
CDC Cabri	0.21	0.46	0.01*	-	0.42	0.39	0.37	0.5	0.06	0.8	0.02*	0.77	0.43
CDC Corinne	0.53	0.35	0.01*	0.42	-	0.69	0.91	0.94	0.16	0.44	0.17	0.44	0.96
CDC Cory	0.59	0.29	0.01*	0.39	0.69	-	0.44	0.69	0.22	0.13	0.04*	0.32	0.65
<b>CDC Frontier</b>	0.15	0.16	0.009**	0.37	0.91	0.44	-	0.84	0.14	0.16	0.09	0.36	0.86
CDC Leader	0.61	0.7	0.02*	0.5	0.94	0.69	0.84	-	0.4	0.19	0.05	0.65	0.96
CDC Luna	0.47	0.19	0.16	0.06	0.16	0.22	0.14	0.4	-	0.04*	0.01*	0.18	0.48
CDC Nika	0.2	0.62	0.009**	0.8	0.44	0.13	0.16	0.19	0.04*	-	0.02	0.54	0.26
CDC Orion	0.02*	0.01	0.01*	0.02*	0.17	0.04*	0.09	0.05	0.01*	0.02	-	0.01*	0.03*
<b>CDC Vanguard</b>	0.09	0.46	0.01*	0.77	0.44	0.32	0.36	0.65	0.18	0.54	0.01*	-	0.56
CDC Xena	0.62	0.65	0.06	0.43	0.96	0.65	0.86	0.96	0.48	0.26	0.03*	0.56	-

<sup>†</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal: Consisting of genera *Glomus, Claroideoglomus, Funneliformis, Paraglomus, Rhizophagus* and *Diversispora.* <sup>‡</sup>Consisting of genera *Fusarium, Alternaria, Cryptococcus, Acremonium, Bionectria, Microdochium, Trichoderma Paecilomyces, Mortierella, Rhodotorula, Chaetomium, Cladosporium, Penicillium, and Pyrenophora.* 

Significant differences are indicated by \* ( $p \le 0.05$ ) and \*\* ( $p \le 0.01$ ) according to PerMANOVA (n = 6).

<sup>§</sup>Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (Non-AM genera), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (AM genera).



#### DCA1 (51%)

**Fig. 2.6.** Relationship between the root-associated fungal communities and field-grown chickpea cultivars, according to detrended correspondence analysis (DCA). Data points are means (n = 6) of the relative abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) and non-AM fungal genera detected by pyrosequencing, over two years. Kabuli type cultivars are indicated in black and desi type cultivars are indicated in gray. Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (Non-AM genera), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (AM genera).

Chickpea		Chao	Shannon	Chao	Shannon
Genotype	Туре	AM comm	unity	Non-AM con	nmunity
CDC Corrine	Desi	736 a	4.48 a	3365 a	6.69 a
CDC Cory	Desi	686 ab	4.33 ab	3018 b	6.63 a
CDC Anna	Desi	615 cd	4.29 ab	2300 d	6.52 ab
CDC Cabri	Desi	587 d	4.21 ab	2622 с	6.55 ab
CDC Vanguard	Desi	644 bc	4.37 a	3084 ab	6.58 a
CDC Nika	Desi	430 f	4.15 ab	1705 f	6.01 bc
Amit	Kabuli	515 e	4.12 ab	2189 de	6.23 abc
CDC Leader	Kabuli	513 e	4.21 ab	2852 bc	6.33 abc
CDC Orion	Kabuli	660 bc	4.27 ab	2031 de	6.01 bc
CDC Frontier	Kabuli	649 bc	4.40 a	2314 d	6.31 abc
CDC Alma	Kabuli	396 f	3.92 b	2086 с	6.50 ab
CDC Luna	Kabuli	664 bc	4.43 a	1934 ef	6.01 bc
CDC Xena	Kabuli	615 cd	4.40 a	1966 f	5.88 c

**Table 2.6.** Chao richness and Shannon diversity indices<sup> $\dagger$ </sup> of AM<sup> $\ddagger$ </sup> and non-AM<sup>\$</sup> fungal communities associated with the roots of field-grown chickpea cultivars over two years, detected by pyrosequencing.

Data are presented as means (n = 6). Within a column, Means followed by different letters are significantly different at  $p \le 0.05$ .

<sup>†</sup>Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (Non-AM community), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (AM community). <sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal: Consisting of genera *Glomus, Claroideoglomus, Funneliformis, Paraglomus, Rhizophagus* and *Diversispora*.

<sup>§</sup>Consisting of genera Fusarium, Alternaria, Cryptococcus, Acremonium, Bionectria, Microdochium, Trichoderma Paecilomyces, Mortierella, Rhodotorula, Chaetomium, Cladosporium, Penicillium, and Pyrenophora.

Table	2.7.	Chao	richness	and	Shannon	diversity	indices	of Al	$M^{\ddagger}$ and	non-AM <sup>§</sup>	fungal
comm	unitie	s asso	ciated wit	th the	e roots of	two types	of field-	-grown	chickpe	a over two	years,
detecte	ed by	pyrose	equencing	<b>.</b>							

÷

A 3 6

1.

Chielmee trme	Chao	Shannon	Chao	Shannon	
Спіскреа туре	AM commu	ıity	Non-AM community		
Desi	616 a	4.29 a	2676 a	6.50 a	
Kabuli	532 b	4.26 b	2242 b	6.16 b	

Data are presented as means (n = 39). Within a column, Means followed by different letters are significantly different at  $p \le 0.05$ .

<sup>†</sup>Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (Non-AM community), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (AM community). <sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal: Consisting of genera *Glomus, Claroideoglomus, Funneliformis,* 

Paraglomus, Rhizophagus and Diversispora.

<sup>§</sup>Consisting of genera Fusarium, Alternaria, Cryptococcus, Acremonium, Bionectria, Microdochium, Trichoderma Paecilomyces, Mortierella, Rhodotorula, Chaetomium, Cladosporium, Penicillium, and Pyrenophora.



**Fig. 2.7.** Spearman correlations between yield and the relative abundance of *Fusarium* (a) and *Glomus* (b) associated with the roots of 13 cultivars of field-grown chickpea (N = 78). Data is the relative abundance of the fungal general over two years detected by pyrosequencing. Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (*Fusarium*), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (*Glomus*). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. Data in 2010 is in red and in 2010 is in black.

**Table 2.8.** Significant relationships<sup>†</sup> between the agronomic performance of field-grown chickpea cultivars<sup>‡</sup> and the relative abundance of root-associated fungal genera, over two years, detected by pyrosequencing<sup>§</sup>.

Genus	Agronomic performance	<i>p</i> -value	r
Glomus	Mature biomass	0.01**	0.28
Glomus	1000 Seed weight	0.008**	- 0.29
Glomus	Harvest Index	0.0003***	- 0.39
Paraglomus	1000 Seed weight	0.007**	0.29
Paraglomus	Harvest Index	0.01**	0.28
Paraglomus	Yield	0.014*	0.27
Rhizophagus	Mature biomass	0.009**	0.29
Fusarium	1000 Seed weight	0.0003***	- 0.39
Fusarium	Harvest Index	0.0001***	- 0.43
Alternaria	1000 Seed weight	0.04*	- 0.26
Alternaria	Harvest Index	0.008**	- 0.29
Alternaria	Yield	0.008**	- 0.29
Trichoderma	1000 Seed weight	0.004**	0.31
Trichoderma	Harvest Index	0.002**	0.34
Trichoderma	Yield	0.0001***	0.41

\*Significant at  $p \le 0.05$ 

\*\*Significant at  $p \le 0.01$ 

\*\*\*Significant at  $p \le 0.001$ 

<sup>†</sup>Data presented as Spearman correlations across 13 cultivars of chickpea (N = 78). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011.

<sup>‡</sup>Consisting of Amit, CDC Anna, CDC Alma, CDC Frontier, CDC Luna, CDC Leader, CDC Vanguard, CDC Xena, CDC Corrine, CDC Cory, CDC Orion, CDC Cabri and CDC Nika.

<sup>§</sup>Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (*Fusarium, Alternaria* and *Trichoderma*), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (*Glomus* and *Paraglomus*).

Source	d.f.	SS	MS	F value	<i>p</i> value
Cultivar	12	3595	299.6	8.754	< 0.0001***
Year	1	601	601	17.559	< 0.0001 ***
Cultivar *Year	12	624	52	1.519	0.135
Residuals	78	2670	34.2		

**Table 2.9.** Effects of cultivar<sup>†</sup> and year on the level of root colonization by  $AM^{\ddagger}$  fungi in field-grown<sup>§</sup> chickpea (*n* = 4).

\*\*\*Significant at  $p \le 0.001$ 

<sup>†</sup>Consisting of Amit, CDC Anna, CDC Alma, CDC Frontier, CDC Luna, CDC Leader, CDC Vanguard, CDC Xena, CDC Corrine, CDC Cory, CDC Orion, CDC Cabri and CDC Nika <sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal

<sup>§</sup>Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011.



Chickpea genotype

**Fig. 2.8.** Level of root colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi in field-grown cultivars of chickpea. Data presented as means (n = 8) of root colonization by AM fungi over two years. Significant differences between cultivars ( $p \le 0.05$ ) are indicated by different letters. Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011.

Source	d.f.	SS	MS	F value	<i>p</i> value
Isolates	49	31.26	0.6380	3.618	< 0.0001 ***
Residuals	150	26.45	0.1763		

Table 2.10. Effect of non-AM<sup> $\dagger$ </sup> fungal isolates<sup>‡</sup> on the biomass of chickpea cultivar CDC Frontier, in the greenhouse (n = 4).

\*\*\*Significant at  $p \le 0.001$ 

<sup>†</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal

<sup>‡</sup>Consisting of isolates of Trichoderma harzianum, Geomyces vinaceus, Mortierella alpina, Acremonium furcatum, Penicillium commune, Penicillium canescens, Bionectria ochroleuca Penicillium kurssanovii, Fusarium solani, Fusarium oxysporum and Fusarium redolens, indigenous to the research farm of the Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre, near swift current, SK.

Isolate ID	Fungal species	Plant biomass (g)
IS_1	Trichoderma harzianum	3.69 *
IS_10	Geomyces vinaceus	3.18 *
IS_5	Mortierella alpina	3.19 *
IS_19	Trichoderma harzianum	2.59
IS_18	Mortierella alpina	2.52
IS_45	Trichoderma harzianum	2.49
IS_13	Trichoderma harzianum	2.48
IS_46	Mortierella alpina	2.48
IS_14	Geomyces pannorum	2.47
IS_22	Trichoderma harzianum	2.46
IS_11	Trichoderma harzianum	2.45
IS_24	Trichoderma harzianum	2.44
IS_23	Trichoderma harzianum	2.42
IS_3	Trichoderma harzianum	2.4
IS_6	Acremonium furcatum	2.38
IS_16	Mortierella alpina	2.38
IS_7	Mortierella alpina	2.34
IS_42	Trichoderma harzianum	2.33
IS_2	Trichoderma harzianum	2.32
IS_15	Penicillium commune	2.28
IS_9	Mortierella alpina	2.27
IS_21	Trichoderma harzianum	2.26
IS_40	Penicillium canescens	2.25
-	Control	2.23
IS_12	Acremonium furcatum	2.19
IS_4	Mortierella alpina	2.17
IS_8	Acremonium sp	2.17
IS_35	Bionectria ochroleuca	2.16
IS_38	Bionectria ochroleuca	2.16
IS_17	Penicillium kurssanovii	2.14
IS_30	Fusarium solani	2.13
IS_32	Bionectria ochroleuca	2.13
IS_49	Fusarium redolens	2.12
IS_44	Bionectria ochroleuca	2.09
IS_48	Penicillium canescens	2.07
IS_37	Bionectria ochroleuca	2.04
IS_47	Fusarium solani	2.04
IS_27	Fusarium oxysporum	1.95
IS_26	Fusarium redolens	1.91
IS_43	Fusarium redolens	1.91
IS_28	Fusarium solani	1.86
IS_20	Fusarium oxysporum	1.82
IS_41	Fusarium solani	1.75
IS_34	Fusarium solani	1.65

**Table 2.11.** Effects of 49 isolates<sup>†</sup> of non-AM<sup>‡</sup> fungi on the biomass of chickpea cultivar CDC Frontier, in the greenhouse.

Table 2.11 (continued)

Isolate ID	Fungal species	Plant biomass (g)
IS_39	Fusarium solani	1.63
IS_33	Fusarium redolens	1.61
IS_36	Fusarium redolens	1.59
IS_25	Fusarium redolens	1.53
IS_29	Fusarium solani	1.53
IS_31	Fusarium redolens	1.52

<sup>†</sup>Indigenous to the research farm of the Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre, near swift current, SK.

<sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal

Data presented as means (n = 4). Significance effects of fungal isolates on chickpea biomass as compared to non-inoculated control are indicated by \*  $(p \le 0.05)$  according to Dunnett's test.



**Biomass** (g)

**Fig. 2.9.** Effect of different groups of non-arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungal isolates on the biomass of chickpea cultivar CDC Frontier, in the greenhouse. The fungal isolates were indigenous to the research farm of the Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre, near swift current, SK. Data are presented as means shoot biomass (n = 4) with standard errors.

# 2.6. Discussion

Soil fungal communities, particularly those colonizing roots are central to plant growth and health (Shakya et al., 2013). The roots of plants mediate their biological environment through the release of a variety of metabolites that shape the structure and function of a safe and growth promoting microbiome. The composition of those metabolites varies in different plant species providing selective driving forces maintaining microbial diversity in mixed plant communities (Bakker et al., 2012; Berg, 2009; Hartmann et al., 2009).

Agricultural plants grow where they are seeded by humans rather than in the environments to which they are adapted which may explain in part the extent of the environmental pressures affecting them. The selection of crop plant varieties able to improve soil biology is considered as a way to reduce our dependence on agrochemicals while improving crop productivity. This study shows that there is genetic variation in the influence of chickpea on the fungal community of the root endosphere. This genetic variation could be used to select genotypes using conventional breeding techniques; however a first step is to understand soilborne microbial diversity and the capabilities of chickpea to modify the soil microbiome.

I found that the chickpea cultivars influence the richness, diversity and structure of AM and non-AM fungal communities of the root endosphere (Tables 2.6 and D.2). The observation that different plant genotypes can differentially alter the structure of the root microbiome, suggests the possibility of selecting genotypes that promote specific microbial environments leading to improved plant health and productivity of the cropping system. Interactions between plant roots and symbiotic and pathogenic microbes simultaneously influence the composition of root exudates and the structure of the root microbiome. These

complex interactions impact plant performance, nutrient cycling and ecosystem functioning (Singh et al., 2004). Some of the interactions are general and take place through all species, whereas others are more specific, and some are even genotype specific (Badri et al., 2010; Nelson, 2004; Roberts and Ellis, 1989). A comprehensive understanding of the mechanisms that drive the root associated microbial community is still obscure and even an optimal microbiome is yet to be identified. The formation of symbioses with specific microbial groups, the production of stimulating or antimicrobial compounds, the induction of plant defense responses, and the competition for soil nutrient resources are the most important mechanisms influencing soil microbial communities (Azcón-Aguilar and Barea, 1997; Badri et al., 2013; Hu et al., 2010; Sarkar et al., 2009; Vierheilig et al., 2008).

Previous studies showed that the root microbiome affects the structure of soil microbial communities, and genetic variations naturally occurring in crop plants or certain crop genotypes could be used to promote beneficial soil microorganisms and control soil-borne phytopathogens (Aira et al., 2010; Krupinsky et al., 2002; Lioussanne et al., 2010; Maiti et al., 2011; Plenchette et al., 2005). Cultivars of chickpea were recently reported to have different profiles of root bioactive phytochemicals (Cruz et al., 2012; Ellouze et al., 2012) and are associated with different rhizobacterial communities (Yang et al., 2012).

This study showed that desi chickpeas support a higher richness and diversity of fungal communities in the root endosphere. The variation in the association of desi and kabuli chickpea with soil fungi could be attributed to the process of selection of cultivars overtime. There is evidence that desi cultivars originated from kabuli chickpeas (Moreno and Cubero, 1978; Singh, 1997). The process of the selection of new crop plant genotypes usually takes

place on fertile soils to generate varieties for enhanced yield production or for resistance to pathogens. This process may lead to the loss of genes and phytochemicals of kabuli cultivars needed for successful development of associations with symbiotic fungi. The involvement of these specific genes and phytochemicals in initiation and regulation of symbiosis with soil fungi can enhance the diversity of fungal communities of the root endosphere. In addition the disease resistant varieties might also be less capable of forming associations with a diversity of soil-borne fungi.

The fungal community associated with CDC Anna was different from the other cultivars. CDC Anna has a positive impact on the subsequent wheat crop indicating that the high diversity and specific community of root endosphere can improve the productivity of the cropping system beyond the chickpea phase (Ellouze et al., 2013). CDC Alma and CDC Xena roots hosted the lowest fungal richness and diversity. Interestingly, only these two cultivars are highly susceptible to the leaf disease Ascochyta blight (Table 2.1) and their agronomic performance was different to the other cultivars (Fig. 2.10). The weak association of CDC Alma and CDC Xena with soil fungi could be attributed to the induction of the immune systems of these susceptible cultivars by the fungal pathogen *Ascochyta rabiei*. Changes in the plant immune system and production of antifungal compounds or other mechanisms involved in the reaction of plant to *Ascochyta rabiei* might indirectly supress the formation of the associations between root and soil-borne fungi. This information suggests that there could be a relationship between the fungal diversity in the root endosphere and chickpea response to infecting phytopathogens.



Axis 1 = 52%

**Fig. 2.10.** Ordination plot relating the 13 field-grown cultivars of chickpea based on their shoot biomass, seed weight, harvest index, yield and concentration of N, P, K, Fe, Mn, Mg and Zn over two years according to non-metric multidimensional scaling. Data presented as means (n = 8).

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi are a ubiquitous group that generally establish symbioses with the majority of crop plants and can improve nutrient uptake, control phytopathogens and increase drought tolerance and yield in a variety of crop plants (Borowicz, 2001; Jeffries et al., 2003). The results of this study suggest that AM fungi are not all the same functionally. I observed that the abundance of the AM fungi *Paraglomus* and *Rhizophagus* was correlated with chickpea productivity (Table 2.8) but that of *Glomus* was negatively related with chickpea performance (Fig. 2.7 b). The AM fungi may act as parasites reducing crop performance (Johnson et al., 1997). The *Glomus* OTUs being mainly classified under *G. iranicum*, *G. indicum*. A similar observation in wheat leads to the proposal that these AM fungal species (Dai et al., 2014). In this study chickpea cultivars CDC Xena and CDC Anna were associated with a higher abundance of genus *Glomus* in the root endosphere (Fig. 2.4).

*Fusarium* and *Alternaria* were abundant members of the non-AM fungal community of the chickpea root endosphere. *Fusarium* and *Alternaria* are the main microorganisms responsible for common root rot disease and yield reduction in a variety of agricultural crops (Nene et al., 1991; Tsuge et al., 2013). The genus *Fusarium* also includes some species of fungal endophytes such as *F. equiseti* that have beneficial effects on the host plant (Maciá-Vicente et al., 2009). The greenhouse experiment showed that the *Fusarium* species are the most important root pathogenic species reducing chickpea biomass (Fig. 2.9). The relative abundance of *Fusarium* varied in chickpea cultivars and was the lowest in the root endosphere of CDC Corrine. This cultivar exhibited a high level of richness and diversity of AM and non-AM fungal communities in roots suggesting a negative relationship between diversity of root microbial community and abundance of the dominant genus *Fusarium*. Pathogenic *Fusarium* species are possibly more abundant in chickpea roots than the beneficial species. Recent research support that *Fusarium* infection and disease severity could be mediated by changes in the structure of the root microbiome (Klein et al., 2012).

In contrast to this, cultivars CDC Xena and CDC Alma were associated with a relatively low abundance of *Fusarium* although they hosted an overall low diversity of fungi in their root endosphere. The low abundance of *Fusarium* in CDC Xena and CDC Alma could be attributed to the lower richness and diversity of these cultivars to soil-borne fungi.

Fungal endophytes are free-living species colonizing plant roots. They are mycoparasites of some other fungi and express different levels of host preference rather than specificity. *Trichoderma* species are opportunistic, avirulent plant symbionts that can improve plant nutrient uptake and provide resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses (Hanhong, 2011; Harman et al., 2004). I observed a correlation between the abundance of root *Trichoderma* and chickpea growth. This could take place through providing the plant with nutrients or antagonizing pathogenic fungi such as *Fusarium* species that are very abundant in roots. The results of the greenhouse experiment indicated that chickpeas inoculated with the fungal endophytes *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Mortierella* produced the highest biomass (Table. 2.11).

In addition to the specific suppression of soil-borne pathogens by certain microorganisms, microbial diversity is a key component of general disease suppression acting against a wide range of phytopathogens (Alabouvette, 1999; Altieri, 1999; Naeem et al., 1994). In agricultural ecosystems soil biodiversity can provide several other ecological services such as

nutrient cycling, detoxification of chemical contaminants, regulation of hydrological processes and local microclimate (Altieri, 1999). Cropping systems with chickpea cultivars that promote soil microbial diversity or select for particular rhizospheric microorganisms that suppress some phytopathogens can improve plant and soil health and productivity of the overall cropping system.

Environmental conditions influenced the structure of the root fungal communities of chickpea. It is well known that abiotic factors can modify microbial communities (Andrew et al., 2012; Castro et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2012). I conducted the field trials in two years, including different soil conditions, temperature and moisture regimes, (Fig. 2.1 and 2.2) and found that the environment affects the structure of the fungal communities of roots. Ellouze et al. (2013) reported that the effect of chickpea on soil microbial community disappears under stress.

This study suggests that intraspecific variations in the association of crop plants with soil microbial communities can be used to select varieties that are conducive to plant health and productivity.

# 3.0 GENOTYPIC VARIATION IN THE RESPONSE OF CHICKPEA TO ARBUSCULAR MYCORRHIZA AND FUNGAL ENDOPHYTES

# **3.1 Preface**

In chapter 2, field observations revealed that chickpea genotypes recruit different fungal root endosphere communities. This chapter provides evidence of genotypic variation in the response of chickpea to AM and non-AM fungal endophytes. Furthermore, this chapter demonstrates the non-AM fungal endophytes on the formation and function of the AM symbiosis and shows that the outcome of a multipartite symbiosis depends on the genotype of chickpea.

# **3.2 Abstract**

Plant roots form symbioses with AM and non-AM fungal endophytes that influence plant growth and crop productivity. The genotype of the host plant influences the outcome of a root symbiosis. This suggests that intraspecific variations could exist in the functionality of root symbioses in chickpea. Here, I tested the effect of 13 cultivars of chickpea on the function of root symbioses formed by the AM, non-AM fungi, and both types of fungal endophytes, in the greenhouse. Intraspecific variation in chickpea and the identity of the fungi colonizing the roots of the plants influenced the function of the symbioses. The AM symbiosis increased the biomass and nitrogen fixation activity of most cultivars of chickpea, whereas the influence of non-AM fungal endophytes on these varieties was neutral to positive. The root symbioses effectively promoted plant growth in CDC Cory, CDC Anna and CDC Frontier, and stimulated nitrogen fixation in CDC Corrine. Cultivars of chickpea responded differently to co-inoculation with AM and non-AM fungal endophytes. The co-inoculation had additive effects on CDC Corrine, CDC Anna and CDC Cory but non-AM fungal endophytes reduced the positive effect of AM fungi on Amit and CDC Vanguard. The genetic variation found in chickpea could be used to select varieties that form efficient symbioses with the AM and non-AM fungal endophytes using conventional breeding techniques.

# **3.3 Introduction**

Plant roots form mutualistic associations with soil microorganisms to alleviate biotic and abiotic environmental stresses (Gianinazzi-Pearson, 1996). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi form symbioses with more than 80% of land plant species. They provide nutritional benefits to their hosts, particularly under P-limiting conditions, and protect them against pathogens in exchange for carbohydrates (Harrier, 2001; Jeffries et al., 2003). Certain non-AM fungal endophytes are also capable of developing mutualistic associations that promote plant growth, especially under stressful conditions such as drought (Mandyam and Jumpponen, 2005). Fungal endophytes are a diverse group of soil fungi that asymptotically colonize plant roots (Jumpponen, 2001). Fungal endophytes release secondary metabolites that may influence plant physiology and interact with other fungal species including phytopathogens (Schulz et al., 2002; Sumarah et al., 2011). Effects of mycorrhizal fungi and fungal endophytes on plants can be beneficial or harmful depending on the host plant, the fungal species involved, and the conditions of the environment in which they interact. Any component of the association influences the formation and efficiency of symbiosis (Andrade-

Linares et al., 2011; Jumpponen, 2001; Mandyam et al., 2012; Monzon and Azcón, 1996; Sousa et al., 2012). Different root colonizing fungi can have a variety of effects on a single host plant. It was shown that AM fungal species, and even isolates of the same species, can differently influence plant growth and development, and may increase, reduce or have no effect on the biomass of a host plant (Abbott and Robson, 1982; Van der Heijden and Kuyper, 2001). Only certain fungi are able to enhance plant growth and development (Kleczewski et al., 2012; Mandyam et al., 2012).

Plant species and genotypes of the same species form symbioses that vary in form and effectiveness (Krishna et al., 1985; Singh et al., 2012; Weishampel and Bedford, 2006). The formation and function of plant symbiosis is initiated and regulated by a range of phytochemicals produced by roots (Badri et al., 2009; Harrison, 2005). Recent studies reported that the profile of bioactive compounds produced in wheat and chickpea roots vary with cultivar (Cruz et al., 2012; Ellouze et al., 2012). Some investigators proposed that the effect of plant genotype can even override the effect of the fungal endophytes in influencing the outcome of the symbiosis (Cheplick, 2008). The cultivars of crop plants may differ in architectural features such as length and abundance of roots which can influence the uptake of soil nutrients and the formation and function of root symbioses (Baon et al., 1994; Römer et al., 1988). Comparison of the responsiveness of tomato cultivars to mycorrhiza formation revealed that the cultivars with good ability to extract soil P are less responsive to the AM symbiosis (Bryla and Koide, 1998). The formation and function of the symbiosis is a dynamic process that can be influenced by the microbial communities associated with roots. Fungal endophytes were reported to interact with AM fungi and modify the level of AM fungal colonization of roots and the efficacy of the symbiosis (Muller, 2003; Novas et al., 2009). The outcome of a symbiosis between roots and soil fungi is the result of the interaction of the host plant with all the fungal species colonizing its roots (Mandyam et al., 2012). An effect of plant genetics on the interaction between endophytic and mycorrhizal species in a symbiosis is expected, but has yet to be explored.

Chickpea is a high value crop used in wheat-based cropping systems of the semiarid prairie of Canada. Genotypes of chickpea were recently reported to produce different arrays of bioactive phytochemicals within roots and selectively promote microbial communities in the rhizosphere (Ellouze et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2012). The selection of genotypes of chickpea that form efficient symbiosis with native AM fungi and other fungal endophytes could improve the fitness of chickpea crops in a given environment and enhance the performance of a cropping system. Genotypic variation is a necessary condition for effective genetic selection.

This study was conducted to test the hypothesis that there is genotypic variation in the response of chickpea to mycorrhiza and fungal endophytes. I also hypothesized that the colonization of roots by non-AM fungal endophytes influences the formation and function of the AM symbiosis differently in different genotypes of chickpea. These hypotheses were tested in a greenhouse experiment.

# **3.4 Material and Methods**

## **3.4.1 Experimental design**

A greenhouse experiment was conducted to detect possible variation in the response of

cultivars of chickpea to inoculation with AM fungi and non-AM fungal endophytes. Thirteen cultivars of chickpea representing the mapping populations of chickpea were selected (Table 2.1 and Fig. A.1). The chickpea cultivars were subjected to one of four inoculation treatments: inoculation with (1) AM fungi (2) non-AM fungal endophytes (3) mixture of AM and non-AM fungal endophytes and (4) a mock inoculation control treatment. Pots were arranged in a randomized complete block design with four blocks in the greenhouse, and biomass production, N-fixation activity and nutrient concentrations in plant tissues measured.

# 3.4.2 Source of AM fungi and non-AM fungal endophytes

Spores of *Diversispora eburnea* (3244B), *Claroideoglomus etunicatum* (2639A), and *Glomus* sp (4350D) isolated from cultivated soils of the province of Saskatchewan, Canada were used in this study. Isolates of the non-AM fungal endophytes *Trichoderma harzianum* (P134 D1 11) and *Mortierella alpina* (P156 D2 50), also from Saskatchewan, were selected because of their positive effect on the growth of chickpea (Chapter 2). All these isolates belong to the collection of the Soil Microbiology Laboratory of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre, Swift Current, SK.

## **3.4.3 Preparation of AM fungal inoculants**

The AM fungal isolates were propagated on maize (*Zea mays* L.) in 16-L pots containing calcined clay (Montmorillonite, Pro'schoice Sports Field Products, Chicago, Illinois) for 90 days. Maize seeds were surface sterilized by successive immersion in 95% ethanol for 30 s, sterile distilled water for 30 s, 2.5% Javex solution (sodium hypochlorite) for 2 min, and sterile distilled water for 2 min and germinated on moist filter paper in Petri dishes prior to use. The seedlings were inoculated with 100 spores of *D. eburnea*, *C. etunicatum*, and

Glomus sp. Each species was propagated in three pots and in total nine pots were kept under 16/8 h day/night conditions at  $24/16^{\circ}$ C in the greenhouse. Supplemental lighting was provided during daytime using high intensity discharge lamps (Alto 400 watt low pressure sodium, Philips, Somerset, NJ). Plants were watered with distilled water as needed and fertilized with a modified Long Ashton nutrient solution containing (in mg  $L^{-1}$ ) 554 KCl, 200 NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>•H<sub>2</sub>O, 244 MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 520 CaC<sub>12</sub>•H<sub>2</sub>O, 1.7 MnSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.25 CuSO<sub>4</sub>•5H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.30 ZnSO<sub>4</sub>•7H<sub>2</sub>O, 3.0 H<sub>3</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, 5.0 NaCl, 0.09 (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>6</sub> Mo<sub>7</sub>O<sub>24</sub>•4H<sub>2</sub>O and 32.9 NaFe-EDTA. Plants were harvested 12 wk after emergence and their roots were collected and cut into 1-cm fragments. The root fragments and growth medium of each AM fungal culture was pooled and hand mixed. The AM fungal spores were extracted from three representative samples of each AM fungal culture by the sucrose centrifugation and flotation method (Walker et al., 1982), collected on a 125 µm sieve, and counted using a compound microscope. Specific amounts of each mixture that contained approximately 50 spores were used as AM fungal inoculants. Thus, the AM fungal inoculant used in this study consisted of a mixture of root fragments and growth substrates containing approximately 150 spores of three AM fungal species.

# **3.4.4 Preparation of non-AM fungal inoculants**

*Trichoderma harzianum* and *M. alpina* were propagated in half-strength potato dextrose broth. The cultures were grown for 36 h on a Thermolyne Big Bill orbital shaker at 80 rpm. The liquid culture of each fungal endophyte was filtered under sterile conditions and 2 g of each species were mixed with 1L of sterile distilled water on a magnetic stirring plate and immediately used to inoculate the designated chickpea plants.
#### 3.4.5 Pot establishment and growing conditions of experimental plants

Cultivars of chickpea were grown in 4-L pots containing pasteurized soil (90°C, 1 h) (Table 3.1). Seeds were surface sterilized as described in section 3.4.3. The seeds were germinated on a moist sterile filter paper in Petri dishes at 25°C for 72 h in the dark. Pots were planted with seven germinated seeds. The germinated seeds and planting holes were treated with 1.5 g of a peat-based *Mesorhizobium ciceri* inoculant (Nitragin Nitrastick GC®, Nitragin Inc., Brookfield, WI). Designated plants were inoculated with the AM fungal inoculant which was mixed with soil in the rooting zone, or with 2 mL of the liquid culture of the non-AM fungal endophyte using a pipette. Dual-inoculated plants were treated with both AM and non-AM fungi, as described above. The control (mock inoculated) plants were treated with autoclaved inoculants of both AM and non-AM fungi. Plants were kept under 16/8 h day/night photoperiod at 24/16°C in the greenhouse. Supplemental light was applied during the daytime using high intensity discharge lamps (Alto 400 watt low pressure sodium, Philips, Somerset, NJ). Plants were similarly watered with distilled water, and fertilized with a modified Long Ashton nutrient solution (100 mL per week), as described in section 3.4.3.

#### **3.4.6 Data collection**

Plant shoots were cut at ground level after 90 days. Roots were collected, washed, cut in 4-cm fragments and mixed. A sub-sample of roots was cleared in 10% KOH and stained in 5% Schaeffer black ink in vinegar (Vierheilig et al., 1998) for the assessment of fungal colonization using the gridline intercept method (Giovannetti and Mosse, 1980). Assessment of root colonization level was conducted at 400X magnification under a compound microscope. AM and non-AM fungal hyphae were distinguished based on their

morphological features. AM fungal hypha were non-septate and contained vesicles or arbuscules whereas the non-AM fungal hypha were septate and not associated with vesicular and arbuscular structures. Plant shoots were dried at 65°C, weighed and ground. Subsamples of ground tissues were digested in H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>/Se/Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (Varley, 1966). The digests were analyzed for N (Noel and Hambleton, 1976) and P (Milbury et al., 1970) concentrations on a segmented flow auto-analyzer (Technicon, AAII System, Tarrytown, NY) and for K concentration by atomic absorption spectrometry (Anonymous, 1987). Another series of subsamples were digested with HClO<sub>4</sub>/HNO<sub>3</sub> (Jones, 1991) and analyzed for Fe, Mg, Zn and Mn content, using atomic absorption spectrometry (Anonymous, 1987) at the Analytical Chemistry Laboratory of the Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre in Swift Current, SK. To evaluate the biological nitrogen fixation activity, a third series of ground plant subsamples was further pulverized using a bead-miller (Retsch, MM301) and analyzed for the abundance of isotopic N ( $\delta^{15}$ N) on a mass spectrometer (V.G. Isotech, Aston Way, Middlewich, Cheshire, CW10 OHT, United Kingdom) at the Isotope Laboratory of the Lethbridge Research Centre, in Lethbridge, AB.

#### **3.4.7 Statistical analysis**

The data collected in this study was tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk's test and non-normal data was transformed before analysis. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to test the significance of the effects of cultivar, inoculation and the interaction of these factors on plant biomass, nutrient concentrations in plant tissues, N-fixation and level of root colonization, at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . The Tukey-Kramer HSD post hoc test was used for comparison of treatment means.

experiment.												
Texture	TT <sup>‡</sup>	EC	NH <sub>4</sub> -N	NO3-N	PO4-P	4-P K		Total N				
	рн	(mS)	(mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	( <b>mg kg</b> <sup>-1</sup> )	(g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(g kg <sup>-1</sup> )				
Loamy Sand	6.48	0.48	19.72	14.13	21.92	357	0.57	0.08				

Table 3.1 Physical and chemical characteristics of the soil<sup>†</sup> used in the greenhouse experiment.

<sup>†</sup> Soil was collected from Bulin farm, located at 25 km North West of Swift current, SK (Range 15, Township 16, and Southwest quarter of section 17). <sup>‡</sup>1:1 soil: water <sup>§</sup> Organic carbon

Correlation analysis was made between plant performance indicators. These analyses were performed using the package agricolae (de Mendiburu, 2010) in R V.2.15.2. The patterns of response to the different inoculation treatments of the chickpea cultivars were compared using multi response permutation procedure (MRPP) with pairwise comparisons in PC-ORD 4.3.4. A principle component analysis (PCA) plot was computed with PC-ORD (V. 4.34) to illustrate the similarities and differences in the response patterns of the cultivars.

#### **3.5 Results**

## 3.5.1 Effects of cultivar and inoculation on the performance indicators of chickpea

Cultivar of chickpea and the fungal treatments applied significantly influenced plant biomass,  $\delta^{15}$ N, root colonization level, and N, P and Mg concentrations in plant tissues (Table 3.2). Only the concentrations of K, Fe, Zn and Mn in plant shoots were unaffected by the treatments. Significant interactions between cultivar and fungi for all of the variables that were influenced by the treatments applied clearly demonstrated that chickpea cultivars respond differently to the AM and non-AM fungal associations.

The roots of inoculated plants were colonized, as expected. Inoculation with AM fungi increased the biomass and nutrient content of all cultivars of chickpea (Table 3.3 and 3.4). The non-AM fungal endophytes only influenced the biomass of mycorrhizal Amit, CDC Anna and CDC Vanguard. The non-AM fungal endophytes increased plant biomass in mycorrhizal CDC Anna, but reduced that of mycorrhizal Amit and CDC Vanguard compared with control (Fig. 3.1). This reduction of plant biomass by the endophyte in mycorrhizal Amit and CDC Vanguard was correlated with reduced N-fixation (p < 0.001).

**Table 3.2.** The effects of chickpea cultivar<sup>†</sup>, fungal inoculation<sup>‡</sup>, and the interaction of these factors on plant biomass,  $\delta^{15}$ N, root colonization level and concentrations of N, P, K, Mg, Fe, Mn and Zn in plant tissues (*n* = 4).

Source	Biomass	$\delta^{15}N$	Colonization	Р	Ν	K	Mg	Fe	Mn	Zn
Fungi	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	0.001*	0.85	0.01*	0.22	0.10	0.57
Cultivar	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	< 0.009**	0.18	< 0.001***	0.51	0.13	0.44
Fungi*Cultivar	< 0.001***	0.003**	< 0.001***	0.02*	0.002**	0.45	< 0.001***	0.56	0.15	0.33

\*Significant at  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*Significant at  $p \le 0.01$ , \*\*\*Significant at  $p \le 0.001$ 

<sup>†</sup>Cultivars tested are Amit, CDC Alma, CDC Anna, CDC Cabri, CDC Corrine, CDC Cory, CDC Frontier, CDC Leader, CDC Luna, CDC Nika, CDC Orion, CDC Vanguard and CDC Xena

<sup>‡</sup>Inoculation treatments: (1) Arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi (*Diversispora eburnea, Claroideoglomus etunicatum* and *Glomus* sp) (2) Non-AM fungal endophytes (*Trichoderma harzianum* and *Mortierella alpina*) and (3) a mixture of AM fungi and Non-AM fungal endophytes and mock inoculant as control.

59

	T	Cultiva	Cultivar											
	Inoculation	$\mathrm{Am}^\dagger$	Al	An	Ca	Cr	Co	Fr	Le	Lu	Ni	Or	Va	Xe
Biomass (g)	С	3.0b	2.7b	3.1c	2.8b	2.7c	2.2b	3.8b	3.9c	2.7b	4.7b	3.1b	2.8b	3.1b
	E	3.7b	3.2b	3.5c	3.0b	3.0c	2.8b	4.4b	4.5b	3.2b	5.1b	3.2b	3.2b	3.2b
	А	4.7a	3.9a	4.4b	3.8a	3.6b	3.3ab	5.7a	5.2a	3.9a	5.9a	4.0a	4.8a	3.9a
	AE	3.4b	3.9a	5.6a	3.8a	4.7a	4.3a	5.6a	5.1a	3.9a	5.8a	3.9a	3.3b	4.1a
	С	1361c	1542a	1587a	1649b	1418c	1745a	1696ab	1520b	1383a	1849a	1357c	1624ab	1456a
$\delta^{15}N$	E	1596ab	1623a	1372a	1773a	1649b	1544a	1656b	1564b	1639a	1532b	1634b	1424b	1476a
	А	1851a	1712a	1655a	1965a	1937a	1827a	1790a	1525b	1661a	1573b	1672ab	1650a	1570a
	AE	1660ab	1770a	1593a	1652b	1875ab	1835a	1793a	1845a	1550a	1903a	1821a	1812a	1606a

**Table 3.3.** Biomass production and  $\delta^{15}$ N in chickpea cultivars<sup>†</sup> inoculated with mock inoculant (C), AM fungi<sup>‡</sup> (A), non-AM fungal endophytes<sup>§</sup> (E), and a mixture of AM and non-AM fungal endophytes (AE) in the greenhouse.

60

Data is presented as means (n = 4). Means within a single sub-column followed by a different letter are significantly different at  $p \le 0.05$ . <sup>†</sup>Cultivars tested are Am = Amit, Al = CDC Alma, An = CDC Anna, Ca = CDC Cabri, Cr = CDC Corrine, Co = CDC Cory, Fr = CDC <sup>†</sup>rontier, Le = CDC Leader, Lu = CDC Luna, Ni = CDC Nika, Or = CDC Orion, Va = CDC Vanguard, Xe = CDC Xena.

<sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal: *Diversispora eburnea, Claroideoglomus etunicatum* and *Glomus* sp

<sup>§</sup>Trichoderma harzianum and Mortierella alpina

**Table 3.4.** Level of root colonization and concentrations of P, N and Mg in the shoots of chickpea cultivars<sup>†</sup> inoculated with mock inoculant (C),  $AM^{\ddagger}$  fungi (A), non-AM fungal endophytes<sup>§</sup> (E), and both the AM and non-AM fungal endophytes (AE) in the greenhouse.

		Cultiv	ltivar											
	Inoculation	$\mathrm{Am}^\dagger$	Al	An	Ca	Cr	Co	Fr	Le	Lu	Ni	Or	Va	Xe
	С	2.6ab	2.4b	2.4b	2.4a	2.0b	2.4a	2.9a	2.6a	2.4b	2.1ab	2.2ab	2.4a	2.0a
$\mathbf{D}$ ( $-\mathbf{L}$ -1)	Е	2.3b	2.4b	2.6ab	2.4a	2.6a	1.9b	2.3ab	2.5ab	2.5ab	2.0b	2.1b	2.2ab	2.0a
P(gKg)	А	2.6ab	3.1a	3.0a	2.1b	2.6a	2.0ab	2.2b	2.2b	2.8a	2.4a	2.4a	2.1a	2.1a
	AE	3.0a	2.7ab	2.3b	2.2ab	2.4a	2.4a	2.4ab	2.3ab	2.4b	2.1ab	2.2ab	2.3ab	2.2a
N ( g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	С	47.1a	44.6a	48.3ab	41.1a	43a	46.7a	52.3a	45.7a	41.1b	42.2a	41a	44.2a	44.4a
	Е	41.7a	45.7a	44.5b	41.0a	43.1a	39.3b	44.1b	42.9a	41.9b	44.2a	41a	44.8a	45.0a
	А	47.2a	47.9a	56.1a	43.1a	53.5a	41.5ab	46.3ab	41.3a	51.6a	46.7a	42a	45.1a	45.4a
	AE	44.8a	46.9a	46.6ab	43.3a	45.2a	43.2ab	47.3ab	45.5a	43.2ab	46.6a	44.7a	42.9a	44.1a
	С	5.3b	4.9b	5.1b	4.4b	4.56c	4.5b	4.8a	5.69b	4.8b	4.4b	4.8a	5.1ab	4.8a
M = ( = 1 = -1)	Е	5.4ab	5.3ab	5.3b	5.2ab	5.0bc	4.6b	5.0a	5.2b	5.4ab	4.5ab	5.0a	5.2ab	5.2a
Mg (g kg )	А	5.8ab	5.8a	6.3a	5.4a	5.5ab	5.9a	5.2a	6.3a	6.0a	5.3a	5.1a	5.6a	5.3a
	AE	6.4a	5.7a	5.1b	5.5a	5.8a	6.0a	5.1a	6.0a	5.5ab	5.2a	5.1a	4.7b	5.9a
	С	0c	0b	0d	0c	0d	0d	0c	0c	0c	0c	0c	0c	0c
Colonization (%)	Е	8b	9a	8c	6b	7c	8c	13b	11b	8b	6b	8b	7b	7b
	А	13a	11a	14b	11a	14b	14b	15ab	12b	13a	12a	14a	14a	11a
	AE	14a	12a	23a	15a	24a	22a	19a	15a	15a	14a	17a	13ab	12a

Data is presented as means (n = 4). Means within a single sub-column followed by different letter are significantly different at  $p \le 0.05$ . <sup>†</sup>Cultivars tested are Am = Amit, Al = CDC Alma, An = CDC Anna, Ca = CDC Cabri, Cr = CDC Corrine, Co = CDC Cory, Fr = CDC Frontier, Le = CDC Leader, Lu = CDC Luna, Ni = CDC Nika, Or = CDC Orion, Va = CDC Vanguard, Xe = CDC Xena.

<sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal: *Diversispora eburnea, Claroideoglomus etunicatum* and *Glomus* sp.

<sup>§</sup>Trichoderma harzianum and Mortierella alpina



**Fungal treatment** 

**Fig. 3.1.** Typical patterns of the biomass productions of chickpea cultivars inoculated with mock inoculant (C), non-arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungal endophytes (E), AM fungi (A) and a mixture of AM and non-AM fungal endophytes (AE). Data is presented as means (n = 4). Bars with different letters are significantly different ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ). Non-AM fungal endophytes used for inoculation were *Trichoderma harzianum and Mortierella alpina* and AM fungi were *Diversispora eburnea, Claroideoglomus etunicatum* and *Glomus sp.* 

The non-AM fungal endophytes reduced the concentration of P in mycorrhizal CDC Anna and CDC Luna (Table 3.4). The non-AM fungal endophytes reduced the concentration of Mg in mycorrhizal CDC Anna and CDC Vanguard compared with control but had no effect on the concentration of N in plant tissue (Table 3.4). The simultaneous reduction of P and Mg concentration and increase in plant biomass in these chickpea cultivars are consistent with a model of nutrient dilution in greater biomasses. The level of root colonization was higher in dual inoculated plants than in AM inoculated plants in CDC Anna, CDC Corrine, CDC Cory and CDC Leader (Table 3.4).

#### **3.5.2** Response patterns of chickpea cultivars representing the mapping population

Multi response permutation procedure (MRPP) revealed that there is a significant difference in the pattern of response of cultivars of chickpea to inoculation treatments (p < 0.0001). Pairwise comparisons demonstrated the differences in the overall response of each cultivar to inoculation with AM fungi, non-AM fungal endophytes and dual inoculation (Table 3.5). Furthermore, Principle component analysis (PCA) illustrates that some chickpea cultivars have different patterns of responsiveness to the root-associated community fungal symbionts. For instance, CDC Cory and CDC Vanguard were more responsive to single inoculation of AM fungi (Fig. 3.2), whereas CDC Frontier was more responsive to single inoculation of fungal endophyte (Fig. 3.3) and, CDC Cory and CDC Anna were more responsive to dual inoculation of AM fungi and non-AM fungal endophytes (Fig. 3.4).

**Table 3.5.** Pairwise comparisons of the response† patterns of chickpea cultivars to inoculations with  $AM^{\ddagger}$  fungi, non-AM fungal endophytes<sup>§</sup>, and AM and non-AM fungal endophytes.

Cultivar		Cultivar	p value	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Anna	0.04*	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Nika	0.03*	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Xena	0.02*	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Vanguard	0.03*	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Cabri	0.03*	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Corrine	0.04*	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Cory	0.30	
CDC Frontier	VS	Amit	0.03*	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Alma	0.05*	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Luna	0.03*	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Orion	0.04*	
CDC Frontier	VS	CDC Leader	0.03*	
CDC Anna	VS	CDC Nika	0.03*	
CDC Anna	VS	CDC Xena	0.04*	
CDC Anna	VS	CDC Vanguard	0.05*	
CDC Anna	VS	CDC Cabri	0.04*	
CDC Anna	VS	CDC Corrine	0.03*	
CDC Anna	VS	CDC Cory	0.07	
CDC Anna	VS	Amit	0.08	
CDC Anna	VS	CDC Alma	0.07	
CDC Anna	VS	CDC Luna	0.03*	
CDC Anna	VS	CDC Orion	0.03*	
CDC Anna	VS	CDC Leader	0.03*	
CDC Nika	VS	CDC Xena	0.14	
CDC Nika	VS	CDC Vanguard	0.06	
CDC Nika	VS	CDC Cabri	0.83	
CDC Nika	VS	CDC Corrine	0.02*	
CDC Nika	VS	CDC Cory	0.11	
CDC Nika	VS	Amit	0.05*	
CDC Nika	VS	CDC Alma	0.46	
CDC Nika	VS	CDC Luna	0.25	
CDC Nika	VS	CDC Orion	0.10	
CDC Nika	VS	CDC Leader	0.19	
CDC Xena	VS	CDC Vanguard	0.03*	
CDC Xena	VS	CDC Cabri	0.40	
CDC Xena	VS	CDC Corrine	0.03*	
CDC Xena	VS	CDC Cory	0.03*	
CDC Xena	VS	Amit	0.10	
CDC Xena	VS	CDC Alma	0.05*	
CDC Xena	VS	CDC Luna	0.02*	
CDC Xena	VS	CDC Orion	0.04*	

Cultivar		Cultivar	<i>p</i> - value
CDC Xena	VS	CDC Leader	0.04*
CDC Vanguard	VS	CDC Cabri	0.05 *
CDC Vanguard	VS	CDC Corrine	0.03*
CDC Vanguard	VS	CDC Cory	0.04*
CDC Vanguard	VS	Amit	0.07
CDC Vanguard	VS	CDC Alma	0.06
CDC Vanguard	VS	CDC Luna	0.02*
CDC Vanguard	VS	CDC Orion	0.10
CDC Vanguard	VS	CDC Leader	0.03*
CDC Cabri	VS	CDC Corrine	0.03*
CDC Cabri	VS	CDC Cory	0.03*
CDC Cabri	VS	Amit	0.12
CDC Cabri	VS	CDC Alma	0.24
CDC Cabri	VS	CDC Luna	0.03*
CDC Cabri	VS	CDC Orion	0.38
CDC Cabri	VS	CDC Leader	0.24
CDC Corrine	VS	CDC Cory	0.17
CDC Corrine	VS	Amit	0.05*
CDC Corrine	VS	CDC Alma	0.04*
CDC Corrine	VS	CDC Luna	0.04*
CDC Corrine	VS	CDC Orion	0.03*
CDC Corrine	VS	CDC Leader	0.03*
CDC Cory	VS	Amit	0.16
CDC Cory	VS	CDC Alma	0.09
CDC Cory	VS	CDC Luna	0.08
CDC Cory	VS	CDC Orion	0.03*
CDC Cory	VS	CDC Leader	0.04*
Amit	VS	CDC Alma	0.19
Amit	VS	CDC Luna	0.15
Amit	VS	CDC Orion	0.02*
Amit	VS	CDC Leader	0.07
CDC Alma	VS	CDC Luna	0.54
CDC Alma	VS	CDC Orion	0.07
CDC Alma	VS	CDC Leader	0.28
CDC Luna	VS	CDC Orion	0.07
CDC Luna	VS	CDC Leader	0.03*
CDC Orion	VS	CDC Leader	0.04*

 Table 3.5 (continued)

\*Significant at  $p \le 0.05$  according to Multi-response Permutation Procedures (MRPP) <sup>†</sup>Response variables include biomass, N-fixation, root colonization level and concentrations of N, P and Mg in the shoot tissues.

<sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal: Diversispora eburnea, Claroideoglomus etunicatum & Glomus sp. <sup>§</sup>Trichoderma harzianum and Mortierella alpina



PCA 1 = 26%

**Fig. 3.2.** Biplot of the principal component analysis of the response of chickpea cultivars to inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi. The pattern of response considers the response of biomass,  $\delta^{15}N$ , root colonization and concentrations of N, P and Mg in plant tissues (n = 4). AM fungal species used, include *Diversispora eburnea, Claroideoglomus etunicatum* and *Glomus sp.* 



PCA 1 = 31%

**Fig. 3.3.** Biplot of a principal component analysis of the response of chickpea cultivars to inoculation with non-arbuscular mycorrhizal (non-AM) fungal endophytes. The response considers the response of biomass,  $\delta^{15}$ N, root colonization and concentrations of N, P and Mg in plant tissues (n = 4). Non-AM fungal species used include *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Mortierella alpina*.



**PCA 1 = 31%** 

**Fig. 3.4.** Biplot of a principal component analysis of the response of chickpea cultivars to inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) and non-AM fungal endophytes. The response considers the response of biomass,  $\delta^{15}$ N, root colonization and concentrations of N, P and Mg in plant tissues (n = 4). AM fungal species used, include *Diversispora eburnea*, *Claroideoglomus etunicatum* and *Glomus sp.* Non-AM fungal species used, include *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Mortierella alpina*.

#### **3.6 Discussion**

#### **3.6.1** Genetic variation in plant response to symbioses

Numerous reports indicate that the effectiveness of the AM symbiosis depends on the genotype of the host plant (Krishna et al., 1985; Linderman and Davis, 2004). Our findings, like those of others, show that there is significant variation in responsiveness of genotypes of chickpea to AM and non-AM fungal endophytes, supporting the possibility to select genotypes that form more efficient associations with naturally occurring soil fungi. A conclusive explanation for the basis of this variation is beyond the scope of this work. However, intraspecific variations in symbiosis-specific genes and genes regulating the physiology and morphology of the host plant could interact and result in a certain level of response (Balestrini and Lanfranco, 2006; Estaun et al., 1987; Linderman and Davis, 2004).

I found that, at least in terms of biomass, desi chickpeas in particular CDC Corrine, CDC Cory and CDC Anna, were more responsive than other cultivars to fungal symbioses suggesting that a type-specific feature of chickpea is involved in or linked to the formation of efficient fungal associations. Genetic variations in the responsiveness of chickpea could result from variations in the ratio of the costs to benefits derived from the symbiosis. The fungi living in the root endosphere are thought to rely on photosynthate to fulfill their needs for C and energy. The cost of maintaining the mycorrhizal association sometimes offsets the nutritional benefits obtained by the host plant. Genetic selections conducted in fertile soils might have inadvertently selected varieties with less capacity to positively respond to mycorrhizal symbiosis (Koide and Elliott, 1989; Olsson et al., 2010). It is notable that kabuli chickpeas were derived from desi chickpeas through selections (Moreno and Cubero, 1978;

Singh, 1997). The selection for high-yielding varieties, which takes place on fertile substrates, might lead to the loss of genes and phytochemicals or other features that are necessary for the formation of efficient symbioses. Moreover, selections for disease resistance could also select for resistance against symbioses due to common pathways in regulation of symbiosis and disease resistance (Toth et al., 1990). Hence, breeding programs targeting high yield and disease resistance could have selected kabuli chickpeas responding poorly to fungal symbiosis.

The inherent ability of chickpea genotypes to acquire nutrients, particularly P, could be related to responsiveness to the AM symbiosis. Bryla and Koide (1998) showed that the ability of plants to acquire and efficiently use P determines the level of their responsiveness to mycorrhizal symbiosis, so that only cultivars with low P uptake capability are likely to respond positively to AM fungi. It was observed P fertilization had no effect on the seed yield of kabuli chickpea, but improved the seed yield of desi chickpea (Walley et al., 2005). The lack of response of kabuli chickpea to P fertilization suggests that kabuli chickpea plants are more capable of taking up P at normal P levels than desi chickpeas. Thus, kabuli chickpeas may respond poorly to mycorrhizal symbiosis. This study indicates that among kabuli cultivars CDC Frontier was more responsive than others. In fact CDC Frontier could benefit from mycorrhizae, but also it might have lost the ability to effectively regulate the cooccurrence of AM and non-AM fungal endophytes. In general, cultivars of chickpea responded positively to AM and non-AM fungal colonization. The increase of biomass production ranged from 1 to 89%. This result contrasts with previous reports of response to AM symbiosis ranging from positive to negative in different genotypes of marigold (Linderman and Davis, 2004). Kaeppler et al. (2000) who worked on maize varieties observed positive responses to mycorrhizae ranging from 66 to 653% (Kaeppler et al., 2000). The present study clearly demonstrates that in addition to mycorrhizae, fungal endophytes that associate with roots can impact the outcome of the symbiosis. As reported by other studies, the single inoculation of chickpea with fungal endophytes generated an effect on growth that varied between neutral and positive (Mayerhofer et al., 2013). I conclude that non-AM fungi can interact with mycorrhiza and influence plant biomass production.

## 3.6.2 Response of chickpea to co-inoculation with AM and non-AM fungal endophytes

I found that non-AM fungal endophytes can interact with the formation and function of mycorrhizal symbiosis in chickpea while on the other hand, the interaction could be modified by the genotype of the plant. Recent studies show that fungal endophytes influence mycorrhizae along a continuum from synergism to antagonism depending on the host plant. *Trichoderma harzianum*, a common soil dweller that was also used in this study, increased the colonization of roots by *Glomus mosseae* (syn: *Funneliformis mosseae*) and plant growth in cucumber (Chandanie et al., 2009), but had no effect on melon (Martínez-Medina et al., 2011). *Trichoderma koningii* reduced the level of root colonization by *G. mosseae* and the biomass of maize and lettuce (McAllister et al., 1994).

Interactions between non-AM fungal and AM fungal endophytes occur through a combination of mechanisms including competition between extraradical mycelia for nutrients and colonization sites (Green et al., 1999; Pozo and Azcón-Aguilar, 2007), morphological and phytochemical changes in roots (Malinowski et al., 1999; Shoresh and Harman, 2008), and activation of plant defence systems (Yedidia et al., 2003). Fungal endophytes may

directly influence other fungal species by releasing various secondary metabolites (Miller et al., 2012; Sumarah et al., 2011; Vinale et al., 2008), altering the level of secondary metabolites inside the roots (Peipp et al., 1997) and by interacting with plant hormonal signalling and modifying the proteome and metabolism of the plant (Gravel et al., 2007; Harman et al., 2004; Shoresh et al., 2005; Vassilev et al., 2006). The co-inoculation of AM and non-AM endophytes has resulted in specific plant hormonal profiles that were different from those produced by single inoculation (Martínez-Medina et al., 2011). Trichoderma harzianum induces the systemic production of specific metabolites and antibiotics (Yedidia et al., 2003) including salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid (JA) that are involved in reactions against pathogens (Pieterse et al., 2003; Sticher et al., 1997). It was noted that the level of SA is lower in mycorrhizal responsive plants than in non-responsive plants (Blilou et al., 1999). In addition, the levels of SA and JA are lower in plants co-inoculated with T. harzianum and AM fungi than in plants only inoculated with T. harzianum (Martínez-Medina et al., 2011). As a requirement of the formation of mycorrhizal symbiosis, the reduction in plant SA and JA could be triggered by the AM fungi. The genetic capacity for the suppression of these defensive hormones by AM fungi, or for their stimulation by T. harzianum in particular genotypes of chickpea may be involved in the successful establishment and function of mycorrhizal symbiosis. On the other hand, changes in the level of phytohormones occurring by the interactions between AM fungi and fungal endophytes could influence plant physiology and biomass production.

Tucci et al. (2011) reported that the effects of *T. harzianum* on plant growth and response to pathogens depend on the genotype of tomato. In their study, *T. harzianum* triggered the SA

pathway only in responsive genotypes and further inoculation of a plant with the pathogen *Botrytis cinerea* triggered the JA pathway in a genotype dependent level. Since the production of JA and SA could control the colonization of roots by the AM fungi, genotypic variations in the inductions of these compounds by *T. harzianum* could influence root colonization and the outcome of the AM symbiosis (Tucci et al., 2011).

Here, for the first time I report that cultivars of chickpea respond differently to coinoculation with AM and non-AM fungal endophytes. The cultivars CDC Vanguard and Amit responded positively to AM fungi in the absence of non-AM fungal endophytes, but did not respond when they were also exposed to the non-AM fungal endophytes. In contrast fungal endophytes caused an additive positive response in CDC Corrine, CDC Cory and CDC Anna. This result shows a potential influence of ubiquitous endophytic fungi that are common residents of Saskatchewan chickpea-growing soils, on the formation and function of the AM symbiosis of chickpea. It is noteworthy that the differences in the response of chickpea cultivars to non-AM fungal endophytes were observed using only two fungal species. Since the roots of plants are exposed to a wide diversity of fungal speices in the field, more variations in the response of chickpea cultivars to AM symbiosis could be expected.

This study is a first step towards the elucidation of plant genetic factors that control the multipartite symbiosis formed in chickpea by AM and non-AM fungal endophytes that may lead to the development of chickpea cultivars forming beneficial associations with indigenous fungal resources. Resilient genotypes that benefit from mycorrhizae, but at the same time that are not mycorrhiza dependent, would effectively utilize soil resources for the production of high and stable yield.

# 4.0 MYCORRHIZA-INDUCED PHYTOCHEMICALS TO SUPPRESS FUNGAL ENDOPHYTES AND PATHOGENS

## 4.1 Preface

This chapter investigates the potential influence of the bioactive phytochemicals produced in mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal roots of chickpea on soil-borne fungal endophytes and pathogens.

#### 4.2 Abstract

Plant roots shape the soil microbiome by releasing a wide array of phytochemicals. Root metabolite production is a dynamic process modified by various symbiotic and pathogenic microorganisms. Chemical regulation of the soil microbial community by chickpea was explored. Proteins and low-molecular-mass phytochemicals were extracted from chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) roots colonized or not by the arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis*, fractionated by flash chromatography and high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC). The bioactivity of the fractions obtained was tested on the soil-borne fungal endophytes *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Geomyces vinaceus* and on the pathogens *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* sp. in multiwell plates. One protein fraction from the AM roots which seemingly contained a 34 KDa chitinase/chitin-binding domain and 24 KDa non-specific lipid transfer protein non-selectively repressed the endophytes and pathogens. Several bioactive fractions of low-molecular-mass phytochemicals were obtained.

By contrast to the protein fraction, the low-molecular-mass fractions were often selective. A few compounds stimulated specific fungal species but inhibited others. The different response of fungal species to the phytochemicals could be involved in the so called host 'preference' of fungal endophytes or 'resistance' to pathogens. Overall, the phytochemicals in AM root extracts were more suppressive than non-AM root extracts. These results support that the AM symbiosis stimulates the production of protein and low molecular weight compounds that suppress fungal endophytes and pathogens.

## **4.3. Introduction**

Plant roots release phytochemicals modifying the structure and function of the soil microbiome (Bakker et al., 2012; Hartmann et al., 2009). Root phytochemicals are a wide range of organic and inorganic substances that mediate the physical and chemical properties of the soil and influence microbial growth and development (Dakora and Phillips, 2002). Primary metabolites such as sugars and amino acids create nutritional niches for soil microorganisms and secondary metabolites act as tools to stimulate or inhibit the microorganisms (Badri et al., 2013; Collemare and Lebrun, 2011; Jones et al., 2004).

Numerous phytochemicals influence soil microbes. Certain flavonoids turn on the nod genes in rhizobia or trigger the germination of AM fungal spores, initiating symbioses (Fries et al., 1997; Gianinazzi-Pearson et al., 1989; Rengel, 2002). Strigolactones inhibit the fungal pathogens *Fusarium oxysporum* and *F. solani* and the volatile organic compounds (VOC) trans-2-hexenal and 1-hexanol suppress *F. graminearum* and *F. avenaceum* (Birkett et al., 2004; Cruz et al., 2012; Dor et al., 2011; Kretzschmar et al., 2012; Steinkellner et al., 2007). Tryptophan dimers stimulate the growth of AM fungal hyphae (Horii et al., 2009) whereas

hydrogen cyanide inhibits cellular respiration of herbivores and pathogens (Wittstock and Gershenzon, 2002).

Chemotaxonomic analysis provided evidence that taxonomically related plant groups often produce similar types of secondary metabolites (Wink et al., 2010). For instance, species of the genus Solanaceae mainly use sesquiterpenes, whereas legumes depend on isoflavonoids to resist pathogens (Bonanomi et al., 2009). However, several plant families produce various secondary metabolites and a number of phytochemicals can be found within plant groups that are unrelated in a taxonomic context (Hammerschmidt, 1999; Smith, 1996; Wink et al., 2010). Very similar compounds could exhibit inconsistent functions against microbial communities and even a particular substance may have variable impacts on related microbial groups (Badri et al., 2013; Bonanomi et al., 2009). Legumes roots select beneficial N<sub>2</sub>-fixing rhizobia through the release of canavanine, a non-protein amino acid (NPAA) that inhibits soil bacteria except rhizobia (Cai et al., 2009; Wink et al., 2010).

The pattern of plant secondary metabolite production can be altered by soil microorganisms (Badri et al., 2010; Nelson, 2004). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi are ubiquitous soil fungi that develop a mutualistic symbiosis with the majority of plant species. The AM symbiosis provides the host plants with improved nutrition, water use efficiency, health status, and tolerance to abiotic stresses such as drought and metal toxicity. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi play a central role in many ecological processes such as nutrient cycling, organic matter decomposition and weathering of minerals (Finlay, 2008). The AM symbiosis is initiated by a series of signaling events, followed by physiological and morphological changes in the root system, and further regulated to maintain the symbiotic nature of the

association. The regulation of AM symbiosis by host plants involves hormonal activities similar to those used for defense against phytopathogens. These interactions could influence secondary metabolism and the mechanisms through which plants influence the soil microbiome (Balestrini and Lanfranco, 2006; Cruz et al., 2008; Vierheilig et al., 2008).

Chickpea contributes soil N to cropping systems through biological N<sub>2</sub>-fixation. Although, it produces a high value yield, chickpea often leads to lower yield in the following wheat crop compared to pea and lentil (Miller et al., 2003). The poor rotation effect of chickpea could be partly attributed to its influence on the soil microbiome. In particular, chickpea roots could stimulate the endophytic and pathogenic fungal species that potentially impact biomass and yield in succeeding wheat crop. Several root rot pathogens such as *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* can infect chickpea, reducing yield and promoting the proliferation of these pathogens, but endophytes such as *Trichoderma* sp. can improve the biomass and yield of chickpea and other crops (Chaeichi and Edalati-Fard, 2006; Nene et al., 1991; Rudresh et al., 2005).

In this study, the mechanisms involved in the biochemical regulation of soil-borne fungal endophytes and pathogens by chickpea roots were explored. I hypothesized that the roots of chickpea contain biologically active proteins and low-molecular-mass phytochemicals that influence the growth of fungal endophytes and pathogens. Because the AM symbiosis may influence the production of bioactive phytochemicals, I examined phytochemical production in both AM and non-AM chickpea roots.

#### 4.4 Material and Methods

Low-molecular-mass and protein compounds were isolated from mycorrhizal and non-

mycorrhizal roots of CDC Anna chickpea and their effects on model soil-borne fungal endophytes and pathogens were tested *in vitro*. Some of the bioactive compounds were subsequently identified.

## **4.4.1 Plant growth conditions and collection of roots**

Mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal CDC Anna chickpea were grown in large flat containers  $(236 \text{ cm} \times 94 \text{ cm} \times 5 \text{ cm})$  containing a mixture of pasteurized sand and calcined clay (Pro's Choice Sports Field Products, Chicago, IL) (1:1, v:v). Two flats of mycorrhizal and two flats of non-mycorrhizal plants including 70 plants / flat were grown in the greenhouse. Seeds were inoculated with Mesorhizobium ciceri (Nitragin Nitrastick GC®, Nitragin Inc. Brookfield, WI). Mycorrhizal plants were inoculated with the AM fungus Rhizophagus intraradices syn. Glomus irregularis, which was added to the planting hole prior to seeding (Myke®, Premier Tech Biotechnologies, Rivière-du-Loup, QC). Plants were kept in the greenhouse under a photoperiod of 16 h d<sup>-1</sup> at 24/16°C day/night temperatures. Natural daylight was supplemented with high intensity discharge lamps (Alto 400 watt high pressure sodium, Philips, Somerset, NJ) during daytime. Plants were watered with distilled water as needed and fertilized with half strength Long Ashton nutrient solution containing (in mg  $L^{-1}$ ) 554 KCl, 200 NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>•H<sub>2</sub>O, 244 MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 520 CaC<sub>12</sub>•H<sub>2</sub>O, 1.7 MnSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.25 CuSO<sub>4</sub>•5H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.30 ZnSO<sub>4</sub>•7H<sub>2</sub>O, 3.0 H<sub>3</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, 5.0 NaCl, 0.09 (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>6</sub> Mo<sub>7</sub>O<sub>24</sub>•4H<sub>2</sub>O and 32.9 NaFe-EDTA (Hewitt, 1966). Plants were harvested 8 wk after emergence and the roots were collected, washed and stored at -20°C for a few days until extraction.

## **4.4.2 Preparation and fractionation of root homogenate**

Four hundred grams of roots from mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal plants were

separately immersed in 0.05M Tris-HCl-NaCl buffer, ground and filtered (5B filter paper Advantec, Tokyo). The residues were used for methanol (MeOH) extraction. The filtrate was subjected to flash chromatography with a diol column (50×200 mm, Chromatorex Diol-Fuji Silysia Chemical Ltd. Kasugai) to separate the high and low molecular weight compounds. The high-molecular-weight compounds were separated by elution of the column using 2 L of 0.05M Tris-HCl-NaCl buffer. The low-molecular-weight compounds were subsequently collected by elution of the column using 2 L of MeOH.

## 4.4.3 Extraction of root proteins

Root proteins were extracted from the high-molecular-weight fraction of the root homogenate using ammonium sulfate. The fraction was saturated with 35% ammonium sulfate and kept for 24 h in the refrigerator at 5°C. The ammonium sulfate concentration was increased to 95% and the solution kept at 5°C for another 24 h. The solution was centrifuged at 8000 g for 30 min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet collected and resuspended. Proteins were purified from the suspension using medium pressure liquid chromatograph (MPLC) equipped with a diol column (30×300 mm) (Chromatorex Diol-Fuji Silysia Chemical Ltd. Kasugai).

## 4.4.4 Methanol extraction of roots

The root residues were immersed in 1 L of 80% MeOH for 72 h at room temperature (Ishii et al., 1997), replacing the MeOH every 24 h. The MeOH extracts and low molecular weight fraction of the root homogenate were mixed. The mixture was concentrated using a rotary evaporator at 40°C and fractionated on an octa decyl silane (ODS) 45 x 400 mm column through successive elution with 0%, 10%, 25%, 50%, 75%, and 100% (v/v) MeOH solutions.

The eluted fractions were collected and separately concentrated using a rotary evaporator at  $40^{\circ}$ C and stored at  $4^{\circ}$ C.

## **4.4.5 HPLC fractionation of root proteins**

Protein extracts were fractionated on a diol column (Develosil 300 diol-5, 8×300 mm, Phenomenex, Torrence, CA) at 280 nm, first using a constant pH and then using a gradient pH. The mobile phase consisted of 0.2 M Tris-HCl and 0.2 M NaCl solution with a flow rate of 0.5 mL min<sup>-1</sup>. The protein extracts of the AM and non-AM roots were each separated into five fractions at the constant pH of 7.5 (Fig. 4.1), including the non-AM fractions corresponding to peaks of 1N, 2N, 3N, 4N, 5N, and the AM fractions corresponding to peaks of 1M, 2M, 3M, 4M and 5M. The fractions corresponding to peaks 2N, 3N, 2M and 3M were re-fractionated at a cycle of gradient pH (Figs. 4.2 and 4.3) and recovered. One cycle of the gradient pH dropped from 7.5 to 6 in 30 min and back to pH 7.5 in 30 min. The protein fractions were freeze-dried and stored at -20°C until use.

## 4.4.6 HPLC fractionation of MeOH extracts

The 25% methanol extracts were fractionated on an octa decyl silane (ODS) column at a flow rate of 2.5 mL min<sup>-1</sup> and absorbance of 254 nm and the fractions were recovered. The low-molecular-mass extract of mycorrhizal roots yielded 24 HPLC fractions and the extract of non-mycorrhizal roots yielded 22 fractions (Table 4.1).



Time (min)



Time (min)

**Fig. 4.1.** HPLC chromatograms of the fractionation of total proteins content of nonmycorrhizal (a) and mycorrhizal (b) roots of CDC Anna chickpea on a diol column (8×300 mm) at 280 nm and the constant pH of 7.5. Mycorrhizal roots were colonized by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices*.



Time (min)



Time (min)

**Fig. 4.2.** HPLC chromatograms of the fractionation of 2N and 2M protein fractions from nonmycorrhizal (a) and mycorrhizal (b) roots of CDC Anna chickpea on a diol column ( $8 \times 300$  mm) at 280 nm and the gradient pH of 6 to 7.5. Mycorrhizal roots were colonized by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices*.



Time (min)



Time (min)

**Fig. 4.3.** HPLC chromatogram of the fractionation of 3N and 3M protein fractions from nonmycorrhizal (a) and mycorrhizal (b) roots of CDC Anna chickpea on a diol column ( $8 \times 300$  mm) at 280 nm and the gradient pH of 6 to 7.5. Mycorrhizal roots were colonized by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices*.

of chickpea cultivar CDC Anna.		
Table 4.1. Overview of HPLC fractions of low-molecular-mass <sup>†</sup> and protei	ins compounds <sup>‡</sup> extract	ed from AM <sup>§</sup> and non-AM roots

Phytochemical	Extract	Separation pH	AM treatment	Number of fractions
Low molecular mass	25% MeOH	7.5	Non-AM	22
Low molecular mass	25% MeOH	7.5	AM	24
Protein	Total	7.5	Non-AM	5
Protein	Total	7.5	AM	5
Protein	2NC	6 - 7.5	Non-AM	7
Protein	2MC	6 - 7.5	AM	7
Protein	3NC	6 - 7.5	Non-AM	3
Protein	3MC	6 – 7.5	AM	6

<sup>†</sup>Fractionated on a octa decyl silane (ODS) column at 254 nm <sup>‡</sup>Fractionated on a diol column (8×300 mm) at 280 nm

<sup>§</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal (root) was colonized by *Glomus intraradices* 

## 4.4.7 Fungal growth bioassay

The influence of proteins and low-molecular-mass metabolites of chickpea roots on fungal endophytes were tested using Trichoderma harzianum and Geomyces vinaceus and on pathogens using Rhizoctonia sp. and Fusarium oxysporum as model fungi. The fractions were tested at three concentrations in 96-well multiwell plates. The experiment was arranged in a randomized complete block design with four replicates. The concentration of proteins in fractions was quantified using the Qubit® Protein Assay Kit in a Qubit® 2.0 Fluorometer (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). A 100 µg mL<sup>-1</sup> stock solution of each of the lyophilized protein fractions was prepared in 0.05M Tris-HCl buffer with a pH of 7.5. Dilutions of 5, 25 and 50  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup> were prepared and filter sterilized (MCE 0.2  $\mu$ M, Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA). Pure cultures of the four model fungi were grown on potato dextrose agar (PDA) medium for 4 d (Chet and Baker, 1980). Six plugs (5 mm diameter) of actively growing mycelia were transferred into sterile Erlenmeyer flasks containing 30 mL of sterile distilled water and mixed for 2 min using a sterile magnetic stirbar at the minimum speed. Each well of the microtitre plate was set up with 170  $\mu$ L of potato dextrose broth (PDB), 20  $\mu$ L of the mixture of mycelia and 10 µL of a protein fraction. The control treatment received sterilized fungal mycelia. The plates were shaken for 5 min and absorbance was read on a Bio-Tek microplate reader at 630 nm prior to incubation at 25°C in dark. Each plate represented an experimental block. The plates were randomized daily during the incubation time. Absorbance was measured at 630 nm daily after shaking the plate for 5 min until no change in absorbance was observed.

### 4.4.8 Gel electrophoresis

The protein fraction that was found bioactive through bioassays was further analyzed on SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis using a modified protocol described by Vujanovic et al. (2009). The freeze-dried proteins were re-suspended in the sample buffer (0.062 M Tris pH 6.8, 5% sodium dodecyl sulfate [SDS]), 10% glycerol, 0.05% bromophenol blue, and 10% β-mercaptoethanol) and separated on a 12% polyacrylamide gel on Bio-Rad Mini-Protean II apparatus at 150 V along with a standard protein marker (BIO-RAD Ltd. Mississauga, ON). The gels were silver-stained according to Shevchenko et al. (1996) and scanned using a 1200C Epson scanner (Epson, Tokyo). The gel image was digitalized using software TotalLab Quant V. 1.0.0.1 (TotalLab Limited, Newcastle, UK).

## 4.4.9 Mass spectrometry and identification of proteins

Protein bands were excised from the polyacrylamide gel, and digested with trypsin at the Advanced Analysis Centre (AAC) of the University of Guelph. Matrix assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight-tandem mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-TOF-MS/MS) acquisition was performed (Bienvenut et al., 2002). The raw mass spectrometry data were processed and converted into theoretical calculated masses and corresponding scored peptide sequences using the software PEAKS (Ma et al., 2003). The sequences were searched at NCBI, UniProtKB, and antimicrobial plant peptides PhytAMP databases to identify the proteins (Hammami et al., 2009).

#### 4.4.10 Statistical analysis

A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Dunnett's post hoc multiple-comparison test was performed in R version 2.14.1 (package multcomp) to assess the significance of the effect of protein and low-molecular-mass fractions on the growth of fungal mycelia, separately. A *p*-value of less than 0.05 was used as the threshold to reject the null hypothesis (Foit et al., 2010).

# 4.5 Results

## 4.5.1 Bioassay testing protein fractions

Only one protein fraction expressed bioactivity in the conditions of the bioassay (Table 4.2). This HPLC protein fraction 3 from mycorrhizal root extract (3M), inhibited the growth of all fungi tested at all three concentrations used (Fig. 4.4). In contrast, the HPLC protein fraction 3 from the non-mycorrhizal root extract 3N had no influence on fungal growth.

# 4.5.2 Gel electrophoresis and identification of proteins

Protein fraction 3 from mycorrhizal root extract 3M separated into four protein bands on the SDS-PAGE gel and only two bands were obtained from the same fraction of the nonmycorrhizal root extract 3N. Two up-regulated protein bands P1 and P2 were only detected in the mycorrhizal fraction (Fig. 4.5). These peptides were associated with chitinase/chitinbinding domain and non-specific lipid transfer proteins (Table 4.3).

Fungi	concentration (µg mL <sup>-1</sup> )	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7	Day 8	Day 9	Day 10
G. vinaceus	0	0.09	0.10	0.13	0.32	0.53	0.64	0.68	0.71	0.74	0.77
G. vinaceus	5	0.08	0.09	0.09	0.11	0.43	0.56**	0.65	0.71	0.72	0.74
G. vinaceus	25	0.08	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.32*	0.50**	0.54**	0.59***	0.61***	0.64***
G. vinaceus	50	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09**	0.17***	0.27**	0.47***	0.56***	0.59***
F. oxysporum	0	0.096	0.10	0.13	0.27	0.56	0.77	0.93	1.05	1.09	
F. oxysporum	5	0.09	0.10	0.08	0.10	0.21	0.46**	0.65	0.79	0.89	
F. oxysporum	25	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.17*	0.24**	0.42**	0.68***	0.76***	
F. oxysporum	50	0.10	0.09	0.10	0.10	0.10**	0.10***	0.15***	0.38***	0.48***	
T. harzianum	0	0.08	0.08	0.13	0.29	0.56	0.98	1.32	1.41		
T. harzianum	5	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.25	0.53	0.76**	0.93	1.00		
T. harzianum	25	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.23	0.44*	0.70**	0.82**	0.89***		
T. harzianum	50	0.08	0.08	0.10	0.13	0.30**	0.49***	0.59***	0.61***		
Rhizoctonia sp.	0	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.21	0.62	0.76	0.80		
Rhizoctonia sp.	5	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.10	0.19	0.50**	0.69	0.73		
Rhizoctonia sp.	25	0.08	0.09	0.09	0.10	0.12*	0.48**	0.52**	0.54***		
Rhizoctonia sp.	50	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.09	0.10**	0.13***	0.29***	0.33***		

**Table 4.2.** Time course of the effects of a bioactive protein fraction from mycorrhizal chickpea roots<sup>†</sup> on the growth of fungal endophytes<sup>‡</sup> and pathogens<sup>§</sup>, in 96-well plat assay

Data is presented as means (n = 4) of optical density at 630 nm. Significant differences between treatments and control (25% MeOH) were indicated by \*  $(p \le 0.05)$ , \*\*  $(p \le 0.01)$  and \*\*\*  $(p \le 0.001)$ . <sup>†</sup>The roots of cultivar CDC Anna was colonized by *Glomus intraradices* <sup>‡</sup>*Trichoderma harzianum* and *Geomyces vinaceus* 

<sup>§</sup>*Fusarium oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* sp



**Fig. 4.4.** The effect of bioactive protein fraction extracted from chickpea (Cultivar CDC Anna) roots colonized by *Glomus intraradices*, on the growth of fungal endophytes (*T. harzianum* and *G. vinaceus*) and pathogens (*F. oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* sp.) at different concentrations, *in vitro*.  $\bigcirc$  0 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>  $\blacktriangle$  5 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>  $\bigstar$  25 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>  $\bigstar$  50 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>. Fungal growth was measured by optical density at 630 nm. The protein fraction was isolated from total protein content of roots using HPLC equipped with diol column (8×300 mm) at 280 nm, at two stages first using a constant pH = 6 and then using a gradient pH between 6 and 7.5.



**Fig. 4.5.** SDS PAGE gel image of a protein fraction (3) extracted from arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) and non-AM roots of chickpea cultivar CDC Anna. The P1 and P2 protein bands were up-regulated in AM roots. The gel image was digitalized using software TotalLab Quant V. 1.0.0.1 (TotalLab Limited, Newcastle, UK). The AM roots were colonized by AM fungus *Glomus intraradices*. The protein fractions were isolated from total protein content of chickpea roots using HPLC equipped with diol column (8×300 mm) at 280 nm, at two stages first using a constant pH = 6 and then using a gradient pH between 6 and 7.5.
Protein Band	Identification	gi no.	Score (%)	Sequence
P1	Non-specific lipid transfer protein	122249428	69.79	YLTGGA
P1	Chitin-binding domain	117956268	68.8	GMCCSQFGY
P1	Chitinase	357454531	68.8	GMCCSQFGY
P2	Non-specific lipid transfer protein	67937775	71.79	GVSNLNSMAK

**Table 4.3.** Identity of the differentially expressed bands<sup>†</sup> in the bioactive<sup>‡</sup> proteins fraction (3M) extracted from  $AM^{\ddagger}$  roots of CDC Anna Chickpea

<sup>†</sup> Protein bands were sequenced using MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry <sup>‡</sup> inhibited fungal endophytes and pathogens <sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal roots, colonized by *Glomus intraradices* 

#### 4.5.3 Bioassay testing methanol fractions

Seven of the 25% MeOH-soluble HPLC fractions from mycorrhizal roots were bioactive, whereas 14 fractions of non-mycorrhizal roots extracts were bioactive (Table 4.4 and 4.5). The effect of these fractions varied with the concentration applied and the fungal species tested. Nineteen fractions stimulated the growth of the endophytes T. harzianum and G. vinaceus, and six fractions inhibited the pathogens Rhizoctonia sp. and F. oxysporum. One fraction also stimulated F. oxysporum. Thirty six percent of the MeOH-soluble HPLC fractions from the mycorrhizal root extract had growth-promoting effects when applied at a conducive concentration, while 13% were suppressive (Table 4.4). Fifty nine percent of the non-mycorrhizal fractions had promoting effects when applied at a conducive concentration whereas 14% were suppressive (Table 4.5). The MeOH soluble fractions had selective effects on the endophytes and pathogens. Among the fractions from the mycorrhizal root extract, four fractions had only growth-promoting effects, one fraction had suppressing effect, and two fractions were sometimes growth-promoting and sometimes growth-suppressing, depending on the fungal species. Among the fractions from non-mycorrhizal root extract, ten were growth-promoting, one was growth-supressing, and the effects of four fractions varied with fungal species T. harzianum and Rhizoctonia sp. were respectively promoted and suppressed by several fractions. The MeOH fractions of the AM roots had less growth promoting effects on fungal endophytes than the non-AM roots (Table 4.6).

Fungi	Fr.¶	Con. <sup>#</sup>	Effect	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7	Day 8	Day 9	<b>Day 10</b>
G. vinaceus	17	100%	Stim. ††	0.18	0.47	0.56	0.56*	0.64**	0.74**	0.77**	0.77**	0.79**	0.81**
Rhizoctonia sp.	8	100%	Sup. <sup>‡‡</sup>	0.08	0.08	0.10	0.17	0.47	0.57*	0.69*	-	-	-
Rhizoctonia sp.	10	100%	Sup.	0.08	0.09	0.15	0.24	0.46	0.55*	0.72*	-	-	-
Rhizoctonia sp.	13	100%	Sup.	0.08	0.08	0.11	0.24	0.52	0.63*	0.70*	-	-	-
T. harzianum	9	100%	Stim.	0.09	0.14	0.30	0.62*	0.96*	1.25*	1.36*	-	-	-
T. harzianum	10	66%	Stim.	0.10	0.15	0.30	0.66*	1.11*	1.26*	1.35*	-	-	-
T. harzianum	10	100%	Stim.	0.08	0.24	0.38	0.76*	1.06*	1.24*	1.38**	-	-	-
T. harzianum	13	100%	Stim.	0.08	0.15	0.34	0.73*	1.04*	1.22*	1.33*	-	-	-
T. harzianum	15	100%	Stim.	0.08	0.26	0.45	0.77*	1.11*	1.34*	1.36*	-	-	-
T. harzianum	21	100%	Stim.	0.08	0.17	0.34	0.78*	1.08*	1.23*	1.33*	-	-	-
F. oxysporum	13	100%	Sup.	0.08	0.11	0.71**	0.86***	0.89***	-	-	-	-	-

**Table 4.4.** Time course of the effects of low molecular mass phytochemicals (25% MeOH fractions) from mycorrhizal chickpea roots<sup>†</sup> on the growth of fungal endophytes<sup>‡</sup> and pathogens<sup>§</sup>, in 96-well plat assay

Data is presented as means (n = 4) of optical density at 630 nm. Significant differences between treatments and control (25% MeOH) were indicated by \* ( $p \le 0.05$ ), \*\* ( $p \le 0.01$ ) and \*\*\* ( $p \le 0.001$ ). Fractions with non-significant effect at \* ( $p \le 0.05$ ) were omitted from the table.

<sup>†</sup>The roots of cultivar CDC Anna was colonized by *Glomus intraradices* 

<sup>‡</sup>Trichoderma harzianum and Geomyces vinaceus

<sup>§</sup>Fusarium oxysporum and Rhizoctonia sp

<sup>¶</sup>Fraction

<sup>#</sup> Concentration

<sup>††</sup> Stimulation

<sup>‡‡</sup>Suppression

Fungi	Fr.	Con.#	Effect	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7	Day 8	Day 9	Day 10
G. vinaceus	9	33%	Stim. T	0.08	0.09	0.10	0.14	0.46	0.56	0.62	0.67	0.70*	0.72*
G. vinaceus	13	66%	Stim.	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.13	0.47	0.60*	0.65*	0.68***	0.70***	0.71***
G. vinaceus	14	100%	Stim.	0.08	0.09	0.09	0.13	0.52*	0.69***	0.76***	0.80***	0.82***	0.83***
G. vinaceus	21	100%	Stim.	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.15	0.41	0.57	0.65*	0.71**	0.75**	0.77**
Rhizoctonia	9	100%	Sup. II	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.09	0.20	0.43***	0.52***	0.54***	0.55***	-
Rhizoctonia	11	66%	Sup.	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.19	0.43***	0.54***	0.58***	0.58***	-
Rhizoctonia	21	66%	Sup.	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.19	0.41***	0.49***	0.51***	0.52***	-
T. harzianum	2	33%	Stim.	0.09	0.18	0.73	0.93	1.08	1.14***	1.18***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	4	100%	Stim.	0.08	0.18	0.84	0.96*	1.08**	1.16***	1.21***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	7	33%	Stim.	0.08	0.18	0.73	0.96	1.15	1.26***	1.28***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	7	100%	Stim.	0.08	0.15	0.64	0.76	0.88	0.97***	1.00***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	8	66%	Stim.	0.08	0.18	0.70	0.95	1.06	1.15***	1.19***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	9	33%	Stim.	0.08	0.19	0.75	1.00	1.17*	1.27***	1.31***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	9	66%	Stim.	0.08	0.18	0.72	0.93	1.05	1.14	1.17***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	10	66%	Stim.	0.08	0.17	0.66	0.91	1.04	1.14**	1.21***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	13	100%	Stim.	0.088	0.18	0.784	0.95	1.10*	1.21***	1.27***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	15	100%	Stim.	0.09	0.18	0.78	0.95	1.06	1.17***	1.22***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	17	66%	Stim.	0.08	0.18	0.64*	0.81*	0.93***	0.98***	1.00***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	18	33%	Stim.	0.08	0.17	0.74	0.94	1.04	1.12**	1.17***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	18	66%	Stim.	0.08	0.18	0.72	0.95	1.05	1.13**	1.17***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	18	100%	Stim.	0.08	0.18	0.75	0.99**	1.12***	1.21***	1.26***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	22	66%	Stim.	0.08	0.18	0.71	0.90	1.03	1.13***	1.20***	-	-	-
T. harzianum	22	100%	Stim.	0.08	0.18	0.73	0.92	1.09***	1.19***	1.26***	-	-	-
F. oxysporum	14	66%	Stim.	0.09	0.18	0.96*	1.39***	1.43***	-	-	-	-	-
F. oxysporum	17	100%	Sup.	0.08	0.12	0.58*	0.70***	0.83***	-	-	-	-	-

**Table 4.5.** Time course of the effects of low molecular mass phytochemicals (25% MeOH fractions) from non-mycorrhizal chickpea roots<sup>†</sup> on the growth of fungal endophytes<sup>‡</sup> and pathogens<sup>§</sup>, in 96-well plat assay

Data is presented as means (n = 4) of optical density at 630 nm. Significant differences between treatments and control (25% MeOH) were indicated by \* ( $p \le 0.05$ ), \*\* ( $p \le 0.01$ ) and \*\*\* ( $p \le 0.001$ ). Fractions with non-significant effect at \* ( $p \le 0.05$ ) were omitted from the table. <sup>†</sup>The roots of cultivar CDC Anna was colonized by *Glomus intraradices* 

<sup>‡</sup>Trichoderma harzianum and Geomyces vinaceus

<sup>§</sup>*Fusarium oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* sp

<sup>¶</sup>Fraction

<sup>#</sup> Concentration

<sup>††</sup> Stimulation

<sup>‡‡</sup>Suppression

<i>T</i> .	harzi	anun	n			<i>G</i> . <i>v</i>	inac	eus				Rhi	zocto	onia s	sp.			<i>F. a</i>	oxysp	orun	ı		
Con	cent	ratio	n (Eq	uival	ent to	) roo	t bio	mass	5)														
5mg	Г Э	10 ı	mg	15 ı	ng	5 n	ıg	10	mg	15 I	ng	5 n	ıg	10 ı	ng	15 n	ng	5 n	ng	10 ı	ng	15 ı	mg
N''	M	N	M	N	M	N	M	N	M	N	Μ	N	M	N	M	N	M	N	M	N	M	N	M
$+^{\ddagger}$																							
				+																			
+				+																			
		+															-						
+		+			+	+										-							
		+	+		+												-						
												- 1		-									
				+	+			+									-						-
										+										+			
				+	+																		
		+								+												-	
+		+		+							+												
		+		+	+																		
										+		- 1		-									
	T. I           Con           5mg           N <sup>TT</sup> + <sup>XX</sup> +           +           +	T. harzi       Concenti       Smg $N^{\dagger\dagger}$ $H^{\dagger}$ $+$ $+$ $+$	T. harzianun ConcentrationSmg10 mSmg10 m++++++++++++++++++	T. harzianumConcentration (Eq5mg10 mgN''MN $+^{\mp\mp}$ HHH $+^{\mp\mp}$ HHH $+$ HH	T. harzianumConcentration (EquivalSmg10 mg15 nSmg10 mg15 nN''MNM $+^{\mp\mp}$ ++	T. harzianum         Concentration (Equivalent to 5mg         5mg       10 mg       15 mg         N"       M       N       M       N         + <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       N       M         + <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       N       M         + <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       N       M         + <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       M       M       M         +       +       +       +       +       +       +         +       +       +       +       +       +       +         +       +       +       +       +       +       +         +       +       +       +       +       +       +       +         +	G. W         G. W         Concentration (Equivalent to room 5 mg)         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg         N <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       N       M       N $+^{\mp\mp}$	G. vinac         Concentration (Equivalent to root bio         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg         N <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       N       M       N       M       N       M $+^{\mp\mp}$	G. vinaceus         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         5mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         N <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       N       M       N       M       N $+^{\mp\mp}$	G. vinaceus         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         5mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         N'''       M       N       M	G. vinaceus         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg         N <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       M       M       M       M       M       M       M       M       M       M <td>G. vinaceus         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg         N<sup>TT</sup>       M       N       M<td><i>T. harzianumG. vinaceusRhi</i>Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)Smg10 mg15 mg5 mg10 mg15 mg5 ngSmg10 mg15 mg5 mg10 mg15 mg5 ng5 ngN<sup>TT</sup>MNMNMNMNMN<math>+^{37}</math>++++++++++++++++++++++-++</td><td>G. vinaceusRhizottaConcentration (Equivalent to root biomass)Smg10 mg15 mg5 mg10 mg15 mg5 mgN''MNMNMNMNMNM<math>+^{73}</math>++-++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++-++++++++++-++</td><td>G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia s         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         5mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         N<sup>TT</sup>       M       N</td><td>G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         N<sup>TT</sup>       M       N       M       M       M       M       M       M       M       N       M       N       M       N       M<td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       10 mg       11 mg</td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c </math></td><td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. o         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       6 mg       7 mg       7 mg</td><td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. oxysp         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       5 mg       6 mg       6</td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c </math></td><td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. oxysporum         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         <math>M^{T}</math>       M       N       M</td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c </math></td></td></td>	G. vinaceus         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg         N <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       M <td><i>T. harzianumG. vinaceusRhi</i>Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)Smg10 mg15 mg5 mg10 mg15 mg5 ngSmg10 mg15 mg5 mg10 mg15 mg5 ng5 ngN<sup>TT</sup>MNMNMNMNMN<math>+^{37}</math>++++++++++++++++++++++-++</td> <td>G. vinaceusRhizottaConcentration (Equivalent to root biomass)Smg10 mg15 mg5 mg10 mg15 mg5 mgN''MNMNMNMNMNM<math>+^{73}</math>++-++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++-++++++++++-++</td> <td>G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia s         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         5mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         N<sup>TT</sup>       M       N</td> <td>G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         N<sup>TT</sup>       M       N       M       M       M       M       M       M       M       N       M       N       M       N       M<td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       10 mg       11 mg</td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c </math></td><td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. o         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       6 mg       7 mg       7 mg</td><td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. oxysp         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       5 mg       6 mg       6</td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c </math></td><td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. oxysporum         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         <math>M^{T}</math>       M       N       M</td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c </math></td></td>	<i>T. harzianumG. vinaceusRhi</i> Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)Smg10 mg15 mg5 mg10 mg15 mg5 ngSmg10 mg15 mg5 mg10 mg15 mg5 ng5 ngN <sup>TT</sup> MNMNMNMNMN $+^{37}$ ++++++++++++++++++++++-++	G. vinaceusRhizottaConcentration (Equivalent to root biomass)Smg10 mg15 mg5 mg10 mg15 mg5 mgN''MNMNMNMNMNM $+^{73}$ ++-++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++-++++++++++-++	G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia s         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         5mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         N <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       N	G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         N <sup>TT</sup> M       N       M       M       M       M       M       M       M       N       M       N       M       N       M <td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       10 mg       11 mg</td> <td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c </math></td> <td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. o         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       6 mg       7 mg       7 mg</td> <td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. oxysp         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       5 mg       6 mg       6</td> <td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c </math></td> <td>T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. oxysporum         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg         <math>M^{T}</math>       M       N       M</td> <td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c </math></td>	T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       10 mg       11 mg	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. o         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       6 mg       7 mg       7 mg	T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. oxysp         Concentration (Equivalent to root biomass)       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg       5 mg       6	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	T. harzianum       G. vinaceus       Rhizoctonia sp.       F. oxysporum         Smg       10 mg       15 mg       5 mg       10 mg $M^{T}$ M       N       M	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

**Table 4.6.** Synthesis of the effects of low-molecular-mass phytochemicals<sup>†</sup> from  $AM^{\ddagger}$  and non-AM roots of chickpea cultivar CDC Anna on the growth<sup>§</sup> of fungal endophytes<sup>¶</sup> and pathogens<sup>#</sup>

<sup>†</sup>The phytochemicals were extracted by 25% methanol solution, and re-suspended into 25% ethanol prior to bioassay <sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal roots, colonized by *Glomus intraradices* 

<sup>§</sup>Fungal growth was measured by optical density at 630 nm (n = 4) in 96-well plates

<sup>¶</sup>*Trichoderma harzianum* and *Geomyces vinaceus* 

*\*Fusarium oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* sp *\*N*: Non-mycorrhizal root, M: Mycorrhizal root *\*\**: growth promotion, -: growth suppression, empty cells: no effect

## 4.6 Discussion

The AM and non-AM chickpea roots produced bioactive proteins and low-molecular-mass phytochemicals that impact the growth of soil-borne fungal endophytes and pathogens. I observed that the low-molecular-mass phytochemicals selectively influenced the growth of fungal species. Several low-molecular-mass phytochemicals stimulated the growth of *T. harzianum. Trichoderma* species are well-known endophytic symbionts that colonize a wide range of host plants. They are able to improve seed germination and plant nutrient uptake, and trigger systemic resistance to disease in their host plant (Bailey et al., 2009; Brotman et al., 2008). Colonization of roots by endophytic fungi involves some level of host specificity (Maciá-Vicente et al., 2009; Mandyam et al., 2013). The different responses of *T. harzianum* and *G. vinaceus* to particular phytochemicals suggest that specific roots compounds are responsible for the 'host preference' of fungal endophytes.

By contrast to the endophytes, few compounds were found to suppress *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* species, which are major fungal pathogens causing root rot diseases in a wide variety of plants (Nene et al., 1991; Zhang et al., 2013). The presence of various antimicrobial compounds in plant tissues was repeatedly reported (Bonanomi et al., 2009; Osbourn, 1996; Paul Schreiner and Koide, 1993). *Arabidopsis thaliana* released p-hydroxybenzamide and vanillic acid that inhibit *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* (Walker et al., 2009). Plant species express different degrees of resistance against different pathogens. The variations in the response of *F. oxysporum* and *Rhizoctonia* to the root phytochemicals suggest that specific root substances could be involved in 'host resistance' to soil-borne fungal pathogens.

The simultaneous presence of functionally similar bioactive compounds within roots suggests that plants produce and integrate multiple overlapping metabolites to modify their microbial environment. I found that a specific compound can act as a stimulator for a specific species of fungi while also acting as an inhibitor or neural on other species. In a recent study by Badri et al. (2013) natural blends of phytochemicals derived from the root exudates of *Arabidopsis thaliana* was repeatedly applied to soil at various relative concentrations. Further, high throughput DNA sequencing analysis revealed that one particular compound can influence various soil microbes, but the same compound can stimulate or suppress different groups of microbes.

This study identified antifungal proteins up-regulated in the mycorrhizal roots of chickpea (Table 4.3). The protein fraction contained chitinase, chitin-binding domain and a non-specific lipid transfer protein that non-selectively suppressed the growth of the endophytic and pathogenic fungi. Chitinases are potent enzymes that catalyze the degradation of chitin, the primary constituent of fungal cell walls (Salzer et al., 2000; Selitrennikoff, 2001). Several isoforms of chitinases are involved in induced resistances to pathogen infections, the development of microbial symbioses and the enhancement of tolerance to abiotic stresses (Boller and Métraux, 1988; Collinge et al., 1993; Liu et al., 2004; Salzer et al., 2004). The inhibitory activity of plant chitinase against soil-borne fungi has been confirmed *in vitro*, however several species of mycorrhizal and pathogenic fungi were not suppressed by some isomorphs of chitinases (Dumas-Gaudot et al., 1996). Class I chitinases enhance plant resistance to Rhizoctonia solani (Broglie et al., 1991). Chitinases are able to degrade the residues of chitin released from the cell walls of mycorrhizal fungi that would otherwise induce the plant defense response and suppress the symbiosis (Salzer et al., 1997). These observations suggest different roles of plant chitinases in the interaction of plants with symbiotic and pathogenic fungi. I did not detect an active chitinase in the non-AM roots, which could be due to the low concentration of chitinase in the roots of chickpea. Previous reports indicate that the activity of chitinases is

low in plant tissues unless it is triggered by microbial infections or other abiotic stresses (Lawton et al., 1992).

The protective effect of colonization by mycorrhizal fungi against soil-borne pathogens of various genera including *Fusarium*, *Rhizoctonia*, *Macrophomina*, and *Verticillium* co-occurs with over-expression of chitinase in a variety of plants. The AM symbiosis could reduce the abundance of pathogens in the root tissues (Pozo et al., 1998; Salzer et al., 2004; Whipps, 2004). Chitin binding domains are structural components of chitinases playing essential roles in substrate affinity and antifungal activity of chitinases (Iseli et al., 1993). Some chitin binding domains have direct antifungal properties (Broekaert et al., 1992).

Nonspecific lipid transfer proteins are small cysteine-rich proteins that are ubiquitous and abundant in the plant tissues of agriculturally important crops (Elmorjani et al., 2004). They are involved in plant development and responses to environmental stresses. Nonspecific lipid transfer proteins can be induced by AM fungi to selectively suppress spore germination and growth of fungal species (Blilou et al., 2000; Sun et al., 2008). This study concurs with those of others suggesting that mycorrhization influences the profile of metabolites produced in chickpea roots with potential impacts on the fungal communities associated with roots.

Plants produce antifungal protein and non-protein phytochemicals as defense reactions against microbial colonizers. The production of these antifungal compounds could be triggered by mycorrhizal symbiosis through the so called "autoregulation mechanisms" (Vierheilig et al., 2008). The AM symbiosis promotes the systemic induction of plant defense mechanisms, which enhance plant resistance to infection by microbial pathogens (Campos-Soriano et al., 2012).

Roots produce phytochemicals with antifungal properties against a wide range of pathogenic fungi. It was reported that *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *ciceri* was only inhibited by the root

exudates of a wilt-resistant chickpea genotype, indicating the genetic basis of the variation in the bioactivity of chickpea roots on soil fungi (Stevenson et al., 1995). This suggests that conversely, the selection of chickpea genotypes with improved mutualistic associations, can be based on the screening of plants possessing a certain phytochemical profile.

## **5.0 DISCUSSION AND SYNTHESIS**

The increasing emphasis on sustainable, efficient agriculture has raised interest in the management of soil microbial communities using their natural capacities to maintain soil health and fertility. Improving the contribution of beneficial microbes to soil quality requires a better understanding of the factors influencing the dynamics and functionalities of the microbial communities (Grayston et al., 1998; Johansson et al., 2004). In this research, I examined the natural effect of chickpea roots on soil fungi as well as associations with soil fungal communities. This research is a first step towards the identification of chickpea varieties that improve the biological quality of soils by associating with, and responding to beneficial fungal species while repressing pathogens. The results described in Chapter 4 indicate the capacity of chickpea root metabolites to control specific fungal species. Chapter 2 reveals the significance of cultivars of chickpea in structuring root-associated fungal communities. Chapter 3 demonstrates that chickpea cultivars have different responses to beneficial soil fungi. These findings contribute to knowledge of the fitness of chickpea to its microbial environment and provide a basis for the development of the next-generation of varieties adapted to naturally occurring soil fungi in the Canadian Prairie.

#### 5.1 Chickpea roots in the soil biological environment

Plants have a natural ability to release a spectrum of metabolites that selectively attract and repel soil microorganisms. Ultimately, these metabolites shape the structure and function of soil microbial communities (Badri et al., 2013). Based on previous research (Bednarek and Osbourn, 2009; Cruz et al., 2012; Scalbert and Williamson, 2000) the composition of plant metabolites

differs with species, genotype, tissue and physiological stage. Thus, the structure of soil microbial communities is expected to be constantly shifting in agricultural settings. In this research, the observation that the metabolites of chickpea roots selectively influence fungal species, suggests that root metabolites could have important roles in structuring the fungal communities of soil and root endosphere. Manipulating root metabolite production, therefore, could create microbial niches promoting the proliferation of beneficial fungi while inhibiting pathogens. This research found several root metabolite fractions with general or specific bioactivities on important fungal species that inhabit cultivated soils of the chickpea growing region of Canada. A recent study showed that the profile of root metabolites differ among cultivars of chickpea (Ellouze et al., 2012). The simultaneous variations in the profile of root metabolites and the structure of root fungal communities of cultivars of chickpea supports the conclusion that the root metabolites could be selecting root-associated fungi. The selective effects of the bioactive metabolites from chickpea roots on fungal endophytes and pathogens could be used to generate varieties that enhance the sustainability of agriculture by improving the contribution of soil fungi to crop production.

# 5.2 Cultivar dependent interactions of chickpea with soil fungi

Cultivars of chickpea determined the diversity of root-associated fungal communities. Cultivars also determined the response of chickpea to symbioses with AM and non-AM fungal endophytes. For example, the cultivar CDC Corrine, which hosted a high diversity of root fungal communities, also responded more positively to inoculation with selected native AM and non-AM fungal endophytes (Table 5.1). There are reports indicating that soil microbial diversity is often associated with plant health (Garbeva et al., 2004).

Cultivar	Туре	Richness <sup>¶</sup> (AM)	Diversity <sup>#</sup> (AM)	Richness (non-AM)	Diversity (non-AM)	Dominance of <i>Fusarium</i> in roots	<b>Response</b> to AM	Response to non-AM
Amit	Kabuli	Low	Medium	Low	Medium	Medium	Good	Negative
CDC Alma	Kabuli	Low	Low	Low	Medium	Medium	Fair	Neutral
CDC Frontier	Kabuli	Medium	High	Medium	Medium	High	Good	Neutral
CDC Leader	Kabuli	Low	Medium	Low	Medium	High	Fair	Neutral
CDC Luna	Kabuli	Medium	High	Low	Medium	Medium	Fair	Neutral
CDC Orion	Kabuli	Medium	Medium	Low	Medium	High	Fair	Neutral
CDC Xena	Kabuli	Medium	High	Low	Low	Low	Fair	Neutral
CDC Cabri	Desi	Medium	Medium	Medium	Medium	High	Fair	Neutral
CDC Corinne	Desi	High	High	High	High	Low	Fair	Positive
CDC Cory	Desi	High	Medium	High	High	High	Fair	Positive
CDC Vanguard	Desi	Medium	High	High	High	High	Good	Negative
CDC Anna	Desi	Medium	Medium	Medium	Medium	High	Good	Positive
CDC Nika	Desi	Low	Medium	Low	Medium	High	Good	Neutral

**Table 5.1.** Synthesis of the influence of chickpea cultivars on the root-associated fungal communities<sup>†</sup>, and the response<sup>‡</sup> of cultivars to  $AM^{\$}$  fungi and non-AM fungal endophytes

<sup>†</sup>Assessed in field-grown chickpeas, using 454 pyrosequencing (n = 6). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (Non-AM fungi), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (AM fungi).

<sup>‡</sup>Tested in the greenhouse. AM fungal species used for the study include *Diversispora eburnea, Claroideoglomus etunicatum* and *Glomus* sp and non-AM fungal endophytes used include *Trichoderma harzianum* and *Mortierella alpina*. All the species were native to Saskatchewan soils.

<sup>§</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal

<sup>®</sup>Chao richness index

<sup>#</sup>Shannon diversity index

It also is notable that plants are more responsive to AM symbiosis when inoculated with total soil inoculum and multiple AM fungal species compared with inoculation with single AM fungal species (Hoeksema et al., 2010). However, to date, there is no indication for a relationship between the diversity of root-associated fungal communities and plant response to AM symbiosis. The co-occurrence of the high diversity of root associated fungal communities and negative response of CDC Vanguard to non-AM fungal endophytes (Table 5.1), suggests that there could also be other factors involved in controlling the response of plants to fungal symbionts. The higher responsiveness of plants to multiple AM symbioses could be due to a functional complementarity among AM fungi in providing benefits to the host (Hart and Reader, 2002; Maherali and Kliromonos, 2007) or due to the higher chance for the presence of compatible AM fungal species in the mixed inoculum (Vogelsang et al., 2006). The higher response of some cultivars to AM symbiosis observed in this study could be attributed to the natural capability of these cultivars to form an association with the fungal species that were used. My findings suggest that the chickpea varieties that associate with a high diversity of soil microbial communities could have a better chance to form efficient microbial symbioses. Although, other factors including plant genetics appear to interact in the outcome of an association between roots and symbiotic soil microorganism.

#### 5.3 Differences in microbial relations of desi and kabuli chickpea

The low diversity of root-dwelling fungal communities associated with kabuli chickpea and the relative weakness of this type of chickpea in forming efficient fungal symbioses could have developed through breeding practice reducing the ability of the plant to use soil fungal resources. Kabuli chickpeas were derived from desi chickpea varieties through longterm selections (Moreno and Cubero, 1978; Singh, 1997). The differences in fungal associations between the types of chickpea could be due to the loss of genes coding for certain metabolites originally present in the ancestors. It could also be the side effect of resistance against fungal pathogens acquired through years of selective breeding, as similar mechanisms are thought to be involved in regulation of AM symbiosis and control of root-infecting fungal pathogens (Vierheilig et al., 2008).

#### 5.4 Dynamics of Fusarium in chickpea roots

The observation that *Fusarium* was the dominant non-AM fungal species in the roots of field grown chickpea (Fig. 2.5) and its effect in reducing plant biomass and yield in the field and greenhouse studies (Figs. 2.7 and 2.9) suggests that *Fusarium* could negatively impact the yield of chickpea in southern Saskatchewan. The genus Fusarium contains various fungal species that cause root and crown rot diseases and reduce the biomass of chickpea (Doohan et al., 2003; Navas-Cortés et al., 2000; Nene et al., 1991). However, the genetic variation found in the colonization of chickpea roots by *Fusarium* indicates the potential ability of chickpea to control Fusarium. The roots of CDC Corrine and CDC Xena contained the lowest relative abundance of Fusarium among all cultivars. The lower abundance of Fusarium in CDC Corinne could be attributed to the highest level of diversity of root associated fungi as suppression of soil-borne pathogens is often attributed to high soil microbial diversity (Altieri, 1999; Brussaard et al., 2007). In contrast, the diversity of root associated fungal communities was the lowest in CDC Xena, suggesting the possibility of the involvement of other mechanisms that inhibit the association of roots with soil-borne fungi including *Fusarium* species. It is notable that CDC Xena is the most susceptible cultivar to the fungal

pathogen *Ascochyta rabiei*. Cho and Muehlbauer (2004) found significant differences in the expression patterns of defence-related genes in blight resistant and susceptible genotypes of chickpea inoculated with *A. rabiei*. Although the differences in the gene expressions, were not related to blight resistance in the recombinant lines, such variations in gene expressions could have non-target effects on other fungi that inhibit the association of roots with other fungal pathogens including *Fusarium* species through induced systemic resistance.

#### 5.5 Future research

This research shows that the metabolites derived from the roots of CDC Anna have selective influence on some soil microorganisms. More research in required to identify the bioactive metabolites produced in the roots of chickpea. CDC Corrine, CDC Cory and CDC Anna would be among the best plants to investigate as their roots are associated with the highest level of fungal diversity and they respond best to fungal symbionts. CDC Xena is also an interesting model due to its low level of colonization by *Fusarium*. Key root metabolites could be used to generate markers for the selection of varieties that form efficient fungal symbioses and resist *Fusarium* invasion.

Colonization of roots by AM fungi appears to influence the composition of root metabolites through the stimulation or direct release of secondary metabolites (Larose et al., 2002). These metabolites might influence non-target organisms such as *Ascochyta rabiei*, a fungal pathogen causing the leaf disease Ascochyta blight. Considering the importance of Ascochyta blight in chickpea, the possibility of a systemic influence of AM fungal colonization of roots is worth investigating. Metabolites systemically induced or produced by AM fungi might reduce the impact of Ascochyta in the leaves. Metabolites released from *T*.

*harzianum* were shown to suppress the growth of *Ascochyta rabiei* in vitro (KüÇük et al., 2007).

This study indicates that the outcome a multipartite symbioses with the AM and non-AM endophytes in chickpea is cultivar-dependent and varies from negative to positive. It opens the possibility for the development of cultivars of chickpea that improve soil microbial quality and best respond to the soil microbial community feedback, resulting in the improvement of soil microbiology.

#### **6.0 REFERENCES**

- Abbott, L.K. and A.D. Robson. 1982. The role of vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in agriculture and the selection of fungi for inoculation. Aus. J. Agr. Res 33: 389-408.
- Aira, M., M. Gómez-Brandón, C. Lazcano, E. Bååth and J. Domínguez. 2010. Plant genotype strongly modifies the structure and growth of maize rhizosphere microbial communities. Soil Biol. Biochem. 42: 2276-2281.
- Alabouvette, C. 1999. Fusarium wilt suppressive soils: an example of disease-suppressive soils. Australasian Plant Pathology 28: 57-64.
- Altieri, M.A. 1999. The ecological role of biodiversity in agroecosystems. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 74: 19-31.
- Andrade-Linares, D.R., R. Grosch, S. Restrepo, A. Krumbein and P. Franken. 2011. Effects of dark septate endophytes on tomato plant performance. Mycorrhiza 21: 413-422.
- Andrew, D.R., R.R. Fitak, A. Munguia-Vega, A. Racolta, V.G. Martinson and K. Dontsova. 2012. Abiotic factors shape microbial diversity in Sonoran desert soils. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78: 7527-7537.
- Anonymous. 1987. Analysis guide for polarized zeeman atomic absorption spectrophotometry. Flame atomization method, hitachi ltd.
- Azcón-Aguilar, C. and J.M. Barea. 1997. Arbuscular mycorrhizas and biological control of soil-borne plant pathogens – an overview of the mechanisms involved. Mycorrhiza 6: 457-464.
- Badri, D.V., J.M. Chaparro, R. Zhang, Q. Shen and J.M. Vivanco. 2013. Application of natural blends of phytochemicals derived from the root exudates of Arabidopsis to the soil reveal that phenolic-related compounds predominantly modulate the soil microbiome. J. Biol. Chem. 288: 4502-4512.
- Badri, D.V., V.M. Loyola-Vargas, C.D. Broeckling and J.M. Vivanco. 2010. Root secretion of phytochemicals in Arabidopsis is predominantly not influenced by diurnal rhythms. Mol. Plant 3: 491-498.
- Badri, D.V., T.L. Weir, D. Van Der Lelie and J.M. Vivanco. 2009. Rhizosphere chemical dialogues: plant-microbe interactions. Curr. Opin. Biotech. 20: 642-650.
- Bailey, B.A., M.D. Strem and D. Wood. 2009. Trichoderma species form endophytic associations within Theobroma cacao trichomes. Mycol. Res. 113: 1365-1376.
- Bais, H.P., T.L. Weir, L.G. Perry, S. Gilroy and J.M. Vivanco. 2006. The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 57: 233-266.
- Bakker, M.G., D.K. Manter, A.M. Sheflin, T.L. Weir and J.M. Vivanco. 2012. Harnessing the rhizosphere microbiome through plant breeding and agricultural management.

Plant Soil 360: 1-13.

- Balestrini, R. and L. Lanfranco. 2006. Fungal and plant gene expression in arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Mycorrhiza 16: 509-524.
- Baon, J., S. Smith and A. Alston. 1994. Growth response and phosphorus uptake of rye with long and short root hairs: Interactions with mycorrhizal infection. Plant Soil 167: 247-254.
- Barrow, J. and R. Aaltonen. 2001. Evaluation of the internal colonization of Atriplex canescens (Pursh) Nutt. roots by dark septate fungi and the influence of host physiological activity. Mycorrhiza 11: 199-205.
- Bednarek, P. and A. Osbourn. 2009. Plant-microbe interactions: chemical diversity in plant defense. Science 324: 746-748.
- Bennett, A.J., G.D. Bending, D. Chandler, S. Hilton and P. Mills. 2012. Meeting the demand for crop production: the challenge of yield decline in crops grown in short rotations. Biol. Rev. 87: 52-71.
- Berendsen, R.L., C.M.J. Pieterse and P.A.H.M. Bakker. 2012. The rhizosphere microbiome and plant health. Trends Plant Sci. 17: 478-486.
- Berg, G. 2009. Plant-microbe interactions promoting plant growth and health: Perspectives for controlled use of microorganisms in agriculture. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 84: 11-18.
- Berg, G. and K. Smalla. 2009. Plant species and soil type cooperatively shape the structure and function of microbial communities in the rhizosphere. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 68: 1-13.
- Bienvenut, W.V., C. Déon, C. Pasquarello, J.M. Campbell, J.C. Sanchez, M.L. Vestal and D.F. Hochstrasser. 2002. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-tandem mass spectrometry with high resolution and sensitivity for identification and characterization of proteins. Proteomics 2: 868-876.
- Birkett, M.A., T.J.A. Bruce, J.L. Martin, L.E. Smart, J. Oakley and L.J. Wadhams. 2004. Responses of female orange wheat blossom midge, Sitodiplosis mosellana, to wheat panicle volatiles. J. Chem. Ecol. 30: 1319-1328.
- Blilou, I., J.A. Ocampo and J.M. García-Garrido. 1999. Resistance of pea roots to endomycorrhizal fungus or rhizobium correlates with enhanced levels of endogenous salicylic acid. J. Exp. Bot 50: 1663-1668.
- Blilou, I., J.A. Ocampo and J.M. García-Garrido. 2000. Induction of LTP (lipid transfer protein) and Pal (phenylalanine ammonia-lyase) gene expression in rice roots colonized by the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus Glomus mosseae. J. Exp. Bot. 51: 1969-1977.
- Boller, T. and J.P. Métraux. 1988. Extracellular localization of chitinase in cucumber. Physiol. Mol. Plant Path. 33: 11-16.
- Bonanomi, G., F. Vinale and F. Scala. 2009. The Role of Natural Products in Plant-Microbe

Interactions. In: A. E. Osbourn and V. Lanzotti, editors, Plant-derived Natural Products. Springer US. p. 301-320.

- Borowicz, V.A. 2001. Do arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi alter plant-pathogen relations? Ecology 82: 3057-3068.
- Bridge, P. and B. Spooner. 2001. Soil fungi: Diversity and detection. Plant Soil 232: 147-154.
- Broekaert, W.F., W. Marien, F.R. Terras, M.F. De Bolle, P. Proost, J. Van Damme, L. Dillen, M. Claeys and S.B. Rees. 1992. Antimicrobial peptides from Amaranthus caudatus seeds with sequence homology to the cysteine/glycine-rich domain of chitin-binding proteins. Biochemistry 31: 4308-4314.
- Broglie, K., I. Chet, M. Holliday, R. Cressman, P. Biddle, S. Knowlton, C.J. Mauvais and R. Broglie. 1991. Transgenic plants with enhanced resistance to the fungal pathogen Rhizoctonia solani. Science 254: 1194-1197.
- Brotman, Y., E. Briff, A. Viterbo and I. Chet. 2008. Role of swollenin, an expansin-like protein from Trichoderma, in plant root colonization. Plant Physiol. 147: 779-789.
- Brussaard, L., P.C. de Ruiter and G.G. Brown. 2007. Soil biodiversity for agricultural sustainability. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 121: 233-244.
- Bryla, D. and R. Koide. 1998. Mycorrhizal response of two tomato genotypes relates to their ability to acquire and utilize phosphorus. Ann. Bot. 82: 849-857.
- Buée, M., M. Reich, C. Murat, E. Morin, R.H. Nilsson, S. Uroz and F. Martin. 2009. 454 Pyrosequencing analyses of forest soils reveal an unexpectedly high fungal diversity. New Phytol. 184: 449-456.
- Cai, T., W. Cai, J. Zhang, H. Zheng, A.M. Tsou, L. Xiao, Z. Zhong and J. Zhu. 2009. Host legume-exuded antimetabolites optimize the symbiotic rhizosphere. Mol. Microbiol. 73: 507-517.
- Campos-Soriano, L., J. García-Martínez and B.S. Segundo. 2012. The arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis promotes the systemic induction of regulatory defencerelated genes in rice leaves and confers resistance to pathogen infection. Mol. Plant Path. 13: 579-592.
- Castro, H.F., A.T. Classen, E.E. Austin, R.J. Norby and C.W. Schadt. 2010. Soil microbial community responses to multiple experimental climate change drivers. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76: 999-1007.
- Chaeichi, M.R. and L. Edalati-Fard. 2006. Evaluation of allelopathic effects of chickpea root extracts on germination and early growth of sorghum (Sorghum halepense), soybean (Glycine max L.) and sunflower (Helianthus annus). Sci. J. Agr. 28: 69-80.
- Chandanie, W., M. Kubota and M. Hyakumachi. 2009. Interactions between the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus Glomus mosseae and plant growth-promoting fungi and their significance for enhancing plant growth and suppressing damping-off of cucumber (Cucumis sativus L.). Appl. Soil Ecol. 41: 336-341.

- Cheplick, G.P. 2008. Host genotype overrides fungal endophyte infection in influencing tiller and spike production of Lolium perenne (Poaceae) in a common garden experiment. Amer. J. Bot. 95: 1063-1071.
- Collemare, J. and M. Lebrun. 2011. Fungal secondary metabolites: ancient toxins and novel effectors in plant–microbe interactions. In: F. Martin and S. Kamoun, editors, Effectors in Plant–Microbe Interactions. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK. p. 377-400.
- Collinge, D.B., K.M. Kragh, J.D. Mikkelsen, K.K. Nielsen, U. Rasmussen and K. Vad. 1993. Plant chitinases. Plant J. 3: 31-40.
- Chongo, G., Gossen, B.D., and Buchwaldt, L. 2000. Fungicidal control of ascochyta blight in chickpea in 1999. *In* 1999 pesticide management research reports. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ottawa, Ont., Report No. 99. pp. 275–276.
- Cruz, A.F., C. Hamel, C. Yang, T. Matsubara, Y. Gan, A.K. Singh, K. Kuwada and T. Ishii. 2012. Phytochemicals to suppress Fusarium head blight in wheat-chickpea rotation. Phytochemistry 78: 72-80.
- Cruz, C., P. Correia, A. Ramos, L. Carvalho, A. Bago and M. Loução. 2008. Arbuscular mycorrhiza in physiological and morphological adaptations of mediterranean plants. In: A. Varma, editor Mycorrhiza. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 733-752.
- Dai, M., C. Hamel, L.D. Bainard, M.S. Arnaud, C.A. Grant, N.Z. Lupwayi, S.S. Malhi and R. Lemke. 2014. Negative and positive contributions of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal taxa to wheat production and nutrient uptake efficiency in organic and conventional systems in the Canadian prairie. Soil Biol. Biochem. 74: 156-166.
- Dakora, F.D. and D.A. Phillips. 2002. Root exudates as mediators of mineral acquisition in low-nutrient environments. Plant Soil 245: 35-47.
- de Mendiburu, F. 2010. Agricolae: statistical procedures for agricultural research. R package version 1.0–9. hosted on the Vienna university of economics and business website.
- Diapari, M., A. Sindhu, K. Bett, A. Deokar, T. Warkentin and B. Taran. 2014. Genetic diversity and association mapping of iron and zinc concentration in chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.). Genome
- Doohan, F.M., J. Brennan and B.M. Cooke. 2003. Influence of climatic factors on Fusarium species pathogenic to cereals. In: X. Xu, J. Bailey and B. M. Cooke, editors, Epidemiology of Mycotoxin Producing Fungi. Springer Netherlands. p. 755-768.
- Dor, E., D.M. Joel, Y. Kapulnik, H. Koltai and J. Hershenhorn. 2011. The synthetic strigolactone GR24 influences the growth pattern of phytopathogenic fungi. Planta 234: 419-427.
- Dumas-Gaudot, E., S. Slezack, B. Dassi, M.J. Pozo, V. Gianinazzi-Pearson and S. Gianinazzi. 1996. Plant hydrolytic enzymes (chitinases and β-1,3-glucanases) in root reactions to pathogenic and symbiotic microorganisms. Plant Soil 185: 211-221.
- Ellouze, W., C. Hamel, A.F. Cruz, T. Ishii, Y. Gan, S. Bouzid and M. St-Arnaud. 2012. Phytochemicals and spore germination: At the root of AMF host preference? Appl.

Soil Ecol. 60: 98-104.

- Ellouze, W., C. Hamel, V. Vujanovic, Y. Gan, S. Bouzid and M. St-Arnaud. 2013. Chickpea genotypes shape the soil microbiome and affect the establishment of the subsequent durum wheat crop in the semiarid North American Great Plains. Soil Biol. Biochem. 63: 129-141.
- Elmorjani, K., V. Lurquin, A. Lelion, H. Rogniaux and D. Marion. 2004. A bacterial expression system revisited for the recombinant production of cystine-rich plant lipid transfer proteins. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com. 316: 1202-1209.
- Estaun, V., C. Calvet and D. Hayman. 1987. Influence of plant genotype on mycorrhizal infection: response of three pea cultivars. Plant Soil 103: 295-298.
- Finlay, R.D. 2008. Ecological aspects of mycorrhizal symbiosis: With special emphasis on the functional diversity of interactions involving the extraradical mycelium. J. Exp. Bot. 59: 1115-1126.
- Foit, K., A. Chatzinotas and M. Liess. 2010. Short-term disturbance of a grazer has longterm effects on bacterial communities—Relevance of trophic interactions for recovery from pesticide effects. Aqua. Toxic. 99: 205-211.
- Fries, L.L.M., R.S. Pacovsky, G.R. Safir and J.O. Siqueira. 1997. Plant growth and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal colonization affected by exogenously applied phenolic compounds. J. of Chem. Ecol. 23: 1755-1767.
- Garbeva, P., J.A. Van Veen and J.D. Van Elsas. 2004. Microbial diversity in soil: selection of microbial populations by plant and soil type and implications for disease suppressiveness. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 42: 243-270.
- Gardes, M. and T.D. Bruns. 1993. ITS primers with enhanced specificity for basidiomycetes application to the identification of mycorrhizae and rusts. Mol. Ecol. 2: 113-118.
- Ghorbani, R., S. Wilcockson, A. Koocheki and C. Leifert. 2010. Soil management for sustainable crop disease control: A review. In: E. Lichtfouse, editor Organic farming, pest control and remediation of soil pollutants. Springer, Dordrecht. p. 177-201.
- Gianinazzi-Pearson, V. 1996. Plant cell responses to arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: getting to the roots of the symbiosis. Plant Cell 8: 1871.
- Gianinazzi-Pearson, V., B. Branzanti and S. Gianinazzi. 1989. In vitro enhancement of spore germination and early hyphal growth of a vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus by host root exudates and plant flavonoids. Symbiosis 7: 243-255.
- Giovannetti, M. and B. Mosse. 1980. An evaluation of techniques for measuring vesiculararbuscular mycorrhizal infection in roots. New Phytol. 84: 489-500.
- Gravel, V., H. Antoun and R.J. Tweddell. 2007. Growth stimulation and fruit yield improvement of greenhouse tomato plants by inoculation with Pseudomonas putida or Trichoderma atroviride: Possible role of indole acetic acid (IAA). Soil Biol. Biochem. 39: 1968-1977.

- Grayston, S.J., S. Wang, C.D. Campbell and A.C. Edwards. 1998. Selective influence of plant species on microbial diversity in the rhizosphere. Soil Biol. Biochem. 30: 369-378.
- Green, H., J. Larsen, P.A. Olsson, D.F. Jensen and I. Jakobsen. 1999. Suppression of the biocontrol agent Trichoderma harzianum by mycelium of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus Glomus intraradices in root-free soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65: 1428-1434.
- Hammami, R., J. Ben Hamida, G. Vergoten and I. Fliss. 2009. PhytAMP: A database dedicated to antimicrobial plant peptides. Nucl. Acids Res. 37: D963-D968.
- Hammerschmidt, R. 1999. Phytoalexins: What have we learned after 60 years? Ann. Rev. Phytol. 37: 285-306.
- Hanhong, B. 2011. Trichoderma species as abiotic and biotic stress quenchers in plants. Res. J. Biotechnol. 6: 73-79.
- Harman, G.E., C.R. Howell, A. Viterbo, I. Chet and M. Lorito. 2004. Trichoderma species—opportunistic, avirulent plant symbionts. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2: 43-56.
- Harrier, L. 2001. The arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis: a molecular review of the fungal dimension. J. Exp. Bot. 52: 469-478.
- Harrison, M.J. 2005. Signaling in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 59: 19-42.
- Hartmann, A., M. Schmid, D. van Tuinen and G. Berg. 2009. Plant-driven selection of microbes. Plant Soil 321: 235-257.
- Hoeksema, J.D., V.B. Chaudhary, C.A. Gehring, N.C. Johnson, J. Karst, R.T. Koide, A. Pringle, C. Zabinski, J.D. Bever, J.C. Moore, G.W.T. Wilson, J.N. Klironomos and J. Umbanhowar. 2010. A meta-analysis of context-dependency in plant response to inoculation with mycorrhizal fungi. Ecol. Lett. 13: 394-407.
- Horbach, R., A.R. Navarro-Quesada, W. Knogge and H.B. Deising. 2011. When and how to kill a plant cell: Infection strategies of plant pathogenic fungi. J. Plant Physiol. 168: 51-62.
- Horii, S., A. Matsumura, M. Kuramoto and T. Ishii. 2009. Tryptophan dimer produced by water-stressed bahia grass is an attractant for Gigaspora margarita and Glomus caledonium. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 25: 1207-1215.
- Hu, J.-L., X.-G. Lin, J.-H. Wang, W.-S. Shen, S. Wu, S.-P. Peng and T.-T. Mao. 2010. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal inoculation enhances suppression of cucumber fusarium wilt in greenhouse soils. Pedosphere 20: 586-593.
- Ishii, T., A. Narutaki, K. Sawada, J. Aikawa, I. Matsumoto and K. Kadoya. 1997. Growth stimulatory substances for vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in Bahia grass (Paspalum notatum Flugge.) roots. Plant Soil 196: 301-304.
- Jakobsen, I., S.E. Smith and F.A. Smith. 2003. Function and diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizae in carbon and mineral nutrition. In: M. A. Heijden and I. Sanders,

editors, Mycor. Ecol. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 75-92.

- Jeffries, P., S. Gianinazzi, S. Perotto, K. Turnau and J.M. Barea. 2003. The contribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in sustainable maintenance of plant health and soil fertility. Biol. Fertil. Soils 37: 1-16.
- Johansson, J.F., L.R. Paul and R.D. Finlay. 2004. Microbial interactions in the mycorrhizosphere and their significance for sustainable agriculture. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 48: 1-13.
- Johnson, N.C., J.H. Graham and F.A. Smith. 1997. Functioning of mycorrhizal associations along the mutualism–parasitism continuum. New Phytol. 135: 575-585.
- Jones, D.L., A. Hodge and Y. Kuzyakov. 2004. Plant and mycorrhizal regulation of rhizodeposition. New Phytol. 163: 459-480.
- Jones, J.B. 1991. Plant tissue analysis in micronutrients. In: Micronutrient in Agriculture, 2nd ed. SSSA (Chapter 13).
- Jumpponen, A. 2001. Dark septate endophytes are they mycorrhizal? Mycorrhiza 11: 207-211.
- Kaeppler, S.M., J.L. Parke, S.M. Mueller, L. Senior, C. Stuber and W.F. Tracy. 2000. Variation among maize inbred lines and detection of quantitative trait loci for growth at low phosphorus and responsiveness to arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Crop Sci. 40: 358-364.
- Kageyama, S.A., K.G. Mandyam and A. Jumpponen. 2008. Diversity, Function and Potential Applications of the Root-Associated Endophytes. In: A. Varma, editor Mycorrhiza. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 29-57.
- Kleczewski, N., J. Bauer, J. Bever, K. Clay and H. Reynolds. 2012. A survey of endophytic fungi of switchgrass Panicum virgatum in the Midwest, and their putative roles in plant growth. Fungal Ecol. 5: 521-529.
- Klein, E., M. Ofek, J. Katan, D. Minz and A. Gamliel. 2012. Soil suppressiveness to Fusarium disease: shifts in root microbiome associated with reduction of pathogen root colonization. Phytopathology 103: 23-33.
- Koide, R. and G. Elliott. 1989. Cost, Benefit and Efficiency of the Vesicular-Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. Funct. Ecol. 3: 252-255.
- Koide, R.T. 1991. Nutrient supply, nutrient demand and plant response to mycorrhizal infection. New Phytol. 117: 365-386.
- Kõljalg, U., R.H. Nilsson, K. Abarenkov, L. Tedersoo, A.F. Taylor, M. Bahram, S.T. Bates, T.D. Bruns, J. Bengtsson-Palme and T.M. Callaghan. 2013. Towards a unified paradigm for sequence-based identification of fungi. Mol. Ecol. 22: 5271-5277.
- Kretzschmar, T., W. Kohlen, J. Sasse, L. Borghi, M. Schlegel, J.B. Bachelier, D. Reinhardt, R. Bours, H.J. Bouwmeester and E. Martinoia. 2012. A petunia ABC protein controls strigolactone-dependent symbiotic signalling and branching. Nature 483: 341-344.

- Krishna, K., K. Shetty, P. Dart and D. Andrews. 1985. Genotype dependent variation in mycorrhizal colonization and response to inoculation of pearl millet. Plant Soil 86: 113-125.
- Krupinsky, J.M., K.L. Bailey, M.P. McMullen, B.D. Gossen and T.K. Turkington. 2002. Managing plant disease risk in diversified cropping systems. Agron. J. 94: 198-209.
- KüÇük, Ç., M. KivanÇ, E. Kinaci and G. Kinaci. 2007. Efficacy of Trichoderma harzianum (Rifaii) on inhibition of ascochyta blight disease of chickpea. Ann. Microbiol. 57: 665-668.
- Larose, G., R. Chênevert, P. Moutoglis, S. Gagné, Y. Piché and H. Vierheilig. 2002. Flavonoid levels in roots of Medicago sativa are modulated by the developmental stage of the symbiosis and the root colonizing arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. J. Plant Physiol. 159: 1329-1339.
- Lawton, K., E. Ward, G. Payne, M. Moyer and J. Ryals. 1992. Acidic and basic class III chitinase mRNA accumulation in response to TMV infection of tobacco. Plant Mol. Biol. 19: 735-743.
- Lee, J., S. Lee and J.P.W. Young. 2008. Improved PCR primers for the detection and identification of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 65: 339-349.
- Linderman, R.G. and E.A. Davis. 2004. Varied response of marigold Tagetes spp. genotypes to inoculation with different arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Sci. Hortic. 99: 67-78.
- Lioussanne, L., F. Perreault, M. Jolicoeur and M. St-Arnaud. 2010. The bacterial community of tomato rhizosphere is modified by inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi but unaffected by soil enrichment with mycorrhizal root exudates or inoculation with Phytophthora nicotianae. Soil Biol. Biochem. 42: 473-483.
- Liu, M., Z.X. Sun, J. Zhu, T. Xu, G.E. Harman and M. Lorito. 2004. Enhancing rice resistance to fungal pathogens by transformation with cell wall degrading enzyme genes from Trichoderma atroviride. J. Zhejiang Uni. Scie. 5: 133-136.
- Liu, P.-h., Y. Gan, T. Warkentin and C. McDonald. 2003. Morphological plasticity of chickpea in a semiarid environment. Crop science 43: 426-429.
- Lumini, E., A. Orgiazzi, R. Borriello, P. Bonfante and V. Bianciotto. 2010. Disclosing arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal biodiversity in soil through a land-use gradient using a pyrosequencing approach. Environ. Microbiol. 12: 2165-2179.
- Ma, B., K. Zhang, C. Hendrie, C. Liang, M. Li, A. Doherty-Kirby and G. Lajoie. 2003. PEAKS: powerful software for peptide de novo sequencing by tandem mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 17: 2337-2342.
- Maciá-Vicente, J.G., L.C. Rosso, A. Ciancio, H.B. Jansson and L.V. Lopez-Llorca. 2009. Colonisation of barley roots by endophytic Fusarium equiseti and Pochonia chlamydosporia: Effects on plant growth and disease. Ann. Appl. Biol. 155: 391-401.
- Maiti, D., N. Toppo and M. Variar. 2011. Integration of crop rotation and arbuscular

mycorrhiza (AM) inoculum application for enhancing AM activity to improve phosphorus nutrition and yield of upland rice (Oryza sativa L.). Mycorrhiza 21: 659-667.

- Malinowski, D., D. Brauer and D. Belesky. 1999. The endophyte Neotyphodium coenophialum affects root morphology of tall fescue grown under phosphorus deficiency. J. of Agron. Crop Sci. 183: 53-60.
- Mandyam, K., C. Fox and A. Jumpponen. 2012. Septate endophyte colonization and host responses of grasses and forbs native to a tallgrass prairie. Mycorrhiza 22: 109-119.
- Mandyam, K. and A. Jumpponen. 2005. Seeking the elusive function of the root-colonising dark septate endophytic fungi. Stud. Mycol. 53: 173-189.
- Mandyam, K.G., J. Roe and A. Jumpponen. 2013. Arabidopsis thaliana model system reveals a continuum of responses to root endophyte colonization. Fungal Biol. 117: 250-260.
- Martínez-Medina, A., A. Roldán, A. Albacete and J.A. Pascual. 2011. The interaction with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi or Trichoderma harzianum alters the shoot hormonal profile in melon plants. Phytochemistry 72: 223-229.
- Mayerhofer, M.S., G. Kernaghan and K.A. Harper. 2013. The effects of fungal root endophytes on plant growth: a meta-analysis. Mycorrhiza 23: 119-128.
- McAllister, C.á., I. Garcia-Romera, A. Godeas and J. Ocampo. 1994. Interactions between Trichoderma koningii, Fusarium solani and Glomus mosseae: Effects on plant growth, arbuscular mycorrhizas and the saprophyte inoculants. Soil Biol. Biochem. 26: 1363-1367.
- McGonigle, T.P., M.H. Miller, D.G. Evans, G.L. Fairchild and J.A. Swan. 1990. A new method which gives an objective measure of colonization of roots by vesicular—arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytol. 115: 495-501.
- Milbury, W.F., V.T. Stack and F.L. Doll. 1970. Simultaneous determination of total phosphorus and total Kjeldahl nitrogen in activated sludge with the technicon continuous digestor system. In: Technicon International Congress, Advances in Automatic Analysis, Industrial Analysis. 2: 299–304.
- Miller, K.I., C. Qing, D.M.-Y. Sze, B.D. Roufogalis and B.A. Neilan. 2012. Culturable endophytes of medicinal plants and the genetic basis for their bioactivity. Microb. Ecol. 64: 431-449.
- Miller, P., Y. Gan, B. McConkey and C. McDonald. 2003. Pulse crops for the northern Great Plains. II: Cropping sequence effects on cereal, oilseed, and pulse crops. Agron. J. 95: 980-986.
- Miller, P., K. McKay, B. Jenks, J. Riesselman, K. Neill, D. Buschena and A. Bussan. 2002. Growing chickpea in the northern great plains. Montana State University Extension Service
- Monzon, A. and R. Azcón. 1996. Relevance of mycorrhizal fungal origin and host plant genotype to inducing growth and nutrient uptake in Medicago species. Agric.

Ecosyst. Environ. 60: 9-15.

Moreno, M.-T. and J. Cubero. 1978. Variation in Cicer arietinum L. Euphytica 27: 465-485.

- Muller, J. 2003. Artificial infection by endophytes affects growth and mycorrhizal colonisation of Lolium perenne. Funct. Plant Biol. 30: 419-424.
- Naeem, S., L.J. Thompson, S.P. Lawler, J.H. Lawton and R.M. Woodfin. 1994. Declining biodiversity can alter the performance of ecosystems. Nature 368: 734-737.
- Navas-Cortés, J.A., B. Hau and R.M. Jiménez-Díaz. 2000. Yield loss in chickpeas in relation to development of Fusarium wilt epidemics. Phytopathology 90: 1269-1278.
- Nelson, E.B. 2004. Microbial dynamics and interactions in the spermosphere. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 42: 271-309.
- Nene, Y.L., M.V. Reddy, M.P. Haware, A.M. Ghanekar and K.S. Amin. 1991. Field diagnosis of chickpea diseases and their control. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics.
- Noel, R.J. and L.G. Hambleton. 1976. Collaborative study of a semi-automated method for the determination of crude protein in animal feeds. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. 59: 134–140.
- Novas, M.V., L.J. Iannone, A.M. Godeas and D. Cabral. 2009. Positive association between mycorrhiza and foliar endophytes in Poa bonariensis, a native grass. Mycol. Prog. 8: 75-81.
- Olsson, P.A., J. Rahm and N. Aliasgharzad. 2010. Carbon dynamics in mycorrhizal symbioses is linked to carbon costs and phosphorus benefits. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 72: 125-131.
- Osbourn, A.E. 1996. Preformed antimicrobial compounds and plant defense against fungal attack. Plant Cell 8: 1821.
- Paul Schreiner, R. and R.T. Koide. 1993. Antifungal compounds from the roots of mycotrophic and non-mycotrophic plant species. New Phytol. 123: 99-105.
- Peipp, H., W. Maier, J. Schmidt, V. Wray and D. Strack. 1997. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus-induced changes in the accumulation of secondary compounds in barley roots. Phytochemistry 44: 581-587.
- Pieterse, C.M., J.A. Van Pelt, B.W. Verhagen, J. Ton, S. Van Wees, K.M. Leon-Kloosterziel and L. Van Loon. 2003. Induced systemic resistance by plant growthpromoting rhizobacteria. Symbiosis 35: 39-54.
- Plenchette, C., C. Clermont-Dauphin, J.M. Meynard and J.A. Fortin. 2005. Managing arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in cropping systems. Can. J. Plant Sci. 85: 31-40.
- Pozo, M.J. and C. Azcón-Aguilar. 2007. Unraveling mycorrhiza-induced resistance. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 10: 393-398.
- Pozo, M.J., C. Azcón-Aguilar, E. Dumas-Gaudot and J.M. Barea. 1998. Chitosanase and chitinase activities in tomato roots during interactions with arbuscular mycorrhizal

fungi or Phytophthora parasitica. J. Exp. Bot. 49: 1729-1739.

Rengel, Z. 2002. Breeding for better symbiosis. Plant Soil 245: 147-162.

Roberts, E.H. and R.H. Ellis. 1989. Water and seed survival. Ann. Bot. 63: 39.

- Römer, W., J. Augustin and G. Schilling. 1988. The relationship between phosphate absorption and root length in nine wheat cultivars. Plant Soil 111: 199-201.
- Rudresh, D.L., M.K. Shivaprakash and R.D. Prasad. 2005. Tricalcium phosphate solubilizing abilities of Trichoderma spp. in relation to P uptake and growth and yield parameters of chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.). Can. J. Microbiol. 51: 217-222.
- Saikkonen, K., S. Faeth, M. Helander and T. Sullivan. 1998. Fungal endophytes: a continuum of interactions with host plants. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 29: 319-343.
- Salzer, P., A. Bonanomi, K. Beyer, R. Vögeli-Lange, R.A. Aeschbacher, J. Lange, A. Wiemken, D. Kim, D.R. Cook and T. Boller. 2000. Differential expression of eight chitinase genes in Medicago truncatula roots during mycorrhiza formation, nodulation, and pathogen infection. Mol. Plant-Microbe Inter. 13: 763-777.
- Salzer, P., N. Feddermann, A. Wiemken, T. Boller and C. Staehelin. 2004. Sinorhizobium meliloti-induced chitinase gene expression in Medicago truncatula ecotype R108-1: a comparison between symbiosis-specific class V and defence-related class IV chitinases. Planta 219: 626-638.
- Salzer, P., B. Hübner, A. Sirrenberg and A. Hager. 1997. Differential effect of purified spruce chitinases and  $\beta$ -1,3-glucanases on the activity of elicitors from ectomycorrhizal fungi. Plant Physiol. 114: 957-968.
- Sanders, I.R. 2003. Preference, specificity and cheating in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Trends Plant Sci. 8: 143-145.
- Sarkar, P., E. Bosneaga and M. Auer. 2009. Plant cell walls throughout evolution: Towards a molecular understanding of their design principles. Journal of Experimental Botany 60: 3615-3635.
- Sarkar, P., E. Bosneaga and M. Auer. 2009. Plant cell walls throughout evolution: towards a molecular understanding of their design principles. J. Exp. Bot. 60: 3615-3635.
- Scalbert, A. and G. Williamson. 2000. Dietary intake and bioavailability of polyphenols. J. Nutr. 130: 2073S-2085S.
- Scervino, J., A. Gottlieb, V. Silvani, M. Pérgola, L. Fernández and A. Godeas. 2009. Exudates of dark septate endophyte (DSE) modulate the development of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus (AMF) Gigaspora rosea. Soil Biol. Biochem. 41: 1753-1756.
- Schulz, B., C. Boyle, S. Draeger, A.-K. Römmert and K. Krohn. 2002. Endophytic fungi: a source of novel biologically active secondary metabolites. Mycol. Res. 106: 996-1004.
- Schüβler, A., D. Schwarzott and C. Walker. 2001. A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: phylogeny and evolution. Mycol. Res. 105: 1413-1421.

Schweitzer, J.A., J.K. Bailey, D.G. Fischer, C.J. LeRoy, E.V. Lonsdorf, T.G. Whitham and S.C. Hart. 2008. Plant-soil-microorganism interactions: Heritable relationship between plant genotype and associated soil microorganisms. Ecology 89: 773-781.

Selitrennikoff, C.P. 2001. Antifungal Proteins. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67: 2883-2894.

- Shakya, M., N. Gottel, H. Castro, Z.K. Yang, L. Gunter, J. Labbé, W. Muchero, G. Bonito, R. Vilgalys, G. Tuskan, M. Podar and C.W. Schadt. 2013. A multifactor analysis of fungal and bacterial community structure in the root microbiome of mature populus deltoides trees. PLoS ONE 8: e76382. doi: 76310.71371/journal.pone.0076382.
- Shoresh, M. and G.E. Harman. 2008. The molecular basis of shoot responses of maize seedlings to Trichoderma harzianum T22 inoculation of the root: a proteomic approach. Plant Physiol. 147: 2147-2163.
- Shoresh, M., I. Yedidia and I. Chet. 2005. Involvement of jasmonic acid/ethylene signaling pathway in the systemic resistance induced in cucumber by Trichoderma asperellum T203. Phytopathology 95: 76-84.
- Singh, A., C. Hamel, R. DePauw and R. Knox. 2012. Genetic variability in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi compatibility supports the selection of durum wheat genotypes for enhancing soil ecological services and cropping systems in Canada. Can. J. Microbiol. 58: 293-302.
- Singh, B.K., P. Millard, A.S. Whiteley and J.C. Murrell. 2004. Unravelling rhizospheremicrobial interactions: opportunities and limitations. Trends Microbiol. 12: 386-393.
- Singh, K. 1997. Chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.). Field Crops Res. 53: 161-170.
- Smith, C.J. 1996. Tansley review no. 86. Accumulation of phytoalexins: Defence mechanism and stimulus response system. New Phytol. 132: 1-45.
- Sousa, N., M. Ramos, A. Franco, R. Oliveira and P.L. Castro. 2012. Mycorrhizal symbiosis affected by different genotypes of Pinus pinaster. Plant Soil 359: 245-253.
- Steinkellner, S., V. Lendzemo, I. Langer, P. Schweiger, T. Khaosaad, J.P. Toussaint and H. Vierheilig. 2007. Flavonoids and strigolactones in root exudates as signals in symbiotic and pathogenic plant-fungus interactions. Molecules 12: 1290-1306.
- Stevenson, P.C., D.E. Padgham and M.P. Haware. 1995. Root exudates associated with the resistance of four chickpea cultivars (Cicer arietinum) to two races of Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. ciceri. Plant Pathol. 44: 686-694.
- Sticher, L., B. Mauch-Mani, Métraux and JP. 1997. Systemic acquired resistance. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 35: 235-270.
- Sumarah, M.W., J.R. Kesting, D. Sørensen and J.D. Miller. 2011. Antifungal metabolites from fungal endophytes of Pinus strobus. Phytochemistry 72: 1833-1837.
- Sun, J.Y., D.A. Gaudet, Z.X. Lu, M. Frick, B. Puchalski and A. Laroche. 2008. Characterization and antifungal properties of wheat nonspecific lipid transfer proteins. Mol. Plant-Microbe Inter. 21: 346-360.
- Taran, B., M. Bandara, T. Warkentin, S. Banniza and A. Vandenberg. 2011. CDC Orion

kabuli chickpea. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 91: 355-356.

- Taran, B., T. Warkentin, S. Banniza and A. Vandenberg. 2009. CDC Corinne desi chickpea. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 89: 515-516.
- Taran, B., T. Warkentin, R. Malhotra, S. Banniza and A. Vandenberg. 2009. CDC Luna kabuli chickpea. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 89: 517-518.
- Taran, B., T. Warkentin and A. Vandenberg. 2013. Fast track genetic improvement of Ascochyta blight resistance and double podding in chickpea by marker-assisted backcrossing. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 126: 1639-1647.
- Thompson, C. and B. Tar'an. 2014. Genetic characterization of the acetohydroxyacid synthase (AHAS) gene responsible for resistance to imidazolinone in chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics: 1-9.
- Toth, R., D. Toth, D. Starke and D.R. Smith. 1990. Vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization in Zea mays affected by breeding for resistance to fungal pathogens. Can. J. Bot. 68: 1039-1044.
- Tsuge, T., Y. Harimoto, K. Akimitsu, K. Ohtani, M. Kodama, Y. Akagi, M. Egusa, M. Yamamoto and H. Otani. 2013. Host-selective toxins produced by the plant pathogenic fungus Alternaria alternata. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 37: 44-66.
- Tucci, M., M. Ruocco, L. De Masi, M. De Palma and M. Lorito. 2011. The beneficial effect of Trichoderma spp. on tomato is modulated by the plant genotype. Mol. Plant Pathol. 12: 341-354.
- Van der Heijden, E.W. and T.W. Kuyper. 2001. Does origin of mycorrhizal fungus or mycorrhizal plant influence effectiveness of the mycorrhizal symbiosis? Plant Soil 230: 161-174.
- Vandenberg, A., T. Warkentin and A. Slinkard. 2003. CDC Anna desi chickpea. Canadian journal of plant science 83: 797-798.
- Vandenberg, A., T. Warkentin and A. Slinkard. 2003. CDC Nika desi chickpea. Canadian journal of plant science 83: 799-800.
- Varley, J. 1966. Automatic methods for the determination of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium in plant material. Analyst 91: 119-126.
- Vassilev, N., M. Vassileva and I. Nikolaeva. 2006. Simultaneous P-solubilizing and biocontrol activity of microorganisms: potentials and future trends. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 71: 137-144.
- Vierheilig, H., A.P. Coughlan, U. Wyss and Y. Piché. 1998. Ink and Vinegar, a Simple Staining Technique for Arbuscular-Mycorrhizal Fungi. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64: 5004-5007.
- Vierheilig, H., S. Steinkellner, T. Khaosaad and J.M. Garcia-Garrido. 2008. The biocontrol effect of mycorrhization on soilborne fungal pathogens and the autoregulation of the AM symbiosis: one mechanism, two effects? In: A. Varma, editor Mycorrhiza. Springer, Berlin. p. 307-320.

- Vinale, F., K. Sivasithamparam, E. Ghisalberti, R. Marra, M. Barbetti, H. Li, S. Woo and M. Lorito. 2008. A novel role for Trichoderma secondary metabolites in the interactions with plants. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 72: 80-86.
- Vujanovic, V., S. Vidovic, M. R. Fernandez, P. Daida and D. Korber. 2009. Whole-cell protein and ITS rDNA profiles as diagnostic tools to discriminate Fusarium avenaceum intraspecific variability and associated virulence. Can. J. Microbiol. 55(2):117-125.
- Walker, C., C.W. Mize and H.S. McNabb Jr. 1982. Populations of endogonaceous fungi at two locations in central Iowa. Can. J. Bot. 60: 2518-2529.
- Walker, T.S., H.P. Bais, K.M. Halligan, F.R. Stermitz and J.M. Vivanco. 2009. Retraction. Metabolic profiling of root exudates of Arabidopsis thaliana. J. Agr. Food Chem. 57: 9346.
- Walley, F.L., S. Kyei-Boahen, G. Hnatowich and C. Stevenson. 2005. Nitrogen and phosphorus fertility management for desi and kabuli chickpea. Can. J. Plant. Sci. 85: 73-79.
- Warkentin, T., S. Banniza and A. Vandenberg. 2005. CDC Cabri desi chickpea. Canadian journal of plant science 85: 905-906.
- Warkentin, T., S. Banniza and A. Vandenberg. 2005. CDC Frontier kabuli chickpea. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 85: 909-910.
- Warkentin, T., B. Taran, S. Banniza and A. Vandenberg. 2009. CDC Vanguard desi chickpea. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 89: 519-520.
- Weishampel, P.A. and B.L. Bedford. 2006. Wetland dicots and monocots differ in colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and dark septate endophytes. Mycorrhiza 16: 495-502.
- Weller, D.M. 1988. Biological control of soilborne plant pathogens in the rhizosphere with bacteria. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 26: 379-407.
- Weller, D.M., J.M. Raaijmakers, B.B.M. Gardener and L.S. Thomashow. 2002. Microbial populations responsible for specific soil suppressiveness to plant pathogens. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 40: 309-348.
- Whipps, J.M. 2004. Prospects and limitations for mycorrhizas in biocontrol of root pathogens. Can. J. Bot. 82: 1198-1227.
- White, T.J., T.D. Bruns, S. Lee and J. Taylor. 1990. Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. In: M. A. Innis, D. H. Gelfand, J. J. Sninsky and T. J. White, editors, PCR Protocols, A Guide to Methods and Applications. Academic Press, San Diego, CA. p. 315-322.
- Wink, M., F. Botschen, C. Gosmann, H. Schäfer and P.G. Waterman. 2010. Chemotaxonomy seen from a phylogenetic perspective and evolution of secondary metabolism. Annual Plant Reviews Volume 40: Biochemistry of Plant Secondary Metabolism. Wiley-Blackwell. p. 364-433.

- Wittstock, U. and J. Gershenzon. 2002. Constitutive plant toxins and their role in defense against herbivores and pathogens. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 5: 300-307.
- Yang, C., C. Hamel, Y. Gan and V. Vujanovic. 2012. Tag-encoded pyrosequencing analysis of the effects of fungicide application and plant genotype on rhizobacterial communities. Appl. Soil Ecol. 60: 92-97.
- Yedidia, I., M. Shoresh, Z. Kerem, N. Benhamou, Y. Kapulnik and I. Chet. 2003. Concomitant induction of systemic resistance to Pseudomonas syringae pv. lachrymans in cucumber by Trichoderma asperellum (T-203) and accumulation of phytoalexins. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69: 7343-7353.
- Zhang, J.X., A.G. Xue, E.R. Cober, M.J. Morrison, H.J. Zhang, S.Z. Zhang and E. Gregorich. 2013. Prevalence, pathogenicity and cultivar resistance of Fusarium and Rhizoctonia species causing soybean root rot. Can. J. Plant Sci. 93: 221-236.

# **APPENDIX** A

Diversity /phylogenetic analysis of chickpea genotypes



**Fig. A.1.** Structure plot of the chickpea association mapping population with K = 3 clusters based on all polymorphic SNP markers. Each individual is represented by a thin vertical line and estimated membership fractions in clusters. Two accessions, GPE094 and 512-51, are morphologically desi type, but they clustered with the kabuli type due to a larger portion of kabuli ancestors. (B) Principal coordinates analysis (PCoA), the x axis represents the eigenvalue for principal component 1 (PC1) and the y axis for PC2. (C) The neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree (NJTree), based on Nei (1972) standard genetic distance with 10 000 individual bootstraps (With permission from Genome, Courtesy of \*Diapari et al., 2014). The figure was reproduced from "Genetic diversity and association mapping of iron and zinc concentrations in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) by: Marwan Diapari, Anoop Sindhu, Kirstin Bett, Amit Deokar, Thomas D. Warkentin, and Bunyamin Tar'an. Genome 57: 1–10 (2014).

# **APPENDIX B**

# Research Plot Layouts

Treatment	Plot#	Treatment	Plot#	
BORDER		BORDER		
CDC Alma	1	Amit	27	
CDC Vanguard	2	CDC Corrine	28	
CDC Cabri	3	CDC Vanguard	29	
CDC Leader	4	CDC Xena	30	
CDC Luna	5	CDC Nika	31	
CDC Anna	6	CDC Leader	32	
CDC Cory	7	CDC Cabri	33	
CDC Frontier	8	CDC Orion	34	
Amit	9	CDC Anna	35	
CDC Nika	10	CDC Luna	36	
CDC Corrine	11	CDC Alma	37	
CDC Orion	12	CDC Frontier	38	
CDC Xena	13	CDC Cory	39	
BORDER		BORDER		
CDC Cory	14	CDC Luna	40	
CDC Anna	15	CDC Nika	41	
Amit	16	CDC Frontier	42	
CDC Corrine	17	CDC Cabri	43	
CDC Alma	18	CDC Orion	44	
CDC Xena	19	CDC Cory	45	
CDC Vanguard	20	CDC Xena	46	
CDC Frontier	21	CDC Leader	47	
CDC Cabri	22	CDC Alma	48	
CDC Orign	23	Amit	49	
CDC OHOII				
CDC Leader	24	CDC Anna	50	
CDC Leader CDC Nika	24 25	CDC Anna CDC Vanguard	50 51	
CDC Unitian CDC Leader CDC Nika CDC Luna	24 25 26	CDC Anna CDC Vanguard CDC Corrine	50 51 52	
CDC Unon CDC Leader CDC Nika CDC Luna BORDER	24 25 26	CDC Anna CDC Vanguard CDC Corrine BORDER	50 51 52	

Fig. B.1. Research Plot Layout 2010

	Treatment	Plot#		Treatment	Plot#		
	BORDER			BORDER			
	CDC Luna	1		CDC Cory	27		
	CDC Nika	2		CDC Anna	28		
	CDC Frontier	3		Amit	29		
	CDC Cabri	4		CDC Corinne	30		
	CDC Orion	5		CDC Alma	31		
	CDC Cory	6		CDC Xena	32		
	CDC Xena	7		CDC Vanguard	33		
	CDC Leader	8		CDC Frontier	34		
	CDC Alma	9		CDC Cabri	35		
	Amit	10		CDC Orion	36		
	CDC Anna	11		CDC Leader	37		
	CDC Vanguard	12		CDC Nika	38		
	CDC Corinne	13		CDC Luna	39		
	BORDER			BORDER			67n
	Amit	14		CDC Alma	40		
	CDC Corinne	15		CDC Vanguard	41		
	CDC Vanguard	16		CDC Cabri	42		
	CDC Xena	17		CDC Leader	43		
	CDC Nika	18		CDC Luna	44		
	CDC Leader	19		CDC Anna	45		
	CDC Cabri	20		CDC Cory	46		
	CDC Orion	21		CDC Frontier	47		
	CDC Anna	22		Amit	48		
	CDC Luna	23		CDC Nika	49		
	CDC Alma	24		CDC Corinne	50		
	CDC Frontier	25		CDC Orion	51		
	CDC Cory	26		CDC Xena	52		
	BORDER			BORDER			
15m	6m		6m	6m		15m	
			18m				

Fig. B.2. Research Plot Layout 2011



The Identity and distribution of fungal OTU reads in the root endosphere community of 13 cultivars of chickpea

**Fig. C.1.** Distribution of AM fungal OTU reads in the root endosphere community of 13 cultivars of field-grown chickpea (n = 6). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR primer sets were used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA (nested PCR). Significant difference in the structure of AM fungal community among the cultivars was detected by Per-MANOVA (p = 0.0002).

**APPENDIX C** 



**Fig. C.2.** Distribution of non-AM fungal OTU reads in the root endosphere community of 13 cultivars of field-grown chickpea detected by pyrosequencing (n = 6). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. ITS1F/ITS2 primer set was used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA. Significant difference in the structure of non-AM fungal community was detected among the cultivars according to Per-MANOVA (p = 0.0004).
## **APPENDIX D**

## Sequence processing/Analysis information

Cultivar	Pre-cleaning AM Seq. number	Post-cleaning AM Seq. number	Post-subsampling AM Seq. number	Pre-cleaning Non-AM Seq. number	Post-cleaning Non-AM Seq. number	Post-subsampling Non-AM Seq. number
CDC Corrine	29784	11037	3000	14726	7726	3000
CDC Cory	27644	10897	3000	10389	8389	3000
CDC Anna	29487	11072	3000	15937	9937	3000
CDC Cabri	24202	9838	3000	18166	8166	3000
CDC Vanguard	29317	11818	3000	11829	7829	3000
CDC Nika	23001	11756	3000	12675	9675	3000
Amit	20092	9179	3000	10249	9249	3000
CDC Leader	27432	10972	3000	12167	8067	3000
CDC Orion	26837	11884	3000	11093	8053	3000
CDC Frontier	26713	10424	3000	10485	8985	3000
CDC Alma	27253	10449	3000	10378	7378	3000
CDC Luna	20851	9146	3000	12486	8486	3000
CDC Xena	29121	11410	3000	10069	7223	3000

**Table D.1.** Pre and post-cleaning sequence numbers<sup> $\dagger$ </sup> of AM<sup> $\ddagger$ </sup> and non-AM<sup>\$</sup> fungal communities

<sup>†</sup>Assessed in field-grown chickpeas, using 454 pyrosequencing (n = 6). Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (Non-AM fungi), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (AM fungi).

<sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal: Consisting of genera Glomus, Claroideoglomus, Funneliformis, Paraglomus, Rhizophagus and Diversispora. <sup>§</sup>Consisting of genera Fusarium, Alternaria, Cryptococcus, Acremonium, Bionectria, Microdochium, Trichoderma Paecilomyces, Mortierella,

Rhodotorula, Chaetomium, Cladosporium, Penicillium, and Pyrenophora.

Cultivar	Non- subsampled AM richness	Subsampled AM richness	Non- subsampled AM diversity	Subsampled AM diversity	Non- subsampled non-AM richness	Subsampled non-AM richness	Non- subsampled non-AM diversity	Subsampled non-AM diversity
CDC Corrine	736 a	313 a	4.48 a	3.05 a	3365 a	1068 a	6.69 a	4.85 ab
CDC Cory	686 ab	249 ab	4.33 ab	3.01 ab	3018 b	1001 ab	6.63 a	5.07 ab
CDC Anna	615 cd	178 bc	4.29 ab	3.15 a	2300 d	825 ab	6.52 ab	5.21 a
CDC Cabri	587 d	195 bc	4.21 ab	2.91 ab	2622 c	641 ab	6.55 ab	4.81 ab
CDC Vanguard	644 bc	176 bc	4.37 a	2.71 ab	3084 ab	651 bc	6.58 a	4.88 ab
CDC Nika	430 f	197 bc	4.15 ab	2.55 ab	1705 f	842 ab	6.01 bc	4.95 ab
Amit	515 e	211 abc	4.12 ab	2.67 ab	2189 de	409 d	6.23 abc	4.66 ab
CDC Leader	513 e	144 bc	4.21 ab	2.62 ab	2852 bc	809 ab	6.33 abc	5.02 ab
CDC Orion	660 bc	149 bc	4.27 ab	2.61 ab	2031 de	661 bc	6.01 bc	4.74 ab
CDC Frontier	649 bc	171 bc	4.40 a	2.74 ab	2314 d	719 abc	6.31 abc	4.81 ab
CDC Alma	396 f	143 bc	3.92 b	2.61 ab	2086 c	655 bc	6.50 ab	4.69 ab
CDC Luna	664 bc	191 bc	4.43 a	2.78 ab	1934 ef	692 bc	6.01 bc	4.72 ab
CDC Xena	615 cd	130 c	4.40 a	2.24 b	1966 f	606 c	5.88 c	4.44 b

**Table D.2.** Non-subsampled and subsampled Chao richness and Shannon diversity indices<sup> $\dagger$ </sup> of AM<sup> $\ddagger$ </sup> and non-AM<sup>\$</sup> fungal communities associated with the roots of field-grown chickpea cultivars over two years, detected by pyrosequencing.

Data are presented as means (n = 6). Within a column, Means followed by different letters are significantly different at  $p \le 0.05$ .

<sup>†</sup>Chickpea cultivars were grown in the South Farm of Semiarid Prairie Agricultural research Centre near swift Current, SK in 2010 and 2011. Primer sets used for PCR amplification of fungal DNA were ITS1F/ITS2 (Non-AM fungi), and NS1/NS4 and AMV4.5-NF/AMDGR (AM fungi).

<sup>‡</sup>Arbuscular mycorrhizal: Consisting of genera Glomus, Claroideoglomus, Funneliformis, Paraglomus, Rhizophagus and Diversispora.

<sup>§</sup>Consisting of genera Fusarium, Alternaria, Cryptococcus, Acremonium, Bionectria, Microdochium, Trichoderma Paecilomyces, Mortierella, Rhodotorula, Chaetomium, Cladosporium, Penicillium, and Pyrenophora.